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Chairman’s Statement
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of AustAsia Group Limited
and its subsidiaries (“AustAsia” or “the Group”), | am honored
to present the annual results for the financial year ended 31
December 2023 (“Reporting Year”) to the shareholders.

Faced with multiple difficulties of raw milk oversupply, price
decline, cost increase, etc., China’s dairy farming industry is in
the most difficult situation in more than a decade. Under such
circumstances, continued improvement in production efficiency
and quality are the keys to breaking through the predicament. In
AustAsia, with the help of effective and innovative measures, we
believe we has been able to enhance our competitiveness and
sustainable development capabilities and provide customers with
high quality raw milk and beef cattle.

SRR

AANEBERFBRDEEARAFLRENB AR (HH
B[ AEE]EEE  MARBRRREZHE
2023F 12 ASTH I BFE ([REFE ) WFE

EHRBDEBRK  ERTRRKALAZESE
WE - PENHFRETERER +ZFREKRNERIR
o FUBERT HERSEERENEERRER
WRERRS - R - ROEE - BREBRREH
B RPICRARTHRF N RAIFEE RE
N XRTFPRHEEENRMDEAS -
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During the Reporting Year, the consumptions of dairy products
has slowed, and the dairy farming industry faced severe
challenges, such as falling milk prices and rising feed costs.
According to statistics from the Ministry of Agriculture and
Rural Affairs of the People’s Republic of China (the “Ministry
of Agriculture and Rural Affairs”), during the Reporting Year,
the average price of raw milk in major provinces of China’s
dairy industry was RMB3.84/kg, representing a decrease of
approximately 7.7% from RMB4.16/kg in the period of 2022, and
the prices of soybean meal and corn in China remained high.
According to statistics from China Customs, though the price of
imported alfalfa hay in China fell rapidly during the Reporting
Year they still remained at a historically high level. In addition, the
demands for ruminant concentrated feed and forage grass were
also suppressed under the impact of tightened margins in the
dairy farming industry.

In order to support the development of dairy products, the
Chinese government actively engaged in guiding dairy
product consumptions. By optimizing the industrial structure
and enhancing the development of the entire industry chain,
it continuously improves the quality and competitiveness of
domestic dairy products. The government has issued a series of
policies to support and steer the development of dairy product
consumption, the Chinese dairy farming industry, the modern
forage industry and the breeding capabilities of the industry.
The Chinese State Council issued several nationwide policies to
address the long-term development of the dairy industry, including
the “14th Five-Year Plan for Promoting Agricultural and Rural
Modernization” and the “Opinions of the CPC Central Committee
and the State Council on Learning from and Applying the
Experience of the ‘Green Rural Revival Program’ to Vigorously and
Effectively Promote the All-round Revitalization of Rural Areas”.
Such policies are national directives calling for strengthening
the modernizations of large-scale dairy farms, optimizing the
structure of dairy products; enhancing standards for liquid milk,
standardizing reconstituted milk labeling and promoting fresh
milk consumption. Major dairy provinces, such as Inner Mongolia
and Ning Xia, continuously fortified the regional raw milk supply
capacity by increasing financial subsidies, innovating platform
construction, and developing an integrated industrial system to
drive the fast development of the dairy industry. Other provinces
also issued supportive policies in relation to maintaining market
order and regional layout to steer the dairy industry through the
current short-term challenges.

RBEFE - IRMBBERMME - BT RER
EERINETIT  ARKARETERIBLE - 1R

BREAREMBEZEZEND (BELERIB]) 45
B RNREFE RENETELRBPHES
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HEOEBZEBRIETYE  BNERESL S -
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B R E R FE KIS H] o
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BEHE—RIBRUAXFEIIEARMBEE - hE
PABREE  BARAEEXRATESREINE
B hEEGRENEET2EEBRABHEILED
R SRE(TTOR I HERERNRERLR
)R HPREBEEANEBEE BN
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Fr N @ 80 R EOERIF IR PASI B EL EEHE AT K
P EADEE -



We strongly believe that with the deployment of national
directives, such as “Expanding Domestic Demand” and “Healthy
China”, increasing health awareness and continuous improvement
in the quality of dairy products the huge potential of China’s dairy
products consumption will be fully released, and the prospects
for the dairy consumption market are highly promising. Moreover,
with the impact of tightened national land policy, increased
environmental protection requirements, rising feed cost and
other factors, more entry barriers of dairy farming are set up.
Meanwhile, with the large-scale dairy farming industry’s demand
for technology, economy and efficiency optimization and the
support and guidance of national policies, large-scale dairy
farming groups that operate in an intelligent and digital way, have
in-house capabilities in feed production and development, as well
as advanced herd genetic improvement and embryo technology
will usher in more development opportunities.

IN CLOSING

AustAsia is well positioned to continue its growth in the world’s
most promising dairy market by providing premium raw milk to
Chinese customers. As we work towards this direction, we are
committed to the highest level of operating efficiency, high quality
standards and sustainable farming practices. As Chairman of
AustAsia, it has been my great honor to work with all stakeholders
and | want to thank each and every person for their contribution
towards making the Group a success. | would like to show
my appreciation to our business partners, suppliers, staff and
shareholders, who have been a part of our development story. We
look forward to continuing our trusted long-term relationship with
them. | thank AustAsia’s management team and all our employees
for their continuous commitment and hard work during hard and
uncertain times. | also want to thank my fellow Directors on the
Board for their dedicated stewardship of the Group and enabling
us to navigate well through 2023. | look forward to continuing this
onward journey with all of you.

Chairman of the Board of Directors

TAN YONG NANG
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Locations of Production Units
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Raw Milk Production volume (tons)

FEEGES (W)
CAGR:
FHEEERE  13.8%
13.1%
859,600
759,800
582,800 Gio I
2020 2021 2022 2023

Raw Milk Sales Volume (tons)

R E & (W)

9.8
y 783,000

712,800
551,800 5I89800 I

CAGR:
FHEEERE - 124%

2020 2021 2022 2023

Raw Milk Average Selling Price (RMB/kg)
FERBHEEE(ARET " AF)

82%

465

2020 2021 2022 2023
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Average Milk Yield per Milkable Cow
(tons/head/year)

SERBLEE (W HF)

CAGR
FEHEGERE :20% 2 30/
12.8
2020 2021 2022 2023

Beef Sales Volume (tons)

A4 HE (W)
CAGR: °
FHEAREREER 1 9.0% 4.1 A’
11 338 11,803
2020 2021 2022 2023

Beef Average Selling Price (RMB/ton)
N4HEEE (AR T, W)

\ -7.6%
35,065
; 33,201
3I2515 I I 30,670
2020 2021 2022 2023
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Segment Revenue (RMB million)
DEHBA (AREBER)

= Raw milk ~ ® Beefcattle = Ancillary
R RS

CAGR: 3.802.9 3,924.4
FHMAERE 120% 5500

2020 2021 2022 2023

Herd Size of Dairy Cows (heads)

M ERE (R)
= Calves & heifers ® Milkable cows
BEREKT BB

CAGR:
FHERERE : 126%
130,802

117,950
106,174

91,779

60,554

2020 2021 2022 2023

Segment Gross Profit (RMB million)
PHEN (ARBEET)

= Rawmilk ~ ®m Beefcattle  ® Ancillary
A RS Hith

1,134.1
1,035.6

883.0

2020 2021 2022 2023

Herd Size of Beef Cattle (heads)
R44BHRE (R)

CAGH: 38,433
EREARER : 25.6%

29,615
25,414
1 I I

2020 2021 2022 2023
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2023 2022
20234 20224
FINANCIAL DATA RMB’000 RMB’000 Change
B EE ARMT T ARKEFTT k)
(Restated)
(i &%)
Revenue N 3,924,360 3,802,915 +3.2%
Gross profit EAH 708,462 882,991 -19.8%
Losses arising from changes in fair value less  REHAMAEMEE
costs to sell of other biological assets ANABEEREENAR
BEMEE (667,883) (158,183) -322.2%
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of RARHEB AEIE N/A
the Company (E8),/ 7 (488,791) 158,079 38
Cash EBITDA Note 7 I8 & EBITDAY#? 761,121 890,853 -14.6%
Basic (loss)/earning per share (RMB) BREN(ER) AT N/A
(AR¥7T) (0.70) 0.25 TEA
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2023 2022 Change
HREMER 2023 20224 EE)
Annualised average milk yield per milkable TR FFETY
cow (tons) EE (W) 13.6 13.3 +2.3%
Herd size of dairy cows (heads) PG-EERRAE (38) 130,802 117,950 +10.9%
Raw milk sales volume (tons) JREHEHE (W7) 783,000 712,800 +9.8%
Herd size of beef cattle (heads) RILFBEEE (38) 38,433 29,615 +29.8%
Note 1. We define Cash EBITDA as profit for the year excluding (i) A7 KMEHEELEBITDAERAFAFE - TE

finance costs, (ii) interest income, (iii) income tax expense,
(iv) depreciation and amortisation, (v) loss/gain arising from
changes in fair value less costs to sell of other biological
assets, (vi) foreign exchange difference, (vii) impairment losses
on financial assets, (viii) Listing expenses, and (ix) Share-

based payment expenses.

For the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately RMB3,924.4 million, representing a moderate
growth of 3.2% compared to 2022. This is mainly attributable to:

(1) a 9.8% growth in the raw milk sales volume and a 8.2%
decrease in the raw milk selling price; and

(i) a 4.1% increase in the beef cattle sales volume and a 7.6%

decrease in the beef cattle selling price.

() REERAR -
(iv) ¥ & J gy -

BEREEXNEEHHEE WS
2. (vilemEEREERE
(ix) AREAD BB R ZRFIS ©

i
R

—
=

8.2% : M

(i) A2 HA

(i FrBHRx -

VRBEMBEMEEARE

*(Vi)IMEZE
* (viil) ETR X K&

FE  AEESFFRANAREKEI 024488

:t
P BI022 FBEIE R 3.2% o W I EEHR ¢

FRRHEERRI 8% NEMPEBE TR
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The gross profit decreased by 19.8%, from approximately
RMB883.0 million to RMB708.5 million. This is mainly caused by:

(i) a 8.2% decrease in the raw milk selling price; and
(i) a 7.6% decrease in the beef cattle selling price.

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately RMB488.8 million,
this is mainly attributable to the losses arising from changes in the
fair value less costs to sell of other biological assets of RMB667.9
million. The significant losses are mainly due to lower raw milk
price used in the assumption to derive the fair value of biological
assets.

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s key operational efficiency
indicator — annualised average milk yield per milkable cow,
continued to improve and reached a new height of 13.6 ton,
representing a 2.3% increase.

CHANGE OF PRESENTATION CURRENCY AND
FUNCTIONAL CURRENCY

Starting from 1 January 2023, the Board decided to change
its presentation currency from United States Dollars (“USD”)
to RMB, considering that (i) the Company ceased to be a
subsidiary of Japfa Ltd. of which the presentation currency was
USD and changed from an intermediate holding company to an
investment holding company since 30 December 2022; (ii) the
Company’s primary subsidiaries were established in PRC and
their transactions are denominated and settled in RMB; and (iii)
the reducing of the impact of any fluctuations in the exchange
rate of USD against RMB on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements so as to more truly reflect the Group’s performance.
The change in presentation currency of the Group has been
applied retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Change in Accounting Estimates and Errors, and the
comparative figures as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December
2022 have been retranslated to RMB and restated accordingly.
In addition, as the currency of the primary source of revenue
of the Company changed from USD to RMB since 1 July 2023,
the management also changed the functional currency of the
Company from USD to RMB accordingly. The effect of change in
functional currency has been applied prospectively from 1 July
2023 in accordance with |IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates.

EFAHHARESSI0OFETL F[E19.8%E AR
708 5BHETL e WWIHEBERR ¢

() BRI EETES.2% &
(i) AFEETFET.6% °

REBBEGSHBBFENARKE4888FEL  TER
AREMEMEEANBEREBEENAEBHEL
HBEEAARKEE7I9EET - ENBEDNEZEAR
AEAMEEAARBER  BRERADE®R TR
g( °

RBEFE  AEENFBELERFTIEEZ - 558
R E P ENEEEIRS W EST13.6MERH
= IR A2.3% °

2INERRDEEEEE

H2023F1A1HR B AERENEREHZE
T(IERDEBFERARE  BAZRE()B20224%F
12430 ARARTHAER (EHRERAET)
WHBAR - WHPMIERAREEAREZERA
B (NARAMEZNBRR IR RKT - R
SUANREHEREE © R(ii)RPETHARKE
EMEREEH A EEGEMEREROTE - UFE
EEMRBASENKE - ASECRE(EES
TR ESHESFTBUR « SaMETEEREHBN
JEREEMEL - B202291 818 K20224F
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F7A1RRHAETEFTAARE  BREBIEES
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CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

As disclosed in the “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” section
in the Prospectus, the Company intended to use all of the
net proceeds of the global offering of the Company’s shares
conducted in 2022 to build farm facilities and to purchase
equipment for Pure Source Farm 4, where construction was at the
time expected to commence in April 2023.

As further disclosed in the “ANNOUNCEMENT OF FINAL RESULTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 AND CHANGE IN
USE OF PROCEEDS” published on 1 March 2023, the Directors
have proposed to change the use of the net proceeds to pay for
contractors and equipment vendors of Pure Source Farm 3, which
were originally expected to be satisfied with internally generated
cash flows and bank loans. Please refer to “USE OF PROCEEDS
FROM THE LISTING” in this announcement for further details.

BUSINESS AND OPERATIONAL UPDATE

Pure Source Farm 3 has commenced the production of raw milk in
the first half of 2023.

Our in-house feed mill has commenced production and currently
supplies pre-mixed feed, flaked corn and calf pellets for our
dairy farms and beef cattle feedlots, with some portions sold
to customers outside the Group. The operation of feed mill can
further improve and ensure the consistency of the feed quality and
help us control feeding costs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERENWED

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The year of 2023 was most challenging in terms of operating
environments and financial performances to China’s dairy farm
industry in over a decade.

The Chinese government has always listed the development of the
dairy industry, the improvement of the milk self-sufficiency rate,
and the improvement of the modernization of the dairy farming
industry as one of the key tasks. According to the Action Plan to
Improve Competitiveness of Dairy Industry in the Period of 14th
Five-Year (((+IUR)MEFF HIZFFHE)) issued by the Ministry
of Agriculture and Rural Affairs (BZEHF#E) in 2022, by 2025, the
domestic raw milk production volume will reach 41 million tons.
According to the National Statistics Bureau (BZX#tzt/®) and the
National Dairy Farming Industry Technological System (EIZR 5 4F &
EF I K), compared to 2022, the domestic raw milk production
increased by 6.7% in 2023, reaching a total production volume of
approximately 42 million tons. It was the 4th consecutive year that
China had domestic volume growth of more than 6%. The Chinese
government’s domestic raw milk production volume target of 41
million ton was realized in 2023.

On the other hand, in 2023, China’s total imported dairy products
were approximately 3.1 million ton, decreased by 10% compared
to 2022. Such volume of imported dairy products translating into
a 18.7 million ton of raw milk used. In 2023, due to weakened
expectations on economic growth and macroeconomic recovery,
consumer confidence in China was weak and the overall consumer
spending remained at low level. Contrary to the continued strong
increase in domestic raw milk supply, in 2023, China’s total
consumption volume of dairy products grow by about 3.4%,
making it a slowest year in relation to dairy products consumption
growth in over a decade. In 2023, the per capita dairy product
volume was 43.8 KG. With weak consumer confidences and
undesirable economic environments, Chinese consumers have
become cautious and more price sensitive. The sluggish dairy
consumption growth led to an aggressive price competition
amongst dairy product manufactures. Compared to December
2022, the average selling price of dairy products decreased by
approximately 4% in December 2023.
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As for dairy farm operators, the environment in 2023 was even
more difficult. The long rally of raw milk prices from mid-2018 to
mid-2021 had brought the dairy farm operators with an optimistic
long-term outlook and resulted in a large wave of concentrated
look-ahead developments and constructions of large-scale
farms from 2020 to 2022. According to incomplete statistics
from Holstein Magazine, there were 166 new or expanding farm
projects nationwide in 2021, with a total herd size of 980,000
heads of dairy cows. In 2022, there were approximately 148 new
or under-construction projects, involving over 1 million heads of
dairy cows. In 2023, with more and more those new dairy farms
commenced production, the already-seen over supply situation
was worsened. According to Ministry of Agriculture and Rural
Affairs (EZEEHEB), The sales price of raw milk in December
2023 was approximately 11% lower than that of December 2022,
make it the largest year-on-year raw milk price decrease in over a
decade.

The overall situation of feed costs have seen some improvements.
After reaching the highest level in the 1st quarter, the feed costs
started to stabilize in the 2nd quarter, and further showed some
decrease in the 2nd half. 2023 was the 1st year for China’s total
beef consumption reaching 10 million ton. According to Holstein
Magazine (f&7HTEZF), total domestic production volume was
approximately 7.3 million ton and total imported volume was
approximately 2.71 million ton. Affected by 1) the same weakening
of consumer spending and 2) the short term surplus supply
caused by some of dairy farm operators’ excess culling activities,
domestic beef cattle market sentiment also entered a downward
path. The national wholesale price of beef declined substantially
after the 1st quarter of 2023 due to the continued low price of
pork and the impact of other types of excess culling cattle.

BERENmED
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Despite the above discussed challenges and difficulties,
on the front of environmental and ecosystems, the Chinese
government has continued to promote energy conservation and
emission reduction in the dairy and beef cattle breeding industry
vigorously. The dairy farming industry is required to take the
direction of “reducing pollution and carbon, forming cycle of
planting and breeding” well to achieve high-quality development
of the dairy industry and to create the harmonious coexistence of
human and nature, and to maintain a sustainable development of
the whole industrial chain of the “green ecological” model. Many
leading dairy enterprises have continuously invested resources
in research and innovation in the processes of dairy farming,
such as carbon emission reduction, standard setting, equipment
research and development, model demonstration, etc., the
“sustainable development” has become a highlight and focus in
the dairy industry.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group is mainly engaged in dairy farming business of
production and sales of high-quality raw milk to dairy products
manufacturers and processors, and beef cattle farming and
fattening business. In terms of the production volume, we were
the 3rd largest raw milk producer in China in 2023 with a total
production volume of approximately 859,600 tons'.

We provide raw milk to a diversified group of customers, including
leading national and regional dairy product manufacturers and
emerging dairy brands. We are not reliant on our controlling
shareholders as our customers. We provide our customers
with stable, high quality and traceable raw milk in large scale,
to enable our customers to market and develop high-end and
innovative dairy products, catering to various needs of end
customers.

We have two main business segments, namely raw milk business
and beef cattle business. We also engage in ancillary business,
including the sales of dairy products and feed products under
self — owned brands “AustAsia J2Zp 415" and “AustAsia JBI5 gk}
respectively.

1 According to f&TH7#E HOLSTEINFARMER
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW
Raw Milk Business

We breed and raise dairy cows in our large-scale and modernized
dairy farms. We produce and sell raw milk to downstream dairy
product manufacturers and processors. During the Reporting
Year, we continue to provide high-quality and reliable raw milk to
our customers, who further process that raw milk into healthy and
high-quality dairy products to satisfy end customers.

During the Reporting Year, 85.2% of our revenue was derived
from the raw milk business. We have achieved improvements in
some of the important operating indicators:

(a) revenue generated from sales of raw milk was approximately
RMB3,341.6 million, representing an increase of 0.8%
compared to that of 2022;

BERENmED
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(b) the annualised milk yield per milkable cow (“AMY”) reached
13.6 tons (2022: 13.83 tons), representing a YoY growth of
2.3%:;

(c) the total raw milk production volume for the Reporting Year
was approximately 859,600 tons (2022: 759,800 tons),
representing a YoY growth of 13.1%; and

(d) the total raw milk sales volume was approximately 783,000
tons (2022: 712,800 tons), representing a YoY growth of
9.8%.

However, compared to 2022, the average selling price ("ASP”) of
raw milk decreased by 8.2%, from RMB4,650/ton to RMB4,268/
ton. The drop in ASP was mainly attributable to the weaker-
than — expected demand for milk and dairy products, as well as
the temporary over-supply of raw milk caused by a significant
increase in new dairy farm and additional dairy farm investments.

After reaching their highest level in the 1st quarter of 2023, feed
costs started to stabilize in the 2nd quarter, and showed some
decrease in the 2nd half. Compared to 2022, the feed cost per kg
of raw milk decreased from RMB2.44 to RMB2.42, representing a
0.8% decrease.

To mitigate the cost pressure and reduce the impact of feed cost
increase on gross margin, we have adopted systematical and
timely review into the whole feeding and milking process, we took
measures to adjust the feed formula to strike the optimal balance
between milk yield and feed costs. In doing so, our operating
teams and nutrients make their best effort to switch to compatible
additives with similar output enhancement effects and to improve
the absorbance level and conversion rate of dairy cows. We also
leveraged our centralized procurement activities. As a result, we
have seen notable improvements in both the feed cost per kg of
raw milk and the gross margin in the 2nd half of the 2023.

(b) TSHEKIFENFLEDE ([FLEHE])
A13.6WF (20224 : 13.3MF) ' IRFEE R
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Dairy Farms

As at 31 December 2023, we owned and operated 11 large-scale
modernized dairy farms in Shandong and Inner Mongolia of the
PRC. The number of our dairy cows reached 130,802 heads (as
at 31 December 2022: 117,950 heads), including 66,085 heads
of milkable cows (as at 31 December 2022: 60,554 heads),
representing an increase of 10.9% and 9.1%, respectively. Our
dairy farms are located strategically, 3 of them are within the
“Golden Raw Milk Belt” in Inner Mongolia, where the mild climate,
wide grassland and ample natural feed provide an ideal farming
environment for dairy farms to generate high milk yield with good
quality. The remaining 8 dairy farms are located in Shandong with
close proximities to both major dairy product processing plants
and major dairy consumption markets such as the Beijing-Tianjin
region and the down-stream Yangzi River Delta region, including
Shanghai.

Milk Yield

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded AMY of 13.6 tons
(2022: 13.3 tons), representing a YoY increase of 2.3%. Our milk
yield remains to be the highest in the industry. Out of 11 dairy
farms that we operate, in terms of AMY per head per year, 1 of
them reached 14 tons and 9 reached more than 13 tons. The
continued improvements in milk yield was attributable to in-depth
understanding of every details of herd management, accumulated
upgrades in our genetic breeding technologies over the years,
and the increase in dairy cow numbers reaching peak lactation
phases.

Beef Cattle Business

Our Beef Cattle farms operate synergistically with our raw milk
business. We use our own dairy herd as breeder for beef cattle
calves. By doing do, we optimize the value of our dairy farms’
existing resources and maximize the whole breeding value chain.
In addition, we capitalize on our expertise in genetic breeding
of dairy cattle to improve the quality and productivities of our
beef cattle. As at 31 December 2023, we owned and operated 2
large-scale beef cattle feedlots in Shandong and Inner Mongolia,
respectively. The total herd size was approximately 38,433 heads.
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For the Reporting Year, revenue of beef cattle business was
RMB362 million, representing a 3.8% of decrease compared to
the same period of 2022 (RMB376.4 million). In 2023, revenue of
beef cattle business accounted for 9.2% of our total revenue. The
total volume of beef cattle sold was 11,803 tons (2022: 11,338
tons), representing an increase of 4.1%. The average selling price
per ton decreased by 7.6%, from approximately RMB33,201/ton
to 30,670/ton. Similar to that of raw milk business, the feed cost of
beef cattle increased in the 1st half of 2023, then stabilised for the
rest of the year.

Ancillary business

For the Reporting Year, the sales volume of our in-house brand
dairy products was approximately 32,600 ton (2022: 16,300
ton), representing an increase of close to 100%. Revenue of
the ancillary business was RMB220.8 million (2022: RMB112.0
million), representing a 97.1% increase.

Our in-house feed mill has commenced production with 3 types of
feed products, namely pre-mix feed, flaked corn and calf pellets.
With the increasing use of high quality in-house made feed and
feed ingredients, we achieved notable improvements in calf health
and milking cow productivity.

Breeding

We have implemented a genetic improvement program to enhance
the breed of our dairy cows. As compared to the common industry
practice of relying on imported bovine semen, we use in vitro
fertilisation (“IVF”) and embryo transfer (“ET”) breeding technology
to breed better dairy cows. To achieve genetic improvement
of dairy cattle breeds, a high genomic female core herd is
fundamental. With the high genomic female core herd from our
farms, we can improve the herd genetic traits from both parental
sides, compared to the common industry practices used by
most of other large-scale farms operators which only improve the
paternal side with semen. In 2023, among all Chinese dairy farm
operators, not only we had the highest number of CDCB registered
high genetic female cattle with recognized net merit value, but
also, 9 out of the top 10 female cattle with highest new merit value
were with our farms in China. As at 31 December 2023, we had a
core herd of over 5,800 heads of dairy cows. With this core herd,
in addition to in-house breeding, we plan to commercialize the
operation of embryos transfer for third-party farms within the year.
For the year, we have successfully transferred about 14,000 IVF
embryos.
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Milk Quality

We have always regarded product quality as highest priority
throughout our operations. Our dairy farms are Safety Quality
Food (“SQF”") certified, which is a rigorous and credible food
safety and quality program that is recognized by retailers, brand
owners, and food service providers world-wide. We implement
a rigorous internal quality control system to ensure highest
standards of our raw milk and beef cattle. We have established a
set of standard operating procedures for each business operating
procedure throughout the process of production of raw milk and
beef cattle, including breeding and reproduction, feeding, milking,
identification and treatment of disease, veterinary assistance, and
inventory management.

Customers

Unlike many of our competitors in the dairy farming and raw
milk production industry, we are independent to our controlling
shareholders and our customer development processes are fully
autonomous. We have a well-diversified spectrum of customers.
We serve both leading national and regional dairy product
manufacturers such as Mengniu, Bright Dairy and Meiji, and fast —
growing emerging dairy brands like Chi Forest (formerly known as
“Genki Forest”), Honest Dairy and ClassyKiss. For 2023, sales to
the 5 largest raw milk customers accounted for 77.7% of our raw
milk sales revenue.

B W DA
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The following table sets forth the details of the Group’s
consolidated revenue during the Reporting Year indicated:

5t % (51 B8
L'ON
TREFIAKER AR E FREALRE WAFFS

2023 2022

20234 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Raw milk REHT 3,341,602 3,314,465
Beef cattle A4 361,992 376,434
Ancillary Htb 220,766 112,016
3,924,360 3,802,915

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s revenue increased by
3.2% YoY to RMB3,924.4 million (2022: RMB3,802.9 million). The
total raw milk sales volume increased by 9.8%. However, the raw
milk selling price dropped by 8.2% and beef cattle selling price
dropped by 7.6%.

The following table sets forth the details of sales revenue, sales
volume and ASP of raw milk during the Reporting Year indicated:

RIEFE  AEEHRARLLERI 2% E AR
3,924 AF BT (20224F : AR¥38029EET) ©
EREEERRI8% - A ERPERBT®

8.2% BN EBTE7.6% °

TRBIIRFRIREFEFRDHERA  HER
FOEBORE

2023 2022
2023% 20224
Sales Sales Sales Sales

revenue volume ASP revenue volume ASP
HERA HE FHER HEWA HE THEE
RMB’000 tons RMB/ton RMB'000 tons RMBjton
ARETR W AR®R/W ARETR B OARETL/
Raw milk REH 3,341,602 783,028 4,268 3,314,465 712,767 4,650

The Group’s total revenue of the sales of raw milk increased by
0.8% YoY to RMB3,341.6 million during the Reporting Year (2022:
RMB3,314.5 million). The increase was mainly due to the increase
in sales volume of raw milk. The increase was partially offset by
a decrease in overall average selling price during the Reporting
Year.

Average selling price of raw milk decreased by 8.2% YoY to
RMB4,268/ton during the Reporting Year (2022: RMB4,650/ton).

RMEFE - AEEEERB A B U AR L 1E
hn0.8% = ARY3,341.6 HE T (20224 : AR
3,314.5B8IT) - ZIEMEZHRER ) =18
e ZEMEDWREFERBFEHEBTEAK

RBEFE - BRI TFHEBRL THE.2%EAR
W4 0687T B (20224 + AR#E4,6507T M) °
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Total sales volume of raw milk increased by 9.8% YoY to
approximately 783,028 tons during the Reporting Year (2022:
712,767 tons), mainly due to the rise in average yield per milkable
cow and the contribution of sales volume of raw milk from Pure
Source Farm 3.

The following table sets forth the details of sales revenue, sales
volume and ASP of our beef cattles during the Reporting Year
indicated:

B W DA

RBEFE  BERDNBHEHERLIEREIS%HELN
783,028MF (20224F : 712,767H) » T EHNEE
KT FHENE FAURBRESINERDEE

TREINATHEFEATHERA  HERF
BEENFE

2023 2022
2023% 20224
Sales Sales Sales Sales

revenue volume ASP revenue volume ASP
HERA HE FHER HEWA HE THEE
RMB’000 tons RMB/ton RMB'000 tons RMBjton
ARETR W ARERT/ B ARETR B AR/
Beef cattle ks 361,992 11,803 30,670 376,434 11,338 33,201

The Group’s total revenue from sales of beef cattle decreased by
3.8% YoY to RMB362.0 million during the Reporting Year (2022:
RMB376.4 million). The decrease was mainly due to the decrease
in average selling price of beef cattle.

Average selling price of beef cattle dropped by 7.6% YoY to
RMB30,670/ton during the Reporting Year (2022: RMB33,201/ton).

Total sales volume of beef cattle increased by 4.1% YoY to
approximately 11,803 tons during the Reporting Year (2022:
11,338 tons).

RBEFE  AEEHERNFNELRAREEIE
3.8% % ARM362.08 &L (20224F : AR¥376.4
BEL) c ZRLEEZERRAFFHEE TR -

RBEFE - AT FHEERL TR 6% = AR

30,6707T WA (20224 : AR¥33,2017%,/ME) °

RBEFE  BFREERLIER41%E411,803
ME (20224 : 11,338M) o
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Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales primarily consisted of cost of raw milk
and beef cattle. The following table sets forth the breakdown of

the cost of sales for the Reporting Year indicated:

HEME

AEENHEEXRATEARBPRAFERAERK
TREJIRARIBREFEIHERNARNARA

2023 2022

20235 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREF T ARBET T

Costs of sales of raw milk R 85 65 A AN 3,341,602 3,314,465

Costs of sales of beef cattle A4 B H B 361,992 376,434

Costs of sales of ancillary business HZEBHHEEKA 202,724 97,889

Cost of sales HEX AR 3,906,318 3,788,788
Raw Milk Business FERNER

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the cost of sales

TREBIRFATRBEFERHMDAABEFHBANR

of the raw milk business before raw milk fair value adjustments for B2 85 S RBP4 -
the Reporting Year indicated:
2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARBTT % AREFT %
Direct Materials HEME 1,996,813 75.4% 1,844,761 74.7%
Labor Costs BT 141,027 5.3% 131,782 5.3%
Utilities NHEHE 283,228 10.7% 260,172 10.5%
Depreciation of property, ME - BEREETE
plant and equipment 116,928 4.4% 112,556 4.6%
Transportation fees EHE A 109,562 4.2% 121,978 4.9%
Total a5t 2,647,558 100% 2,471,249 100.0%
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During the Reporting Year, direct materials (mainly from silage, RHEFE  ERNESHNEEMH (EZRS
forage grass, corn and soy — bean products) costs of raw milk fr - HE - EXNESRF)KEAAEARKE1,996.88
business amounted to RMB1,996.8 million (2022: RMB1,844.8 &JT (20224 : AR 1,844 85&7T)  AER
million), representing a YoY growth of 8.2%, mainly due to the 8.2% @ TEHMWKAFEELM -

increase in the number of milkable cows.

Beef Cattle Business SESE

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the cost of sales of FRHINAFRBEFERNF QAR EERALAL
the beef cattle business before beef cattle fair value adjustments — E/A)EHEKABFA -

for the Reporting Year indicated:

2023 2022
20234 20224

RMB’000 % RMB’000 %

AR®T % ARETT %

Direct Materials BEME 283,897 80.3% 222,487 78.6%
Labor Costs and Overhead costs B TRk A M B AR 48,747 13.8% 44,812 15.8%
Depreciation of property, W - BERXEITE 20,936 5.9% 15,757 5.6%

plant and equipment

Total &a&t 353,580 100% 283,056 100%

During the Reporting Year, direct materials (mainly silage, forage RHEFE > AFEKHNEEMR (ZEEF T
grass, corn and soy-bean products) costs of the beef cattle HE - TARAREHRKB)XAEARKE283.9H5E
business amounted to RMB283.9 million (2022: RMB222.5 million), 7T (20224 : ARM¥222 558 L) ' AR
representing a YoY increase of 27.6%, mainly due to the increase 27.6% ° TZHRAFHEEE -

of beef cattle sales volume.
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Gross Profit

The following table sets forth the breakdown of gross profit
and gross profit margin of our business for the Reporting Year

S

TRV BEMXBRATBEFENENREMNE
AR -

indicated:
2023 2022
2023 20224F

Gross profit Gross profit
Gross profit margin Gross profit Margin
EF EFIZE EF FEH =

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® Tt ARBFT
Raw milk R 694,044 20.8% 843,216 25.4%
Beef cattle BEs (3,624) (1.0%) 25,648 6.8%
Ancillary Hh 18,042 8.2% 14,127 12.6%
Total A 708,462 18.1% 882,991 23.2%

In general, when milk prices decrease, the Group’s profitability
will decrease correspondingly under normal operational condition.

During the Reporting Year, gross profit of the Group’s raw milk
business amounted to RMB694.0 million (2022: RMB843.2 million),
representing a decrease of 17.7% YoY, which was mainly due to
the decrease in sales price of raw milk and the increase of cost
of sales. Gross profit margin of the Group’s raw milk business
decreased to 20.8% (2022: 25.4%) which was mainly due to lower
average selling price of raw milk in 2023.

During the Reporting Year, gross profit of the Group’s beef cattle
business amounted to RMB(3.6) million (2022: RMB25.6 million),
representing a decrease of 114.1% YoY, which was mainly due
to the decrease in sales price of beef cattle by 7.6% and the
increase of cost of sales.

Losses Arising from Changes in Fair Value Less Costs to
Sell of Other Biological Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the biological assets of the Group
were valued at RMB3,541.0 million (as at 31 December 2022:
RMB3,450.3 million) by an independent qualified professional
valuer, Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory
Limited, representing an increase of 2.6% YoY, mainly due to the
increase in cattle heads.

—RME  AEENEFNENEEELERRTE
BEE RN ERE T M ARE TR -

RMEFE  ZEERMNEBNEFNABARE
694.08 &L (2022%F : AR¥B43.25ET) ' [
LR A17.7% » EXBRARRENEE T E RHE
ERAEM - AEERBMDEBNEFNERLE
20.8% (20224F : 25.4%) » iE*X E 2 MK 2023FH
RN EE TR o

RBEFE  NEEAFEBHENBARE(3.6)
BET(2022%F : AR¥25.6 &) @ ALY
114.1% T BHAAFEBETEK7.6% RBHEK K
#n e

REEMENEEAABEREERETEHNE
B

M2023F12A31H » ZEBMWEMEERB LA
ERBEGEMAPERTLETERERNERA
AIEEAAREES 541.08 8T (5A2022412 A31
H: ARM3,450388T) ' ALER2.6%  +Z
RS EE N
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Losses arising from changes in the fair value less costs to sell
of other biological assets were RMB667.9 million (2022: Loss of
RMB158.2 million). The significant losses are mainly due to lower
raw milk price used in the assumption to derive the fair value of
biological assets.

The estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk used in the valuation
process ranged from RMB2.27 to RMB3.06 and RMB2.35 to
RMB2.90 as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023,
respectively. Estimated average prices of raw milk per kg ranged
from RMB4.49 to RMB5.21 and RMB4.17 to RMB4.83 as at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2023, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a lower average
selling price of raw milk, contributed to the higher amount of fair
value losses recorded for the Reporting Year.

The estimated feed costs per kg of raw milk used in the valuation
process ranged from RMB2.20 to RMB2.70 and RMB2.27 to
RMB3.06 as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022,
respectively. The estimated average prices of raw milk per kg
ranged from RMB4.54 to RMB5.26 and RMB4.49 to RMB5.21 as at
31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022, respectively.

Other Income and Gains

During the Reporting Year, other income amounted to RMB94.7
million (2022: RMB50.3 million) which mainly consisted of
government grants, insurance claims, technical service fees and
gain on modification of leases. The higher amount recorded in
2023 was mainly due to the gain from modification of lease term
amounting to RMB23.1 million. The government grants increased
by RMB8.4 million and the technical service fee increased by
RMB9.9 million.

BERENmED

REEMEMEEAABERBEERESEENEIR
BAREE67.9BETT (20224F : FIEARK158.2
BEL) BEABEDNTZEAREEEMEEANE
ENBEFRAT EEORER -

MR2022%F 12 A31H K2023%F12A318 » WM&
BEARANEG TR RN T &R RS BN
FARM227TEARKEI 06T MARK235LE
AR#2907T - R2022412 F31H K% 20234124
318 ETRRADNHEFFHESI N TAR
4492 ARBES 21T RARBEA1TLEARE
4.837C ©

HE2023F12A31HIEFE  BRENHNFEHEE
PR - BEREFEHRESHALEEEIBEN -

MR2021F 128318 M2022F 12 A31H » IREE
BREFPEANSTEZREMDMBEEBRAS BN
TARE220EARB2 70T AREE2 2702
AR¥E3.067T © A2021F 12 431 H &2022F 12 A
318 ETRRMNHETFHESI NN TAR
¥4 54TTEARBES 26T R AR A 49TTE AREE
5.217C °

Ht A K W a8

RBEFE - B A (EEREBAME - RBR
B RITRBERIEREERT) BARKMTEE
TC (20224 : ARMS50.3FET) ° H2023F 5158
FRmeEhEZARNERARKEARE23.18
BT BFEMIEIMARKS 488 T REIMREE
BIMAREIIRETT -
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Other Expenses

During the Reporting Year, other expenses amounted to RMB10.8
million (2022: RMB46.0 million), representing a decrease of 76.5%
YoY mainly due to the foreign exchange losses recognized in
the Reporting Year decreased by RMB20.7 million and loss on
modification of leases decreased by RMB12.5 million.

Administrative Expenses

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded lower administrative
expenses of RMB225.6 million, representing a YoY decrease of
32.6%. The decrease in administrative expenses was mainly due
to the absent of one-off expenses in relation to listing expenses as
well as lower share — based payment expenses incurred during the
Reporting Year.

Impairment Losses on Financial Assets

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded impairment
losses arising from financial assets amounting to RMB97.0 million
(2022: nil). The impairment losses mainly arising from the long-
term receivable due from Food Union AustAsia Holdings Pte
Ltd (“FUAA").
loan receivable and noted that credit risk had been significantly

The Group assessed the recoverability of the

increased and decided to accrue an impairment loss amounting
to RMB89.8 million. The increase in credit risk was mainly
attributable to the continuing sustained losses suffered by FUAA
since its incorporation and the lack of a clear business plan.

Finance Costs

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a higher finance
cost which amounted to RMB268.9 million, representing a YoY
increase of 22.4%. The increase in overall finance cost was mainly
due to (i) higher average bank borrowings for the Reporting Year
as a result of additional drawdown in working capital loan and (ii)
higher interest expenses pertaining to lease liabilities mainly as a
result of the Group’s newly additional leases of land and extension
on the lease term of pieces of land.

Htpix

RBEFE  HHAXAARKE10.8H & T (2022
F: AR¥E46.05ETL)  ALFHLP765%  EXE
AREHREFENERNINESERD ARE20.7
BELREXAEEBERRLAREKI25HET -

TTHEX

RBEFE  FEBEHSBRENTHEHARE
2256 &L * RLLRA T32.6% ° 1TTHRFSIR D =
EHRNERSFEL TFEE EHHAEN KX
MRS AREIKA AR D A ER A RFST

cREERERE

RBREFE  AEEFSFeREEREBEAR
97.08 &t (2022F : ) - ZMEEBEFE
R EFood Union AustAsia Holdings Pte Ltd.
(TFUAA]) By RHAFEUGRIE » REE BT B
BREAREE - B)XEIEERRE RELMN -
WHREFRBEEEARKEI.8HET - FERR
EMTEEHRFUAAB HFMR I AR ESRZE
BIRRZ AR TR EIPTE o

Fil 3 B 7N

RBEFE AEEHSERNREKRNEABARE
268.9AE L ' BN T 22.4% o BEEEFE K AL
MEBRARNAREFERTFHETEN - R
EeFEIIMNERMTEBEESERR(NREAEREN
FBAZEM  TERARAEEME I HAER
TR FAHARTE -
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Loss/Profit before Tax and Loss/Profit Attributable to
Owners of the Company

Loss before tax was RMB470.0 million in the Reporting Year. Loss
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to RMB488.8
million during the Reporting Year (2022: profit attribute to owners
of the Company amounted to RMB158.1 million). This was mainly
due to:

a) A decrease in gross profit of the Group’s business to
RMB708.5 million (2022: RMB883.0 million), representing
a decrease of 19.8% or RMB174.5 million. The drop in
gross profit is mainly due to lower average selling price of
raw milk incurred for the Group’s raw milk and beef cattle
businesses. Average selling price of raw milk decreased
by 8.2% YoY to RMB4,268/ton during the Reporting Year
(2022: RMB4,650/ton). Average selling price of beef cattle
decreased by 7.6% YoY to RMB30,670/ton during the
Reporting Year (2022: RMB33,201/ton).

During the Reporting Year, the average feed cost per
kilogram of raw milk decreased to RMB2.42 (2022:
RMB2.44), representing a decrease of 0.8%.

b) Higher losses arising from changes in fair value less costs
to sell of other biological assets.

The Group recorded a loss of RMB667.9 million (2022:
loss of RMB158.2 million), representing an increase of
RMB509.7 million. The Group measures its biological
assets by referencing to the market prices of certain key
assumptions such as milk price and feed cost. Owing to
the continuing decrease in average milk selling price,
resulting in lower valuation of the Group's biological asset.

During the Reporting Year, basic and diluted loss or
earning per Share of the Company (the “Share”) was
RMBO0.70 (2022: RMBO0.25 earnings per share).

BERENmED

BAEE FERAARBEEABEER F

b

HEFENTAIBEAARKE47008E8TT - RIS
FE - AARBBAELEBEAARBAIS88EET
(20224 : RAREE ARG BEARKE158.188
L) EBRAR

REBEBHEFNNTHREARKE7085EHE
JC (20224 : AR¥883.0H5E L) K&
T19.8% K AR¥E1745BETT - EFI TP
DEZHRAEENERDEAFTEBEE
NEBFHEERK - RBEFE - BER
P T EEBRL TE8.2% = ARKE4,268
JL/WE (20224 « AR¥4,6507C W) °
RREFE - AFHFHEEBRLL TE7.6%
EANRH30,67070 M (20226 : AREE
33,2017T,Mg) o

n
-
TT

REFE  BTRERDOFHERK R
[RE ANRWE2 4270 (20224« AR¥E2.44
) > TF%0.8%

HttEMEENAABEBEERAEHTY
BUBSBIE IO -

AEESSEEARKE67.95E T (2022
FBEARKI82HET)  INTAR
500.7EBT - AEBSEETEIERR
(BlansE R EAE R AR A ) T ERE T EE
MEENTISER - HRFIPHHFEHEET
BT - ERAEEAEME ENGEERE -

RBEFE - ARANEBRERNRE# EEIS
BAREE0.707T (2022F - FRAFMARE
0.257T) °
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Equity Investment Designated at Fair Value Through Other
Comprehensive (Loss)/Income

During the Reporting Year, the Group recorded a loss of RMB8.8
million (2022: gain of RMB2.7 million) for its investment in
Food Union AustAsia Holdings Pte Ltd (“FUAA”). The carrying
amount of equity investment in FUAA is carried at fair value
and changes in value of the investment is recognised through
other comprehensive income. From 2019 to 2022, the Group
has devalued the equity investment in FUAA by RMB45.6 million
or approximately 84% of the Group’s investment. The Group
decided to devalue the remaining investment in FUAA amounting
to RMB8.8 million in 2023 because of the continuing sustained
losses suffered by FUAA since its incorporation and the lack of
a clear business plan. As the Group only owns 19% of equity in
FUAA, the Group do not have any meaningful influence over the
management and operation of FUAA. As a result, management
has on a prudent side, decided to devalue the remaining
investment in the entity.

Cash EBITDA (Non-IFRS Financial Measure)

We define Cash EBITDA as profit for the year excluding (i)
finance costs, (ii) interest income, (iii) income tax expense, (iv)
depreciation and amortisation, (v) loss/gain arising from changes
in fair value less costs to sell of other biological assets, (vi) foreign
exchange difference, (vii) impairment losses on financial assets,
(viii) Listing expenses, and (ix) Share-based payment expenses.

During the Reporting Year, Cash EBITDA has decreased to gain
of RMB761.1 million (2022: gains of RMB890.9 million) which
represents a drop of 14.6%. The drop in Cash EBITDA during the
Reporting Year is mainly attributable to decrease in overall gross
profit by 19.8% during the Reporting Year.

EERURABESEBEAEESHF AREMEE
(B18), WEWRERE

RIEFE @ AEEHEREEMRFood Union
AustAsia Holdings Pte Ltd. ([FUAA]) K% &
BARKSSHET (2022F : Wk ARB27EHE
TL) e RFUAAB R BIEENREEZR A AEET
IR MBRENEEEHAEBEME ERSE
R B2019F 2022 © AEEEFUAARRRRER
BREAREAS6EETHANEEIRENLI84% o
HRFUAAB BRI AR ES T HE LR
AR ERTE  MAEERTER20283FHER
FUAAR RIS E AR S 8B ELIELRERE -
HRARNEEEEAFUAAN19%IRE - MAEEY
FUAAMEE R E BT ETMNAEENTE - Bt -
PREEEE BEEEATHRETENTGBIREE
HORERRE °

BREEBITDA GECKEIF M K| EER) MKt &
ER)

B IREEBITDATEE BFRHEF - TEEH)RME
AR (i FIBURA - (DTSR - (iv) T8 &
o (VRAEMEDEEAABERDEKAE
EENEE WS (VIINEEZR - (Vi EVEER
EEIE -« (vill) LR - R (ix)ARD BERA K
X o

RIREFE - MEEBITDARA EWZFARET61.1
A& (2022F - Wz AR®B90.9EEL) © WA
14.6% - RREFENIRESEBITDATREEHMNE
WEFENEEENMKL19.8% °
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the Reporting Year, the Group funded its cash
requirements principally through a combination of cash generated
from operating activities and bank borrowings.

The following table sets forth our cash flows for the reporting
years indicated:

BERENmED

RBERERER

RBEFE  AEETEREEAKLZRDELN
ReRRITERSHEREFTLREHRES -

TREFIBRFIRATBEFENRSRE

RETPELENRSREFHE

2023 2022

2023F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETIT

Net cash flows from operating activities eSEBE RIS R 2 55 183,960 1,002,731

Net cash flows used in investing activities KREEBFARSRE TR (1,220,102) (1,043,265)

Net cash flows from financing activities MEEHEENRSRE FRE 910,754 296,538
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents R4 NMIREZEWILMN

OR ) %58 (125,388) 256,004

Effects of foreign exchange rate changes, net HNEE RSB EFEE 1,441 752

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year F#R & RIREEEY 397,946 141,190

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year FARRERBELEEY 273,999 397,946

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities RIEFE  LEIZHELANRSREFEAA

During the Reporting Year, net cash flows from operating
activities was RMB184.0 million, which was mainly attributable
to loss before tax for the year of RMB470.0 million, adjusted for
(i) depreciation of property, plant and equipment of RMB164.4
million, which was a non-cash item; (ii) net loss from changes in
fair value of biological assets of RMB671.5 million, which was a
non — cash item; (iii) finance costs of RMB268.9 million that was
accounted for as cash used in financing activities; (iv) decrease
in trade payables and other payables and accruals of RMB415.9
million.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, net cash flows from
operating activities was RMB1,002.7 million, which was mainly
attributable to profit before tax of RMB171.9 million, adjusted for (i)
finance costs of RMB219.8 million that was accounted for as cash
used in financing activities; (ii) increase in trade payables and
other payables and accruals of RMB575.7 million.

R¥184.088 L TZHFARTFRAKRTBIEEA
REEA70.08E L UHATHEBERFARE : ()W
¥ BEREETEARB16445ET (AEER
BE): (IVEMEEAABEZYERFEARE
671 5EHETL (BIFREEE) : (INHMEXRARE
268.9B &L+ ARIIERMBIES AR : (iv)E
5038 - HfhER B R ESTEE RS AR 4159
BET

B E2022F12A31HIEFE K& FHEERNIR
EREFEHBARE1,002.7A8TL  EBHRTA
FEAREA71.08 &8 - WA THEE (EHHEE
(VBERAARKE219.8H 87T EEARIHERE
SEBFTAIRE ¢ (i) ERFUE - HAib e 5E R ER
HEEIMARKS7T5.7TEHETT ©
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Net Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities

During the Reporting Year, net cash flows used in investing
activities was RMB1,220.1 million, which was mainly attributable
to (i) payments for biological assets of RMB1,291.3 million and
(ii) payments for purchases of property, plant and equipment
of RMB523.9 million, partially offset by the proceeds from the
disposal of biological assets of RMB582.6 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, net cash flows used in
investing activities was RMB1,043.3 million, which was mainly
attributable to (i) payments for biological assets of RMB1,101.2
million and (ii) payments for purchases of property, plant and
equipment of RMB588.8 million, partially offset by the proceeds
from the disposal of biological assets of RMB641.7 million.

Net Cash Flows Generated from Financing Activities

During the Reporting Year, net cash flows generated from
financing activities was RMB910.8 million which was mainly
attributable to new interest-bearing bank borrowings of
RMB3,196.7 million, partially offset by (i) repayment of interest-
bearing bank borrowings of RMB1,948.7 million, (ii) principal
portion of lease payments of RMB148.0 million, and (iii) interest
paid of RMB185.4 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, net cash flows generated
from financing activities was RMB296.5 million which was
mainly attributable to new interest-bearing bank borrowings
of RMB1,106.5 million and the gross proceeds received from
the initial public offering of the Company’s equity amounting to
RMB175.6 million, partially offset by (i) repayment of interest —
bearing bank borrowings of RMB666.6 million, (ii) principal portion
of lease payments of RMB146.7 million, and (iii) interest paid of
RMB156.6 million.

REZBFAREREFE

RBEFE  RERFTAREREFEAARE
1,2201EBT  TERAB()EVMEENRARE
1201 3EBTR(NBEEME - BEREENZKA
R¥5239E8T  HEEEMEEMBREARE
582.6 B & LEb DK IE o

HZE2022F12A31HIEFE  KEGHMARS
REFEAARK10433EET TEXANED
BENZARB1 101288 MIVBEDE -
BB R EMAARS888FET WEELEWE
ESREAREE641.7HEB LI DK -

BMETBREHREREFE

RMEFE REZDASHESEEFEAAR
#9108 B &L TEHHERINEFT BRITERA
RE¥E3196.7EHE T - HNEEFTERTERAR
#1048 7E8 T (IVHENTNEAEHES AR
148.0B &L * R(INERNFEARB185.45ET
FrEB > 3K 8H o

HE2022F12A31HIEFE EEHMBERE
MEFEAARK206 568 T E2HAMNIILT
BIRITERARE1 106 58S TR AR TREE X
AHBEMSREABARK175.6B 8T @ #H()E
BT ERITERARKG6.6BET ' (IVHEMNR
HAREBI ARIE146.7E8E L R(IHEMAFIEA
R#¥156.6 B &AL o
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Interest-Bearing Borrowings FFEMER

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
BIRFIE (%) FEAE AR¥ETRT EBRFIE(%) IEMA  ARETT

Current B EA
Bank loans — secured  $R1TE K — B 4.00-4.80 2024 1,560,212 3.8-5.08 2023 467,346
Current portion of RESRITERBARE S
long — term bank — HiEH
loans — secured 3.40-8.86 2024 456,201 4.21-7.29 2023 400,747
2,016,413 868,093
Non-current JEENHR
Bank loans - secured  R{TE — A 3.40-8.86  2025-2028 1,383,910  4.21-7.29  2024-2028 1,304,344
3,400,323 2,172,437
2023 2022
2023 F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T AREFIT
Analysed into: DT ¢
Bank loans: RITE
Within one year or on demand —F AR IRERK 2,016,413 868,093
In the second year £ 523,680 333,818
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZFEFRF 860,230 898,253
(BEEEMT)
Above five years AFENRE - 72,273

3,400,323 2,172,437
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

Notes:

(a)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank facilities
amounted to RMB4,710,046,000 (31 December 2022:
RMB4,589,279,000), of which the unutilized bank facilities were
RMB1,196,984,000 (31 December 2022: RMB2,120,287,000).
The Group's facilities are secured by the pledge of certain of
the Group’s assets.

The Group’s bank loans are secured by:

Vi

As at 31 December 2023, pledged deposits of
RMB4,000 were pledged to banks to secure certain
bank borrowings granted to the Group (31 December
2022: RMB5,949,000);

As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables of
RMB310,033,000 were pledged to banks to secure
certain bank borrowings granted to the Group (31
December 2022: RMB338,780,000);

As at 31 December 2023, inventories of
RMB1,045,701,000 were pledged to banks to secure
certain bank borrowings granted to the Group (31
December 2022: RMB568,134,000);

As at 31 December 2023, property, plant and
equipment of RMB659,456,000 were pledged to banks
to secure certain bank borrowings granted to the Group
(31 December 2022: RMB346,383,000);

As at 31 December 2023, biological assets of
RMB3,684,156,000 were pledged to banks to secure
certain bank borrowings granted to the Group (31
December 2022: RMB3,322,513,000);

As at 31 December 2023, right-of-use assets of
RMB13,134,000 were pledged to banks to secure
certain bank borrowings granted to the Group (31
December 2022: RMB13,410,000);

FTERITER

3

(a)

M2023F12A31H + AEEMIETRHE A A
R#4,710,046,0007T (2022412 A31H : A
R#4,589,279,0007T) + HA KRB AHRITAL
& B ARY1,196,984,0007T (2022412 A 31
H: AR%2,120,287,0007T) - AEEHRE
INAEEE T EEFRE -

AREBNRITERA T B IAEER

R2023F12A31H » EEFFRAR
#4,0007T (2022F12A318 : AR
5,949,0007T) BB FIRTT - LAERISA
FEEERNE TRITER

i, R2023F12A31H » BURFHIBARE
310,033,0007T (2022 12 A31H : A
K 338,780,0007T) & M FIRIT -
NES A E BER R E TRITER

ii. M2023F12A31H FEARK
1,045,701,0007T (2022412 A31H :
ARM568,134,0007) B TR
17 MRS AEEERNE TRTE
b7

iv. MW2023F12A31H ' W% - BELR
5 AR %659,456,0007T (20224F 12
318 : AR¥346,383,0007T) B K
TR1T - S ASEER S TIRTT

K

V. HR2023F 128318 » EMEEARE
3,684,156,0007T (2022412 A31H :
AR#3,322,513,00070) B TR
17 MRS AEEERNE TRTE
b7

vi. MW2023F12A31H ' FRHBEEEAR
#13,134,0007T (2022412 A31H
AR#13,410,00070) B IF FRT -
IAEBEAREBER NS TRITE
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Vii. As at 31 December 2023, shares of a subsidiary of
RMB562,000,000 were pledged to banks to secure
certain bank borrowings granted to the Group (31
December 2022: RMB172,833,000);

viii. As at 31 December 2023, investments in certain
subsidiaries of RMB1,517,996,000 were pledged to
banks to secure certain bank borrowings granted to the
Group (31 December 2022: RMB2,439,259,000);

iX. As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s
bank loans amounting to RMB3,236,561,000 were
guaranteed by the Company and certain subsidiaries of
the Group (31 December 2022: RMB971,968,000).

BERENmED

vil. R2023% 128318 © B ATKRMG A
R#562,000,0007T (20224 12 A 31
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(c) The bank borrowings are denominated in following currencies:  (c) RITERA TS EEEE -
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
2023F12H31H 2022%12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTFT
(Restated)
(&%)
usD ET 256,925 289,126
RMB AREE 3,143,398 1,883,311
3,400,323 2,172,437

Loan agreements with covenants relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholder

The Company has certain loan agreements which require the
controlling shareholder to maintain (directly or indirectly) at least
30% of share capital of the Company. By the end of the Reporting
Year, the outstanding amount of such loans were RMB1,349.2
million, the average tenure for working capital loans is 1 year, and
for term loans in the range of 1 — 3.5 years.

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2023 and 2022.
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Capital Management

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is debt
divided by capital. Debt includes interest-bearing bank borrowings
and lease liabilities. Capital includes equity attributable to owners
of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of each reporting
year were as follows:

BEXEHE

AEEFEREANBBELX (AEKFERUNERN) &
ZTEXR - EHBRREABRITERIBEEARE - EX
BREBARAEEAEGEZ RERSFERNE
REFELEERDT

2023 2022

2023 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREETFTT

(Restated)

(E5)

Interest-bearing bank borrowings A BERITIER 3,400,323 2,172,437
Lease liabilities HESE 1,505,227 1,330,524
Debt &% 4,905,550 3,502,961
Equity attributable to owners of the parent S RRIHEE AELER 5,075,666 5,573,801
Gearing ratio BEXRBELE 97% 63%
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Material Litigation

In April 2023, Shanghai AustAsia Food Co., Ltd. (E/&RER R
BPRAT], hereafter referred to as “Shanghai AustAsia”) applied
for a preservation order against Hebei Yuanfuda Trading Group
Co., Ltd. (FIbEEEREEE AR A A], hereafter referred to as
“Hebei Yuanfuda”) for failure to pay RMB7,223,812.5 for fresh
milk supplied to Hebi Yuanfuda under its Procurement Contract
with Shanghai AustAsia. The People’s Court of Lianchi District,
Baoding City ruled by the Second Instance Civil Judgment (Ji
0606, Min Chu No.5524 [2023]) to defer Shanghai AustAsia’s
application until after criminal charges against Hebi Yuanfuda
have been resolved. On December 8, 2023, Shanghai AustAsia
appealed against this decision and was ruled against by the
Intermediate People's Court of Baoding City (fREMHHFARE
Bt). Shanghai AustAsia will continue to seek recovery from Hebei
Yuanfuda once the criminal proceedings against Hebei Yuanfuda
have been completed.

The Company was not involved in other material litigation or
arbitration during the Reporting Year. The Directors are also not
aware of other material litigation or claims that were pending or
threatened against the Group for the Reporting Year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

The Company did not conduct any material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in the
Reporting Year.

Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk principally mainly
relates to the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China and
Singapore where some of the transactions are denominated in
USD and Singapore Dollars (“SGD”). In addition, the group has a
USD27 million term loan and a USD10 million working capital loan
outstanding as at 31 December 2023.

Though the fluctuations in the exchange rates could affect the
Group’s results of operations, the exposure to foreign currency
was immaterial to the Group’s size of operation, in the opinion
of management, the Group does not face any significant foreign
currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging
policy. The management of the Group monitors foreign exchange
exposure closely and will consider hedging any significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arise.
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Employees

Our success depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate
talented employees. To this end, as part of our human resource
strategy, we are committed to building the most competitive talent
team in our industry. We primarily recruit our employees through
on-campus job fairs, recruitment agencies and online channels.
We provide regular training and reviews to our employees to
continuously upgrade their skills in line with the industry trends
and enhance their performance. Therefore, we can attract and
retain talented employees and maintain a stable core management
and technical team.

The total employee benefit expenses (including directors and
chief executive's remuneration) for the Reporting Year were
approximately RMB386.29 million (2022: RMB416.50 million),
representing a decrease of 7.3% YoY. This was mainly due to the
reduction in the share-based payments expenses.

STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS

Our vision is to become one of the TOP 3 dairy farm operators
in the world in terms of OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY and ECO-
SUSTAINABILITY. We focus on creating long-term value for our
stakeholders in a responsible and sustainable way. To realize our
vision, we plan to pursue a comprehensive strategy focused on
the following:

Raw Milk Business

In view of unprecedented challenges facing the overall consumers
market and dairy industry in China, such as the prolonged weak
demand for dairy products and the uncertainties associated
with dairy market outlooks in 2024 and 2025, we have adjusted
our initial dairy farm expansion schedule to adapt to the new
environment. On Feb 9 we made announcement to further extend
the construction period of Pure Source Farm 4 by one year — from
April 2023 to December 2024, to from April 2023 to December
2025. There will be no more capital intensive new dairy farm
investment after Pure Source farm 4 in the next 5-year period.
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Despite the current industry downturn and difficulties, we are
confident that the longer-term prospects of China’s consumer
demand for raw milk and dairy products. We expect that there
will be significant small to mid-size and less efficient dairy farms
and dairy herds made redundant in the process of this round of
industrial down turn, resulting in larger-scale, highly efficient farm
operators like us coming through with better competitive positions.
Capitalizing on the well-recognized dairy farm management
expertise, going forward, we plan to use “dairy farm operational
lease” model to operate and manage additional dairy farms. This
initiative will not only save significant amount of in-house capital
investment needed to new farm developments, but also ensure
that we continue to have sufficient raw milk production to cater for
future growth of dairy markets.

By 2028, our goal is to reach a 5-year CAGR of 4% in the herd
population from 2023, which is similar to the expected dairy
market growth rate in the next 5 years. Combined with continued
improvement on milk yield, our 5-year raw milk production volume
is expected to grow at a CAGR of 6%.

Beef Cattle Business

China is the 2nd largest nation in beef consumption, but on Per
Capita basis beef consumption in China is significantly lower
compared to all developed countries and some of the developing
countries. There remain great potential for growth in demand for
beef.

We expect that the demand for high quality beef products, such
as Wagyu and Angus beef, will grow significantly and we aim to
be a leading domestic supplier of premium Wagyu and Angus
beef cattle.

Our raw milk and beef cattle businesses work synergistically
with each other. The experience, management systems and
technologies developed from managing large-scale dairy farms
and cow breeding can be transferred and applied to our beef
cattle feedlots to enhance business growth. Additionally, the in-
house integration of feed mill provides high-quality feed material
with competitive prices, our own genetic development program
also helps to upgrade the herd quality, cattle health and improve
productivity by way of better ADG..
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B To B Dairy Products

We have made “AustAsia JEEHI5" a well-recognized brand in
association with high-quality, reliable and consistent raw milk
supply in China. Though only accounted for 4% of total raw milk
sales volume in 2023, we have established solid business relations
with some B2B key accounts. Our eco-sustainability action plan
and carbon footprint commitments made us a preferred upstream
partner to downstream wholesale customers who become
increasingly demanding on requiring similar actions.

Going forward, our focus is to capture the higher-than-average
demand growth in coffee-chain and milk tea outlets by increasing
the sales volume to existing customers. We will create more sales
by widening the product mix from current UHT to skimmed milk,
whipping cream and ESL milk.

Genetics Business

Animal breeds and genetics are a key foundation for dairy farming
and beef farming operations and developments. Advancements in
genetic technology can increase productivity, lower disease and
mortality rates, as well as lengthen the lifespans of dairy cows and
beef cattle. We are the leader in this area and have accumulated
unrivalled advantages.

IVF (in vitro embryo) has been commercially applied to all of
our own farms and produced encouraging results continuously.
Compared to other dairy farm operators, we have higher quality
and larger base of female animals that can be selected as donors
to get better genetic progress. It provides with us a unique and
solid reserve for higher genomic value donors for the years to
come.

We will continue to enhance our leading position in the field of
dairy cow breeding. We plan to produce more than 20,000 IVF
Holstein embryos in 2024 and target to produce more going
forward. In addition, We have started our in-house Wagyu
heifer selection program, and commenced Wagyu IVF embryo
transplantation in the 2nd half of 2023. It is expected we will start
full-blood Wagyu IVF embryo production in 2025. By 2028, our
target is to become an industrial leader in commercialization of
special and rare cattle breed, such as Wagyu.
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Feed Mill

Our in-house feed mill has commenced production and will focus
on improving operating efficiency, raising product quality and
providing more specialty and tailor-made ruminant feed to cater
for animal needs. It also plans to increase sales to external farm
operators to increase its profit margin.

Build a sustainable business with minimal environmental
impact

We have built a structured and systematic ESG framework and
are committed to working closely with all parties to promote the
sustainability of farming industry.

We have carried out carbon inventory exercise and our 2022 GHG
emissions was certified by a qualified third-party in accordance
with the 1ISO14064-1:2018 standards, which lays a solid foundation
for us to set the base year and work out measurable and science-
based targets for carbon emissions reductions.

Further details of the Group’s environmental and social
performance are set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” which will be available on our website
and the website of the Stock Exchange at the same time as the
publication of this annual report.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Company’s shares (the “Shares”) were successfully listed
on Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 30 December 2022 (the “Listing Date”)
with 30,640,000 Shares issued and net proceeds of approximately
HKD101.4 million raised from the global offering of the Shares on
the Stock Exchange (the “Global Offering”).

On 20 January 2023, the over-allotment option as described in the
prospectus was partially exercised by the overall coordinators (on
behalf of the international underwriters) with 606,000 additional
Shares issued and additional net proceeds of approximately
HKD3.88 million received by the Company. As of the date of this
announcement, the total net proceeds of the Global Offering of
a total of 31,246,000 Shares of approximately HKD105.28 million
(the “Net Proceeds”).

The use of proceeds has been revised and described in the
announcement dated 1 March 2023. The table below sets forth a
detailed breakdown and description of the use of Net Proceeds as
at 31 December 2023:

LHREBREAR

RARRIMRGS ([BR]) R2022412 3308 ([ £
A EERBARSMARAR ([BXAT]) *
AT £ - B3$4730,640,000 A% 17D » B0 OB
R EEREE ([2RBE ) EEMBRIBFED
101.4B&BT o

20231 H20H « BERAA (KB HH
) BB TERRERAM A BERRE - A%
77606,000 % EBHMNE 10 A AR RIEEINE B 15 5B
FEEAISSSEEB L c HEARNERLE  2HBE
4 231,246,000 R EB MW EFTBFIEFENA
105.28 B &EB T ([ FTBFBFHE]) -

ﬁﬁ?%%ﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬁéa,ﬁﬂﬁ2023¢3ﬂ1 HE@Z\\%EFﬂ%
ST AR o N&R#EFIN2023E12 A31 AMERIE
SRR AR AR A

Percentage Actual Usage

of Total Net Approximate up to 31

Use of Proceeds Fri8RIERZE Proceeds Amount December 2023
1E 8RR BZE2023F

ERCECE e 12A3181

BaLt Y€ EREHE

(i)  two milking equipment () MEEDRE HK$10.02 HK$10.02
9.50% million million

10.0288E7T  10.02BEET

(i) 37 vehicle equipment for cow (i) 37EMFRAEHEWRE HK$11.50 HK$11.50
raising and feeding 10.90% million million
11650B8E7T 11.5088ET

(iii) cooling equipment and other (i) FRREREMEAER HK$80.04 HK$80.04
breeding ancillary Bk 1B 76.00% million million
80.04BEHIIL 80.04EEABT

(iv) cow manure treatment facilities  (iv) S HEIRRE HK$3.72 HK$3.72
3.60% million million

372EEBIL 3 T72EBBT

Total &t HK$105.28 HK$105.28
100.00% million million

105.28 B &EB T

105.28 B&B T

The Net Proceeds have been fully utilised at the end of December
2023.

PG RUBFFE N 2023 F 12 AEEBEN A -



The Board is pleased to present this report of the Directors
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company has two main business segments, namely raw milk
business and beef cattle business. The Company is also engaged
in ancillary businesses, namely the sales of milk products under
“RIHIS AustAsia”, and the production of feed.
The integrated farming model includes (i) dairy cow breeding

our own brand

and farming, raw milk production, and sales of raw milk, (ii) beef
cattle breeding and farming, and sales of beef cattle, and (iii)
production and sales of feed.

Analysis of the principal activities of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 is set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated financial statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A general review of the business of the Group and a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year are
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
These discussions form part of this report of the Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this report (i.e. 27 March 2024) are as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Yong Nang (Executive Chairman)
Mr. Edgar Dowse COLLINS (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YANG Ku (Chief Operating Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. HIRATA Toshiyuki
Ms. GAO Lina (redesignated from Executive Director on 7 June 2023)
Ms. Gabriella SANTOSA (appointed on 7 June 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. SUN Patrick
Mr. LI Shengli
Mr. CHANG Pan, Peter

Pursuant to Regulation 34.1 of the Constitution, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation.
Provided That every Director shall be subject to retirement at
an annual general meeting at least once every three (3) years.
Regulation 34.2 of the Constitution provides that the Directors to
retire in every year shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain
the number of Directors to retire by rotation) any Director who
wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any further
Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject
to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since
their last re-election or appointment and so that as between
persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the
same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by lot. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election.

Mr. HIRATA Toshiyuki, has offered himself for retirement by
rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting (*AGM”) and
will not be standing for re-election at the AGM. Mr. HIRATA will
retire as a Director at the conclusion of the AGM.
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Mr. TAN Yong Nang and Mr. LI Shengli (collectively the “Retiring
Directors”) will retire by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following list is a summary of some major risks and
uncertainties involved in the Group’s operations:

° The business and financial results are sensitive to market
prices of raw milk and beef cattle;

o Fluctuations in market prices of raw materials, as well as
any disruptions in the supply of raw materials, could have
a material adverse effect on financial condition and results
of operations;

. The quality of our raw milk and the milk yield are influenced
by a number of factors, some of which are not fully within
our control;

o Fair value adjustments to our biological assets are subject

to a number of assumptions which involve unobservable
inputs and can adversely affect our results of operations;

o We face significant competition in our businesses and may
not be able to compete successfully against our existing
competitors and future market entrants;

. Changes in our relationships with our major customers,
or in our commercial terms with these customers, may
adversely affect our business and results of operations;

o Any major outbreak of diseases at our farms, at
neighbouring farms or attributed to livestock generally,
could significantly affect our production, supply, and
demand for our products;
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o Any actual or perceived food safety issue or product
contamination related to our products, or the dairy or beef
industry generally could harm our reputation, financial
condition and results of operations, and subject us to
product liability claims and regulatory actions;

o We may not be able to sustain our historical growth rates,
and our historical performance may not be indicative of our
future growth or financial results;

o We are subject to risks associated with managing future
growth and expansion;

° The future growth of our business partly depends on the
quality and supply of heifers and bovine semen; and

o Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may lead
to volatility in our reported results of operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

We have built a structured and systematic ESG framework and
are committed to working closely with all parties to promote the
sustainability of farming industry.

We have carried out carbon inventory exercise and our 2022 GHG
emissions was certified by a qualified third-party in accordance
with the 1ISO14064-1:2018 standards, which lays a solid foundation
for us to set the base year and work out measurable and science-
based targets for carbon emissions reductions.

Further details of the Group’s environmental and social
performance are set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” which will be available on our website
and the website of the Stock Exchange at the same time as the
publication of this annual report.
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LEGAL PROCEEDING AND COMPLIANCE WITH
RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is subject to legal proceedings, investigations and
claims incidental to the conduct of our business from time to
time. No member of the Group had been involved in any actual or
pending legal, arbitration or administrative proceedings (including
any bankruptcy or receivership proceedings) that the Company
believe would have a material adverse effect on the business,
results of operations, financial condition or reputation and
compliance, as a whole, during the year of 2023 and up to the
date of this annual report.

Save as disclosed below or elsewhere in the annual report,
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Group had complied with the laws in all
material respects, including the requirements under the Singapore
Companies Act 1967, the Listing Rules, SFO and the CG Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules) for, among other
things, the disclosure of information and corporate governance.

Exceeded Annual Cap for Continuing Connected
Transactions

As disclosed in an announcement issued on 1 March 2023, under
the supply agreement entered into between the Company and
Annona Pte. Ltd. dated 14 December 2022, the maximum annual
purchase amounts payable by the Group to Annona was US$32
million (“Cap”). In FY2022, the transaction amount with Annona
was approximately US$33.44 million, which exceeded the Cap by
US$1.44 million (approximately 4.5%). This constituted a breach
of Listing Rule 14A.54, which stipulated that the Company is
required to re-comply with the announcement and shareholders’
approval requirements before the cap is exceeded.

Late announcement of Connected Transaction

On 27 March 2024, the Company released an announcement
on a Connected Transaction on entry of loan agreement by PRC
subsidiary to Executive Director, YANG Ku on 27 March 2024.
The loan was in connection of tax paid by the PRC subsidiary on
behalf of YANG Ku in 2023 constituted a connected transaction
of the Company which was exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Listing Rule 14A.76(2) but was subject
to the announcement requirement under Listing Rule 14A.35.
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KEY RELATIONS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its stakeholders, including Shareholders,
employees, suppliers, business partners are key to the
Group success. The Group will continue to ensure effective
communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key
stakeholders.

Suppliers

The suppliers of the Company are categorised into (i) suppliers of
feed and feed additives and (ii) other suppliers (such as suppliers
of farming equipment, veterinary medicines, vaccines, frozen
semen and packaging service). Feed and feed additives account
for a large portion of the Company’s procurement. The Company
provides the feed and feed additives suppliers with detailed
formulations for optimal nutrition for cattle health and milk yield,
and purchase these from eligible suppliers to feed dairy cows and
beef cattle of the Company.

The top five suppliers and the largest supplier for the year ended
31 December 2023 accounted for approximately 19.7% and 7.2%
of the Group’s total trade purchases from continuing operations
respectively.

Other than Annona Pte. Ltd., an associate of the Controlling
Shareholder, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates, or any shareholder of the Company who, to the
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued capital, has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
suppliers.

Customers

The Company has a well-diversified customer base. Our
customers in the raw milk business include leading national and
regional dairy product manufacturers.

The sales to top five customers and the largest customer for the
year ended 31 December 2023 accounted for approximately
66.2% and 30.3% of our total revenue from continuing operations
respectively.
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Other than Mr. HIRATA Toshiyuki, a nominee Director of Meiji
(China) Investment Company Limited, a substantial shareholder of
Company, none of the Directors, their respective close associates,
or any shareholder of the Company who, to the knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued
capital, has any material interest in any of the Group’s five largest
customers.

Save as disclosed under “Material Litigation”, during the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not experience any
significant disputes with its customers or suppliers.

AAG PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN

On 3 July 2020, the Company adopted the AAG Performance
Share Plan (the “AAG PSP”), which was amended on 5 December
2022 and effective from the Listing Date.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the AAG PSP:

1. Purpose of the AAG PSP

The purpose of the AAG PSP is to (i) foster an ownership
culture within the Group which aligns the interests of the
executives and employees of the Group with the interests
of Shareholders, (ii) motivate participants to achieve key
financial and operational goals of the Company and/or its
respective business units and (iii) make total employee
remuneration sufficiently competitive to recruit and
retain staff having skills that are commensurate with the
Company’s ambition to become a world-class company.

2. Eligible Participants

Awards of Shares (“Awards”) may be granted to any
employee of the Group (including any executive director
of companies in the Group) subject to such employees
meeting the relevant criteria set out in the AAG PSP or
determined by the Remuneration Committee of the Board.

The AAG PSP is subject to a maximum limit of 40
participants from time to time.
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Administration of the AAG PSP

The AAG PSP is administered by the Remuneration
Committee, which shall have authority, in its discretion
to, among other things, in relation to an Award, where
applicable, determine (i) the participant; (i) the date on
which the Award should be granted; (iii) the conditions
to the Award (the “Performance Conditions”); (iv) the
period during which the Performance Conditions is to be
satisfied; (v) the number of Shares which are the subject
of the Award; (vi) the schedule for release of Awards; (vii)
the retention period; and (viii) any other condition which
the Remuneration Committee may determine in relation
to that Award. The Company shall be entitled, in its sole
discretion, prior to an Award being released, encash
such Awards to the extent the Performance Conditions
have been met or otherwise waived by the Remuneration
Committee. The Company shall in its sole discretion,
determine the fair value of such Award if it intends to
encash such Award.

The Company may appoint a professional trustee to
assist with the administration and vesting of Awards
granted pursuant to the AAG PSP. The Company may to
the extent permitted by applicable laws and regulations
and the Listing Rules direct and procure the trustee
to make on-market or off-market purchases of Shares
to satisfy the Awards upon vesting (provided that the
trustee shall abstain from voting in respect of such Shares
unless otherwise required by applicable laws to vote in
accordance with the beneficial owner’s direction and such
a direction is given). The Company shall to the extent
permitted by applicable laws and regulations provide
sufficient funds to the trustee by whatever means as the
Remuneration Committee may in its absolute discretion
determine to enable the trustee to satisfy its obligations
in connection with the administration and vesting of the
Awards.
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Vesting Period of the Awards

Awards which are satisfied with the issuance of new
Shares may not vest less than 12 months from the date
the Award is granted unless otherwise determined by the
Remuneration Committee in the case of grants of Awards in
the following specific circumstances:

(i) to new joiners to replace the share awards they
forfeited when leaving the previous employer;

(i) to participants whose employment is terminated
due to death, ill health, serious injury, disability
or retirement or upon the occurrence of any
event which is not within the Company nor the
participant’s control, where the release of the
Awards may accelerate based on the discretion of
the Remuneration Committee;

(iii) which would have been made earlier but for
administrative and compliance reasons and are
made in a subsequent batch, in order to put the
participants in the same position as they would have
been in had the Award been made earlier; and

(iv) where a corporate event takes place as set out in
paragraph (i) below.

Limitation on the Size of the AAG PSP

The plan mandate limit (the “Plan Mandate Limit") refers
to total number of new Shares in respect of Awards
which may be granted pursuant to the AAG PSP after the
Listing Date, being (i) 5% of the Shares in issue on the
Listing Date or (ii) 5% of the Shares in issue as at the New
Approval Date.

At any time during the term, the maximum aggregate
number of new Shares which Awards may be granted
pursuant to the AAG PSP shall be calculated in accordance
with the following formula:

X=A-B
Where
X = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares in

respect of which Awards may be granted pursuant to the
AAG PSP;
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A = the Plan Mandate Limit; and

B = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares that
have been or may be issued upon the vesting of Awards
granted pursuant to the AAG PSP, which in the event that
there has been a New Approval Date, shall only include
those new Shares which may be issued upon the vesting of
Awards that have been granted since that most recent New
Approval Date.

Shares in respect of (i) Awards which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the AAG PSP or which have
been encashed and (ii) share grants which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the relevant share plan
or which have been encashed will not be counted for the
purpose of determining the maximum aggregate number
of new Shares in respect of Awards which may be granted
pursuant to the AAG PSP.

The Plan Mandate Limit may be renewed (a) every 3 years
subject to Shareholders’ approval; or (b) within a 3-year
period subject to Shareholders’ approval and with the
relevant persons specified in the Listing Rules abstaining
from voting on the relevant resolution and in each case,
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
In any event, the total number of new Shares in respect
of which Awards may be granted under the AAG PSP
following the date of approval of the renewed limit (the
“New Approval Date”) under the limit as renewed must not
exceed 5% of the Shares in issue as at the New Approval
Date. Shares in respect of Awards granted pursuant to
the AAG PSP or share grants made pursuant to any other
share plan (including those which are outstanding, lapsed,
vested, exercised or encashed) prior to the New Approval
Date will not be counted for the purpose of determining the
maximum aggregate number of new Shares in respect of
which Awards may be granted following the New Approval
Date under the limit as renewed. For the avoidance of
doubt, new Shares issued prior to the New Approval Date
pursuant to the vesting of Awards granted under the AAG
PSP and pursuant to the vesting or exercise of share
grants under any other share plans will be counted for the
purpose of determining the number of Shares in issue as at
the New Approval Date.
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Large Share Grants and Grants to Connected
Persons

In any 12-month period after the Listing Date, the maximum
number of new Shares issued (and to be issued) upon:

() the vesting of all Awards granted under the AAG
PSP; and

(i) the vesting of all share grants made under any other
share plans,

(excluding any Awards or share grants lapsed or encashed
in accordance with the terms of the AAG PSP or the
relevant share plan) to any individual participants shall not
exceed 1% of the Shares in issue for the time being. Where
any further grant of Awards to a participant under the AAG
PSP would result in the breach of this limit, such grant
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Any Awards granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company (or any of
their respective associates) must be approved by the
Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Where any grant of Awards to a Director or chief executive
of the Company (or any of their respective associates)
would result in the new Shares issued (and to be issued)
upon the:

(i) vesting of all Awards granted under the AAG PSP;
and

(i) vesting of all share grants (but excluding any share
options) made under any other share plans,

(excluding any Awards and share grants (other than share
options) lapsed or encashed in accordance with the terms
of the AAG PSP or the relevant share plan) to such person
in the 12-month period up to and including the date on
which the Award is granted representing in aggregate over
0.1% of the Shares in issue, such further grant of Award
under the AAG PSP shall be subject to prior approval by
the Shareholders in general meeting in accordance with
the Listing Rules.
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Where any grant of Awards to a substantial shareholder of
the Company (or any of his respective associates) would
result in the new Shares issued (and to be issued) upon
the:

(1) vesting of all Awards granted under the AAG PSP;
and

(i) vesting or exercise of all share grants made under
any other share plans,

(excluding any Award and share grants lapsed or
encashed in accordance with the terms of the AAG PSP
or the relevant share plan) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date on which the Award is
granted representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares
in issue, such further grant of Awards under the AAG PSP
shall be subject to prior approval by the Shareholders in
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Term of the AAG PSP

The AAG PSP shall continue in effect for a term of five
years from 3 July 2020, provided always that the AAG PSP
may continue beyond the above stipulated period with the
approval of the Shareholders.

Right as Shareholders

Until the participant is registered on the register of
members of the Company, no right to vote or receive
dividends or any other rights as a shareholder shall exist
with respect to the Shares subject to an Award. Shares
when issued or transferred pursuant to an Award shall
rank in full for all entitlements, including dividends or other
distributions declared or recommended in respect of the
then existing Shares, the record date for which is on or
after the relevant issue or transfer date, and shall in all
other respects rank pari passu with other existing Shares
then in issue.
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Adjustments Upon Changes in Capitalisation, Merger
or Certain Other Transactions

If a variation in the issued ordinary share capital of the
Company (whether by way of a capitalisation issue, rights
issue, subdivision or consolidation of shares or reduction of
the share capital of the Company) shall take place, then:

() the class and/or number of Shares which are the
subject of an Award have not yet been vested;

(i) the class and/or number of Shares in respect of
which future Awards may be granted under the AAG
PSP; and/or

(iii) the maximum aggregate number of new Shares
which may be issued in respect of Awards granted
under the AAG PSP pursuant to the plan mandate
limit, shall be adjusted in such manner as the
Committee may determine to be appropriate to
give the participant the same proportion of the
share capital of the Company as that to which such
participant were previously entitled (rounded to the
nearest whole Share), provided that no adjustment
shall be made if as a result, the participant receives
a benefit that a Shareholder does not receive. The
Committee may, notwithstanding any occurrence
of any variation in capital, determine that no
adjustment shall be made.

Unless the Committee considers an adjustment to be
appropriate, the issue of securities as consideration for
an acquisition or a private placement of securities, or the
cancellation of issued Shares purchased or acquired by
the Company during the period when a share purchase
mandate granted by Shareholders (including any renewal
of such mandate) is in force, shall not normally be
regarded as a circumstance requiring adjustment.
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10. Corporate Events 10. EEERE

If before a vesting date, any of the following occurs: WA B8 B EART - B4 THEMIER -

0 a compromise or arrangement proposed for the (i) MARAEASE S —KKERAA]
purposes of, or in connection with, a scheme for the & O EH Sl IR B Z e R HE
reconstruction of the Company or its amalgamation TR K SRR F N (A B
with another company or companies being approved VE) AR R E

by Shareholders and/or sanctioned by the court
under the Singapore Companies Act;

(i) an order being made or a resolution being passed (i) HARFBBEIELDLNBERER
for the winding-up of the Company (other than a (RARrREEDERKESEAR
winding-up of the Company on the basis or by Mm#ETTHE BRI - 3k

reason of its insolvency or for amalgamation or
reconstruction); or

(iii)  in the event a take-over offer for the Shares (i)  WROBOKBEZNXRBIESMHRE
becomes or is declared unconditional, ESEEN

the Committee will consider, at its discretion, whether or ZESRBNBEERESE EMAMER - WK
not to release any Award, and will take into account all ZENBERAZERMEER  BREETRNZ
circumstances on a case-by-case basis, including, but SEEETNNER - WEE SR TEMEN
not limited to, the contributions made by that participant. HE - AEETHZERSETEREBENRDH
If the Committee decides to release any Award, then in B - ZESHERDBEAOMENLIR
determining the number of Shares to be vested in respect BERIEHRImERE -

of such Award, the Committee will have regard to the
proportion of the performance period which has elapsed
and the extent to which the Performance Conditions have
been satisfied.



11.

Modification to the AAG PSP

Save as provided below, the Board may alter any of
the terms of the AAG PSP at any time, including but not
limited to the method by which a participant accepts
the Award and such other minor amendments to benefit
the administration of the AAG PSP, provided that such
alterations comply with the requirements of the Singapore
Companies Act and the Listing Rules, to the extent
applicable.

Any alterations to the terms and conditions of the AAG
PSP which are of a material nature or any alterations to
the specific provisions of the AAG PSP which relate to the
matters set out in Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules to the
advantage of participants and changes to the authority
of the Board in relation to any alteration of the terms
of the AAG PSP, in each case, must be approved by
Shareholders in general meeting.

Any changes to the terms of Awards granted must be
approved by Board, the Committee, the Independent Non-
Executive Directors and/or the Shareholders in general
meeting (as the case may be) if the initial grant of such
Award was approved by the Board, the Committee, the
Independent Non-Executive Directors and/or Shareholders
in general meeting (as the case may be), except where
the alterations or changes take effect automatically under
the existing terms of the AAG PSP. The Committee’s
determination as to whether any proposed alteration to the
terms and conditions of the AAG PSP is material shall be
conclusive.

The amended terms and conditions of the AAG PSP and
the Awards shall comply with the Listing Rules and the
amendments thereto which came into effect 1 January
2023, including in particular Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
and all applicable laws, rules and regulations.

11.
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12.

Outstanding Awards Granted under the AAG PSP

During the financial year, there were no awards nor options
that lapsed. No grants of share awards were made in

FY2023.

Details of the Awards granted under the AAG PSP which
are outstanding as at 31 December 2023 are set out below:

12. REAAGEBBRHER FHRTERRE

RAMBEE - B RE S BRIAER - 1
20234 B B 4F 2 3 SR IR B ) 52 R

R2023F 12 A31H » RIBAAGE XI5 5T
BRI RITEREFBEIIOT

Maximum

number of % of issued
Participant Date of Grant = Vesting Date Shares Shares®

HERITREH

S0E ®EBH FEAH BeROEE BALEOM
Directors
=
TAN Yong Nang 23 March 2022 30 April 2024 566,470®@ 0.08%
FREL 7 202243 H23H 2024%4A30H
Edgar Dowse COLLINS 23 March 2022 30 April 2024 629,000® 0.09%
Edgar Dowse COLLINS 202293 H23H 2024 4H30H
YANG Ku 23 March 2022 30 April 2024 251,600@ 0.04%
15E 20224 3H238 2024%4H308
GAO Lina 23 March 2022 30 April 2024 166,500 0.02%
= R 20229 3H23H 2024%4A30H
Other participants
Hih sk
36 other employees of the Group 23 March 2022 30 April 2024 910,200®@ 0.13%
BEAEEAMIES 20229 3H23H 2024%4H30H



13.

Notes:

The calculation is based on the total number of
700,463,112 issued Shares as at 31 December 2023.

As this is a Share Grant, there is no exercise period nor
exercise price.

The vesting of these Awards is subject to the
achievement of certain key performance indicators
during the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2023 and the final number of Shares subject to the
Award can vary from 0% to 200% of the initial number
of Shares subject to the Award. The maximum potential
number of Shares which are subject to the Award has
been calculated assuming the achievement of the
relevant key performance indicators and based on
200% of the initial number of Shares subject to the
Award.

Vested Awards Under the AAG PSP

Details of the Award Shares vested during the Reporting
Year is as follows:
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ZETE TR ERR 2023 12 A31HHE
PITRRD 48R 700,463, 112 1EH ©

MR AERDERT - BT ERRTRE
BIE -

ZEREOBEAERTR2022F1 A1
HZ%E2023F12 A31 HEifE % TRIELE
MIBEMBERBERME - MREHHE
RRI1DER B AT LA B SEB M IR IR BB &)
0% £|200% 155 - HENH RGN &= /ETE
HEREBRBAEERENIEZEDER
WIERT « BRI RESTIRRNE B &
200%+tE B -

REAAGEMR O ENEERR

RBEFANRBORBROFBLT

Number of Award Shares Vested

ERERBRORE

Maximum

number of Vested during
Participant Date of Grant Vesting Date shares™ the year
BHE R B FEAY BsROBEO FARERER
Directors
5=
TAN Yong Nang 1 June 2021 24 August 2023 629,000 627,000
BRECE 202146 H1H 202348H24H
Edgar Dowse COLLINS 1 June 2021 24 August 2023 629,000 627,000
Edgar Dowse COLLINS 202146 H1H 2023%F8AH24H
YANG Ku 1 June 2021 24 August 2023 251,600 251,000
B 20216 A1H 202348 H24H
Other participants
Hih 2%
28 other employees of the Group 1 June 2021 24 August 2023 761,000 761,000

28HRAKEEMIER

202156 A1H

202398 H24H
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14.

Notes:

The vesting of these Awards is subject to the
achievement of certain key performance indicators
during the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December
2022 and the final number of Shares subject to the
Award can vary from 0% to 200% of the initial number
of Shares subject to the Award. The maximum potential
number of Shares which are subject to the Award has
been calculated assuming the achievement of the
relevant key performance indicators and based on
200% of the initial number of Shares subject to the
Award.

As this is a Share Grant, there is no exercise period
nor exercise price.

Consideration and Purchase Price

Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, there is no amount
payable on application or acceptance of the Award and no

purchase price of Shares awarded.

AAG POST-IPO RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT SCHEME

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the AAG post-
IPO RSU Scheme (the “RSU Scheme”) conditionally approved by
the Shareholders and adopted by the Company on 5 December
2022 and effective from the Listing Date.

Purpose of the RSU Scheme

The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to attract skilled and
experienced personnel, to incentivise them to remain with
the Group and to motivate them to strive for the future
development and expansion of the Group by providing

them with the opportunity to acquire equity interests in the
Company.

e

(1) ZERBNBBEAN 202141418
Z2022F 12 A31 B E THEREX
EBENBERERN  MZEREMSEN
BRBRHEE N RS RZEATS k&)
AR D BB H0% £200% 5 - S2EIAT
FROEEEERDEE HEREEERK
AR B BUR IR IR B 2 S REN AT
RE) R E 89200%5T & ©

BRI B - O BT IR TT
EXE

14. RERBEE

RIRA ) 22 A 8 - R IR MRS (7R
SN ERSEE - BFRBROTERBEE -

AAGE R ARMBERZRHEIRMDENTE

AT AREEEEETR2022F 12 A5 HEAAR
BIRAMAAGE X AFRBEERIREIRMDEM TS
([ZRBIBMHEMETE]) NEZERBE - ZT 8
HER LT BB -

1. ZRERDEMEINE B

SRBI D BRI B 8RR 5 Bl P AR
RERESENAR  HEWRSEBEELEE
I 378 38 A 18 F 4R 1S AN 2 B BOAS R 25 O
g BERE/LEBNARLERLERM

%9 -



Eligible Participants

The Executive Directors, the executive directors of the
Company’s subsidiaries, or the full-time employees of the
Group who have been employed by the Group for more
than 12 months (the “Participants”).

Administration of the RSU Scheme

The RSU Scheme will be subject to the administration
of the Remuneration Committee in accordance with the
RSU Scheme. Any decision made by the Remuneration
Committee as to all matters arising in relation to the RSU
Scheme shall (including the interpretation of any rules
therein) be final and binding on all parties.

The Company may appoint a professional trustee to assist
with the administration and vesting of awards of RSUs (the
“RSU Awards”) granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme. The
Company may to the extent permitted by the Singapore
Companies Act and the Listing Rules direct and procure
the trustee to make on-market or off-market purchases of
Shares to satisfy the RSU Awards upon vesting, provided
that the trustee shall abstain from voting in respect of such
Shares unless otherwise required by applicable laws to
vote in accordance with the beneficial owner’s direction
and such a direction is given. The Company shall to the
extent permitted by the Singapore Companies Act provide
sufficient funds to the trustee by whatever means as the
Board may in its absolute discretion determine to enable
the trustee to satisfy its obligations in connection with the
administration and vesting of the RSU Awards.

RSU Awards

The Remuneration Committee may grant a RSU Award to
a Participant, which gives that Participant a contingent
right to receive Shares (or a cash payment), subject to
the satisfaction of relevant vesting conditions as provided
under the RSU Scheme and in the Notice of Grant (as
defined below).
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Maximum Number of New Shares to be Granted

The scheme mandate limit (the “Scheme Mandate Limit")
refers to the total number of new Shares in respect of
which RSUs may be granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme,
being (i) 10% of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date
or (ii) 10% of the Shares in issue as at the New Approval
Date.

The total number of Shares in respect of which RSUs may
be granted under the RSU Scheme shall be calculated in
accordance with the following formula:

X=A-B-C

Where:

X = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares in
respect to which RSUs may be granted pursuant to the
RSU Scheme;

A = the Scheme Mandate Limit;

B = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares that
have been or may be issued upon the vesting of RSUs
granted pursuant to the RSU Scheme, which in the event
there has been a New Approval Date, shall only include
those new Shares which may be issued upon the vesting of
RSUs that have been granted since the most recent New
Approval Date; and

C = the maximum aggregate number of new Shares that
have been or may be issued upon the vesting or exercise
of any share grants made after the Listing pursuant to any
other share schemes, which in the event that there has
been a New Approval Date, shall only include those new
Shares which may be issued upon the vesting or exercise
of share grants that have been granted since that most
recent New Approval Date.

Shares in respect of (i) RSUs which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the RSU Scheme or which
have been satisfied by the making of a cash payment
and (ii) share grants which have lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the relevant share scheme or which
have been encashed will not be counted for the purpose
of determining the maximum aggregate number of new
Shares in respect of which RSUs may be granted pursuant
to the RSU Scheme.

ETFRHOHREE LR

FTEIEEREE ([FrEIRERE ] BREX
PR 1 A% 1) BE A7 51 &1 7] 3% () /) 2 BR Il AR 10 B8 iz
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X=A-B-C
Hep

X= 1R 45 2 PR il A £ B8 52 51 B AT B 3R HH AV S BR
BB 1 B ALY = BT AR AR 2K

A=t B EREE

B=MRIE X IR il fx {0 FEALLFT 83 T 7O R HI A
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The Scheme Mandate Limit may be renewed (a) every
3 years subject to Shareholders’ approval; or (b) within
a 3-year period subject to Shareholders’ approval and
with the relevant persons specified in the Listing Rules
abstaining from voting on the relevant resolution and in
each case, in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules. In any event, the total number of new Shares
in respect of which RSUs may be granted under the RSU
Scheme following the date of approval of the renewed
limit (the “New Approval Date”) under the limit as renewed
must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the New
Approval Date. Shares in respect of RSUs or share grants
made pursuant to the RSU Scheme or any other share
scheme (including those which are outstanding, lapsed,
vested, exercised or encashed) prior to the New Approval
Date will not be counted for the purpose of determining
the maximum aggregate number of new Shares in
respect of which the RSUs may be granted following the
New Approval Date under the limit as renewed. For the
avoidance of doubt, new Shares issued prior to the New
Approval Date pursuant to the vesting of RSUs granted
under the RSU Scheme and pursuant to the vesting or
exercise of share grants made under any other share
schemes of the Company will be counted for the purpose
of determining the number of Shares in issue as at the New
Approval Date.

Large Grants of RSUs and Grants of RSUs to
Connected Persons

In any 12-month period, the maximum number of new
Shares issued (and to be issued) upon:

(1) the vesting of all RSUs granted under the RSU
Scheme; and

(i) the vesting or exercise of all share grants made
under any other share schemes

(excluding any RSUs or share grants lapsed or encashed
in accordance with the terms of the RSU Scheme or the
relevant share scheme) to any individual Participant shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue for the time being.
Where any further grant of RSUs to a Participant under the
RSU Scheme would result in the breach of this limit, such
grant must be separately approved by Shareholders in
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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Any grant of RSUs to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company (or any of
their respective associates) must be approved by the
Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Where any grant of RSUs to a Director or chief executive of
the Company (or any of their respective associates) would
result in the new Shares issued (and to be issued) upon
the:

(i) vesting of all RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme;
and

(i) vesting of all share grants (but excluding share
options, if any) granted under any other share
schemes,

(excluding any RSUs and share grants (other than share
options) lapsed or encashed in accordance with the terms
of the RSU Scheme or the relevant share scheme) to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including the offer
date representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue, such further grant of RSUs under the RSU Scheme
shall be subject to prior approval by the Shareholders in
general meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Where any grant of RSUs to a substantial shareholder (or
any of his respective associates) would result in the new
Shares issued (and to be issued) upon the:

() vesting of all RSUs granted under the RSU Scheme;
and

(i) vesting or exercise of all share grants made under
any other share schemes

(excluding any RSUs and share grants lapsed or encashed
in accordance with the terms of the RSU Scheme or the
relevant share scheme) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the offer date representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue. such further
grant of RSUs under the RSU Scheme shall be subject to
prior approval by the Shareholders in general meeting in
accordance with the Listing Rules.
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Vesting of RSUs

Subject to and in accordance with the terms of the RSU
Scheme and the specific terms applicable to each RSU,
an RSU shall vest on the vesting date, which for RSUs to
be satisfied with the issuance of new Shares, may not be
shorter than 12 months unless otherwise determined by
the Remuneration Committee in respect of grantees who
are employees, executive Directors or directors of the
Company’s subsidiaries in the case of grants of RSUs in
the following specific circumstances:

() to new joiners to replace the share awards they
forfeited when leaving the previous employer;

(i) to grantees whose employment is terminated due
to death, ill health, serious injury, disability or
retirement or upon the occurrence of any event
which is not within the control of the Company,
where the vesting of the RSUs may accelerate
based on the discretion of the Remuneration
Committee;

(iii) which would have been made earlier but for
administrative and compliance reasons and are
made in a subsequent batch, in order to put the
grantees in the same position as they would have
been in had the grant of RSUs been made earlier;
and

(iv) where a corporate event takes place as set out in
paragraph (13) below (in which case RSUs may be
accelerated for all grantees at the sole and absolute
discretion of the Company (and not just in respect
of grantees who are employees, executive Directors
or directors of the Company’s subsidiaries)).
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10.

Term of the RSU Scheme

Subject to the conditions referred to above being satisfied,
the RSU Scheme shall be valid and effective for the year
commencing on the date Listing (30 December 2022) and
expiring on the tenth anniversary (i.e. 30 December 2032)
thereof or such earlier date as the Scheme is terminated in
accordance with the RSU Scheme (the “Term”), after which
period no further RSUs shall be offered or granted but the
provisions of the RSU Scheme shall remain in full force
and effect in all other respects. Awards granted during the
Term shall continue to be valid in accordance with their
terms of grant after the end of the Term.

Grant of Awards

A grant shall be made to a Participant by a notice (the
“Notice of Grant”) specifying the terms on which the Award
is to be granted, including the date of grant, the number of
RSUs underlying the Award, the vesting date, the relevant
vesting and/or other performance conditions that must be
satisfied in order for the Award to vest in whole or in part
and any other terms which the Remuneration Committee
has determined shall apply to the Award.

Awards to be Personal to the Grantees

An Award shall be personal to the grantee. Before the
Award is vested in a grantee pursuant to the RSU Scheme,
the Award shall not be assignable or transferable by the
grantee and the grantee shall not, without the prior written
consent of the Remuneration Committee, in any way sell,
transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber or create any
interest in favour of any third party over or in relation to
the Award, provided that following the grantee’s death, an
Award may be transferred by will or by the laws of testacy
and distribution.

Where permitted by applicable laws and regulations
(including the Listing Rules) and subject to the approval
of the Stock Exchange, Awards may be transferred to
a vehicle (such as a trust or a private company) for the
benefit of the grantee and any family members of such
grantee that would continue to meet the purpose of the
RSU Scheme, provided the terms of the grant of such
Award will continue to bind any such transferee with
reference to the grantee, where relevant.

10.
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11.

Vesting of Awards

The vesting principles of the RSU Scheme are summarised
below:

(1) An Award shall vest on the relevant vesting date
specified in the Notice of Grant. If the vesting of an
Award is subject to the satisfaction of performance
or other conditions and such conditions are not
satisfied in whole or in part, the Award shall lapse
automatically in respect of such proportion of
underlying RSUs as have not vested.

(i) Awards which have vested shall be satisfied as
soon as practicable on or after the vesting date
and in any event by no later than 10 business days
following the vesting date, at the Remuneration
Committee’s absolute discretion by allotting and
issuing or transferring the relevant number of Shares
to the grantee credited as fully paid or encashing
the relevant Awards, the amount of which shall be
determined by the Remuneration Committee at its
sole and absolute discretion.

(iii) If there are administrative and compliance reasons
which mean that Awards could not have been made
earlier, the Remuneration Committee may decide in
its absolute discretion to shorten the vesting period
of the Awards so as to put the grantees in the same
position as they would have been in had the grant
been made earlier.

(iv) If the Company or any grantee would or might be
prohibited by applicable laws, regulations or rules
(including any dealing code of the Company) from
dealing in the Shares on the vesting date, the date
on which the relevant Shares shall be allotted and
issued or transferred to the grantee shall occur as
soon as possible after the date when such dealing
is permitted.
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12.

13.

Rights Attaching to the Awards and the Shares

Shares to be allotted and issued or transferred, (as the
case may be) pursuant to the RSU Scheme will rank pari
passu in all respects with the Shares then in issue except
for any rights attaching to Shares by reference to a record
date before the date of issue. A grantee shall have no
rights in respect of Shares subject to RSUs until the Shares
are allotted and issued or transferred to him (as the case
may be) under the terms of the RSU Scheme.

Lapse and Cancellation of Awards

Subject to the RSU Scheme, an Award (or any part thereof)
that has not vested shall lapse automatically on the earliest
of:

(i) the date of termination of the grantee’s employment,
service or engagement by any member of the
Group;

(i) the date on which the grantee (1) becomes an
officer, director, employee, consultant, adviser,
partner of, or a shareholder or other proprietor
owning more than 5% interest in any competitor of
the Group without the prior written consent of the
Board; or (2) knowingly performs any act that may
confer any competitive benefit or advantage upon
any competitor of the Group without the prior written
consent of the Board;

(iii) the date of the commencement of the winding-up of
the Company;

(iv)  the time specified in paragraph (13) below;

(v) the date on which the grantee (whether intentionally
or otherwise) commits a breach of paragraph (9)
above;

(vi) the date on which the grantee is declared bankrupt
or enters into any arrangement or compromise with
his creditors generally; and

12,

13.

RER IR M5 BRI

RIBXREBIRD BALE IS TR RETH
HEORD (RIERME) BEMA T HEE
REBITROZARSMA - HKEEITH
H3 2 Al B0 R0 8% B HA 1 B 7 2 A A B o] #E )
BRON o AR ARAR R I B 00 B AL 5T &1 /)
AR R ETREEER ) (BB
E) A ANER RGBTSR A
B AR

BEAYREUHE

RIER B BB ELIFE - H KRB A R
(HEEMMEBD) AR TN E (AKFEE
ERE) ABRMY

(i) AREEEIB B R AR AR A E
% RBKIEAOAHE

(ii) ERAMNAKESGEEEARE
MAEAEBIRARFEHFNRRA
B -E% B8 ®%WHE EBEM- A
BASEBEREEBTRABRFHF5%
N bR R EMREEZR ¢ )
()RCESSELEERELLNEB
IR TEREM A e T RSB £
AHEFHFEARFNRRBENT
ffTAZAH

(i) ARFHBRBEEOEH

(iv)  TXHBE)BIRERRE
(v) EBEAMTHELTER)ERLXE

(9 BEH

(vi)  AEEAWE M ENEEEE AR
LA EMTEsZBEH - &



14.

(vii)

in respect of an Award which is subject to
performance or other vesting condition(s), the date
on which the condition(s) to vesting of the Award is
not satisfied (save that the Award shall lapse only
in respect of such proportion of underlying RSUs as
have not vested because of the application of such
performance or other vesting condition(s)).

The Remuneration Committee may at any time with the
consent of and on such terms as may be agreed with the
relevant grantee cancel Awards previously granted but not
yet vested and may, at its discretion, make a grant of new
RSUs to the same grantee.

Corporate Events

In the event of:

(i)

or

(if)

a general offer by way of a takeover or otherwise
(other than by way of scheme of arrangement
pursuant to sub-paragraph (ii) below) which is made
by any person to acquire all of the issued Shares
(other than those already owned by the offeror and/
or any person controlled by the offeror and/or any
person acting in association or concert with the
offeror) and such offer becoming or being declared
unconditional prior to the vesting date of any Award;

a general offer by any person for the Shares by
way of scheme of arrangement which is made to
all the Shareholders and which is approved by the
necessary number of Shareholders at the requisite
meeting(s) prior to the vesting date of any Award; or

14.
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(iii) a compromise or arrangement (other than a scheme
of arrangement contemplated in sub-paragraph (ii)
above) between the Company and the Shareholders
and/or the creditors of the Company which is
proposed for the purposes of or in connection with
a plan for the reconstruction of the Company or its
amalgamation with any other company or companies
prior to the vesting date of any Award,

the Board shall prior to the offer becoming or being
declared unconditional or (in the case of paragraph (ii) or
(iii) prior to the date of the relevant meeting(s)), determine
in its absolute discretion whether any Award that has
not vested shall vest. To the extent that any Award does
not vest, it shall lapse automatically on (in the case of
paragraph (i)) the date on which the offer closes; (in the
case of paragraph (ii)) the record date for determining
entittements under the scheme of arrangement; and (in
the case of paragraph (iii)) on the date of the meeting of
Shareholders or creditors.

In the event a notice is given by the Company to the
Shareholders to convene a general meeting for the
purposes of considering and, if thought fit, approving a
resolution to voluntarily wind-up the Company prior to
the vesting date of any Award, the Company shall give
notice thereof to all the grantees on the same day as it
despatches to the Shareholders the notice convening the
meeting. Notwithstanding any other terms on which the
Award was granted, the Award shall vest so as to enable
the allotment and issue or transfer, as the case may be
of the relevant number of Shares underlying the Award
by no later than two business days immediately prior to
the date of the proposed general meeting. The Company
shall as soon as possible and in any event no later than
one business day immediately prior to the date of the
proposed general meeting, procure the allotment and issue
or transfer of the relevant number of Shares to the grantee
which falls to be allotted and issued or transferred on such
vesting of the Award or procure that a cash payment (or
a combination of Shares and a cash payment) be made
to the grantee. Provided that the resolution to voluntarily
wind-up the Company is approved, any Award that has not
vested shall lapse.
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15.

16.

Reorganisation of Capital Structure

In the event of an alteration in the capital structure of
the Company by way of a capitalisation issue, rights
issue, subdivision or consolidation of shares or reduction
of the share capital of the Company in accordance
with applicable laws and the Listing Rules (other than
any alteration in the capital structure of the Company
as a result of an issue of Shares as consideration in a
transaction to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
is a party or in connection with any share option, restricted
share or other share schemes of the Company) whilst any
Award has not vested or has vested but has not yet been
satisfied, the Remuneration Committee may adjust the
number of Shares subject to an Award and/or the maximum
aggregate number of new Shares which may be issued
in respect of Awards granted under the RSU Scheme
pursuant to Scheme Mandate Limit as it, in its absolute
discretion, thinks fit so that any such adjustments give the
grantees the same proportion of the share capital of the
Company as that to which such grantees were previously
entitled (rounded to the nearest whole Share).

Alteration of the RSU Scheme

Save as provided below, the Board may alter any of the
terms of the RSU Scheme at any time, including but not
limited to the method by which a grantee accepts the
Award and such other minor amendments to benefit the
administration of the RSU Scheme, provided that such
alterations comply with the requirements of the Singapore
Companies Act and the Listing Rules, to the extent
applicable.

15.

16.
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Any alterations to the terms and conditions of the RSU
Scheme which are of a material nature or any alterations to
the specific provisions of the RSU Scheme which relate to
the matters set out in Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules to the
advantage of grantees and changes to the authority of the
Board in relation to any alteration of the terms of the RSU
Scheme, in each case, must be approved by Shareholders
in general meeting.

Any changes to the terms of the Awards granted must
be approved by Board, the Remuneration Committee,
the Independent Non-Executive Directors and/or the
Shareholders in general meeting (as the case may be)
if the initial grant of such Awards was approved by the
Board, the Remuneration Committee, the Independent
Non-Executive Directors and/or Shareholders in general
meeting (as the case may be), except where the alterations
or changes take effect automatically under the existing
terms of the RSU Scheme. The Remuneration Committee’s
determination as to whether any proposed alteration to the
terms and conditions of the RSU Scheme is material shall
be conclusive.

The amended terms and conditions of the RSU Scheme
and the Awards shall comply with the Listing Rules and
the amendments thereto which came into effect 1 January
2023, including in particular Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
and all applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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As at the 31 December 2023, no Award of RSUs has been
granted or agreed to be granted by the Company pursuant to the
RSU Scheme. The scheme mandate limit is 10% of the shares in
issue on the Listing Date, that is the aggregate number of shares
which may be issued pursuant to awards granted under the AAG
PSP and the RSU Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the shares in
issue on the Listing Date (i.e 69,985,711 shares, being 10% of
699,857,112 shares in issue on 30 December 2022), up to the
date of this annual report, 69,985,711 shares representing 9.99%
of the shares in issue at the date of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the issued share capital of the Company
was 700,463,112 shares. On 30 January 2023, the Company
issued 606,000 Share at the offer price of HK$6.40 per share
pursuant to the partial exercise of the over-allotment options by
the overall coordinator (on behalf of the international underwriters)
in connection with the Global Offering. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20 January
2023. Immediately thereafter and up to the date of this annual
report, the issued share capital of the Company was 700,463,112
Shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

The Company had bank loans of RMB3,400,323,000 as at 31
December 2023. Details of bank loans and other borrowings of
the Group are set out in the note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the year ended 31
December 2023.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final
dividend and there is no dividend payment for the year ended 31
December 2023.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make charitable donations during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “AAG Performance Share
Plan” and “AAG post-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme” as set
out in this report of the Directors, no equity-linked agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require
the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
constitution of the Company or laws of Singapore where the
Company is incorporated.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Constitution and subject to the applicable laws
and regulations, every Director and other officer shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred or to be
incurred by him in the execution and discharge his duties or in
relation thereto.

Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The Company has arranged
appropriate liability insurance coverage for the Directors since the
Listing Date.

SERVICE AGREEMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Each Director has entered into a letter of appointment in relation
to his/her role as a director of the Company, which is subject to
termination by the Director or the Company in accordance with the
terms of the letter of appointment, the requirements of the Listing
Rules and the provisions relating to the retirement and rotation of
the Directors under the Constitution.

Directors’ service contracts have a term of up to three years and
the appointments of Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Constitution of the
Company.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of employees of the
Group was 2,620. In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules, the Company has established remuneration committee
for developing remuneration policy, reviewing the remuneration
structure of the Directors and senior management of the Group.
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The remuneration package of the employees including salary,
bonus, allowance, benefits in kind (including contributions to
pension schemes) and pension or allowance on the retirement.
The Company also adopted AAG PSP and RSU Scheme, details of
which are set out in the section headed “AAG Performance Share
Plan” and “AAG POST-IPO Restricted Share Unit Scheme” as set
out in this report of the Directors.

Mr. Hirata Toshiyuki agreed to waive any remuneration by the
Group upon appointment as a Non-Executive Director.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent
and remain so as of the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARE OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time
during the year, was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of Shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under
the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the equity
or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or
had exercised any such right.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates had
engaged in or had any interest in any business, apart from the
Group’s business, which competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2023, which would require
disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the Chief Executive of the Company in any of the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO, which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register referred to therein; or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares
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Number of Approximately

Name of Director or Chief Executive Nature of Interest Shares Percentage™
EERESTHRABRS EEME RHEE BB
TAN Yong Nang Interests in controlled corporation 28,138,581(L)® 4.02%
Bk SR AR

Beneficial owner

BEmlEA

Interests held jointly with another person

BE A A T HREHEANER

Beneficial of trust

Bt mA
Edgar Dowse COLLINS Beneficial owner 8,243,060(L)® 1.18%
Edgar Dowse COLLINS Ex#EA A
YANG Ku Beneficial owner 3,057,600(L)® 0.44%
5/ EmfEiE A
GAO Lina Beneficial owner 166,500(L)® 0.02%
=B EmiB A
Gabriella SANTOSA Joint investment power holder, 259,814,213(L)® 37.09%

beneficiary of Trust and
beneficial owner
‘éﬁé?ﬁﬁ%jﬂ#ﬁ/\ .
BmAMEEEASA

Gabriella Santosa

Notes:
L)

denotes long position

The calculation is based on the total number of 700,463,112
issued Shares as at 31 December 2023.
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The shares include of Mr. Tan Yong Nang (i) 16,385,898
shares are held by Great Alpha Investments Limited, which
is wholly-owned by Mr. Tan; (ii) the entitlement of Mr. Tan to
receive up to 566,470 Shares pursuant to the vesting of the
Awards granted to him under the AAG PSP, subject to the
vesting conditions of those Awards; (iii) 586,213 shares held
jointly with Mdm Puah Bee Neo; and (iv) 10,600,000 shares as
a founder of a discretionary trust who can influence how the
trustee exercise at Mr. Tan's discretion.

The Shares of Mr. Edgar Dowse COLLINS include the
entitlement of Mr. Collins to receive up to 629,000 Shares
pursuant to the vesting of the Awards granted to him under the
AAG PSP, subject to the vesting conditions of those Awards.

The Shares of Mr. YANG Ku include the entitlement of Mr.
Yang to receive up to 251,600 Shares pursuant to the vesting
of the Awards granted to him under the AAG PSP, subject to
the vesting conditions of those Awards.

The Shares of Ms. Gao Lina include the entitlement of Ms. Gao
to receive up to 166,500 Shares pursuant to the vesting of
the Awards granted to her under the AAG PSP, subject to the
vesting conditions of those Awards.

Rangi Management Limited is wholly owned by Fusion
Investment Holdings Limited. Tasburgh Limited holds
21,342,875 Shares. The shares in each of Fusion Investment
Holdings Limited and Tasburgh Limited are collectively held
by Magnus Nominees Limited and Fidelis Nominees Limited
as bare trustees on trust for their sole shareholder, Highvern
Trustees Limited, as trustee of the Scuderia Trust, which is a
reserved power discretionary trust. The Shares held by Rangi
Management Limited and Tasburgh Limited are assets of
the Scuderia Trust. Mr. Renaldo Santosa and Ms. Gabriella
Santosa are appointed as the joint investment power holders
of the Scuderia Trust. Under the terms of the Scuderia Trust,
they are jointly entitled, as investment power holders, to
direct the trustee of the Scuderia Trust, Highvern Trustees
Limited, to procure to the best of its ability that the directors
of Fusion Investment Holdings Limited and Tasburgh Limited
act in accordance with his instructions in relation to the
investments of the Scuderia Trust. By virtue of the SFO, each
of Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella Santosa and Highvern
Trustees Limited (as trustee of the Scuderia Trust) is deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Rangi Management
Limited and Tasburgh Limited, and Fusion Investment Holdings
Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Rangi Management Limited. Rangi Management Limited is also
deemed interested in Japfa Ltd’'s 12,536,038 Shares in the
Company.

The beneficiaries of the Scuderia Trust are Mdm. Farida
Gustimego Santosa, her children (Mr. Renaldo Santosa,
Ms. Gabriella Santosa, Mr. Mikael Santosa and Mr. Raffaela
Santosa) and remoter issue.

Rangi Management Limited holds 212,395,300 Shares and has
pledged such Shares to an independent third party financial
institution.

Tallowe Services Inc. holds 13,540,000 Shares. Tallowe
Services Inc. is wholly owned by Magnus Nominees Limited
and Fidelis Nominees Limited as bare trustees for the estate of
Mr. Handojo Santosa. Mr. Renaldo Santosa and Ms. Gabriella
Santosa are beneficiaries of Mr. Handojo Santosa’s interest in
Tallowe Services Inc.

PREEFMEEENROBIE()HREELERS
2 Great Alpha Investments Limited# A
16,385,898 % i 17 ; (i) EIRIFEAAGHE xﬁlﬂxf’ﬁ +
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%4 M Raffaela Santosaft 4 ) A MR -

Rangi Management Limited$§/5212,395,300
Rty - WEASZERMER T —RBELE=
77 BA TS e

Tallowe Services Inc.# %A 13,540,000 /%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS AND

SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to Directors or chief
executive of the Company are aware, the following persons (other
than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had or
were deemed or taken to have interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required

to be recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to

section 336 of the SFO:
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Number of Approximately
Name of Substantial Shareholders Nature of Interest Shares Percentage™
BRREE EB HE R4 E B BHRES O
Rangi Management Limited Beneficial owner 224,931,338(L)® 32.11%
Rangi Management Limited EmEAA
Fusion Investment Holdings Limited Interest in controlled entity 224,931,338(L) @ 32.11%
BEREZERERRAR REEEEER
Morze International Limited Beneficial owner 62,155,958(L)® 8.87%
Morze International Limited EmEAA
Ms. Rachel Anastasia Kolonas Settlor/Beneficiary of Trust 62,155,958(L)® 8.87%
Rachel Anastasia Kolonas% =+ ERERASZHEA
Highvern Trustees Limited Trustee of Trusts 308,430,171(L)@® 44.03%
Highvern Trustees Limited BEFEXFEA
Mr. Renaldo Santosa Joint investment power holder 260,171,073(L)?® 37.14%
and beneficiary of Trust

Renaldo Santosa%t 4 BAEEREENRBARZZA

Beneficial owner 356,860(L)% 0.05%

EmfAA
Ms. Gabriella Santosa Joint investment power holder 259,814,213(L)®®) 37.09%

and beneficiary of Trust

Gabriella SantosaZ + GEEEREENFBBAREREA

Beneficial owner

EmfaA
MNM Holdings Limited Interests in controlled corporation 308,430,171(L)® 44.03%
MNM Holdings Limited R 2k NG ey
Mr. Martin John Hall Interests in controlled corporation 308,430,171(L)® 44.03%
Martin John Hall5t 4 g VNI
Ms. Naomi Julia Rive Interests in controlled corporation 308,430,171(L)® 44.03%
Naomi Julia Rive &z + RSN AR
Meiji (China) Investment Beneficial owner 155,451,785(L) 22.19%

Company, Limited
BR (hE)IREFR LA

EmEAA
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denotes long position

The calculation is based on the total number of 700,463,112
issued Shares as at 31 December 2023.

Rangi Management Limited is wholly owned by Fusion
Investment Holdings Limited. Tasburgh Limited holds
21,342,875 Shares. The shares in each of Fusion Investment
Holdings Limited and Tasburgh Limited are collectively held
by Magnus Nominees Limited and Fidelis Nominees Limited
as bare trustees on trust for their sole shareholder, Highvern
Trustees Limited, as trustee of the Scuderia Trust, which is a
reserved power discretionary trust. The Shares held by Rangi
Management Limited and Tasburgh Limited are assets of
the Scuderia Trust. Mr. Renaldo Santosa and Ms. Gabriella
Santosa are appointed as the joint investment power holders
of the Scuderia Trust. Under the terms of the Scuderia Trust,
they are jointly entitled, as investment power holders, to
direct the trustee of the Scuderia Trust, Highvern Trustees
Limited, to procure to the best of its ability that the directors
of Fusion Investment Holdings Limited and Tasburgh Limited
act in accordance with his instructions in relation to the
investments of the Scuderia Trust. By virtue of the SFO, each
of Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella Santosa and Highvern
Trustees Limited (as trustee of the Scuderia Trust) is deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by Rangi Management
Limited and Tasburgh Limited, and Fusion Investment Holdings
Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Rangi Management Limited. Rangi Management Limited is also
deemed interested in Japfa Ltd's 12,536,038 Shares in the
Company.

The beneficiaries of the Scuderia Trust are Mdm. Farida
Gustimego Santosa, her children (Mr. Renaldo Santosa,
Ms. Gabriella Santosa, Mr. Mikael Santosa and Mr. Raffaela
Santosa) and remoter issue.

Rangi Management Limited has pledged 212,395,300 of its
shares to an independent third party financial institution.

Tallowe Services Inc. holds 13,540,000 Shares. Tallowe
Services Inc. is wholly owned by Magnus Nominees Limited
and Fidelis Nominees Limited as bare trustees for the estate of
Mr. Handojo Santosa. Mr. Renaldo Santosa and Ms. Gabriella
Santosa are beneficiaries of Mr Handojo Santosa’s interest in
Tallowe Services Inc.

Mr. Renaldo Santosa holds 356,860 Shares through his client
account with a financial institution.

BIFR

BI52023F 12 A31 BB #1771 42(700,463,112
Bt -

Rangi Management Limitedm@té REE
ERAGZEWAE - Tasburgh Limited#
H21,342,875/% %1% - Magnus Nominees
Limited X Fidelis Nominees Limited (¥4
WEZEA) BEKE—IREHighvern Trustees
Limited (&ScuderiaTrust (—&REREHE 2 #E
) MZEAN) M UWEAFEAEREE
RA R EERER A E &Tasburgh Limited A%
3 < Rangi Management Limited & Tasburgh
Limited 8 8 {5 AScuderia TrustfEE
Renaldo Santosa’t4 K Gabriella SantosaX
+EZ T AScuderia TrustWEARERENZAE
A o #R¥EScuderia Trust® &z @ IS LR H#E
ERIRERNIEAB A - fE/RScuderia Trustiix
# AHighvern Trustees Limited + Z2HFTaEHD
RFEREZREAETERER AR KTasburgh Limited
MZEELBEScuderia Trusti& & MI5RTT
% o RIBE(EFH REEEN) - Renaldo Santosa
4 - Gabriella SantosaZ & KHighvern
Trustees Limited (fE&Scuderia Trustfy= 5t
AN) B8 ERRangi Management Limited
K Tasburgh Limited# A0 %7m F A EZ
MEaREERBRARABERIERRang
Management Limited 58 BIRHD R HEH #Ez= -
Rangi Management Limited SR8 AR EE 35
B #)12,536,038 AR IR MNP HAEE

Scuderia Trustf)¥z A AFarida Gustimego
SantosaZ =+ + ¥ % (Renaldo Santosa’t‘ -
Gabriella SantosaZZ =+ * Mikael Santosast4 &
Raffacla Santosast4) AR IEE °

Rangi Management Limited2 #
212,395 300 EM T —MBINE =77
TS -

Tallowe Services Inc.#%7% 13,540,000 A% A% {7 °
Tallowe Services Inc.fHMagnus Nominees
Limited X Fidelis Nominees Limited{E&
Handojo Santosa’t E£EMEMHBZTEAR
& WA - Renaldo Santosast N Gabriella
SantosaZ & AHandojo Santosaft£ER Tallowe
Services Inc. WigEm 2 X A ©

Renaldo SantosaZtE£RBEMN —REmMEEN
B FRF145356,860 %% °



The shares in Morze International Limited are held by
Magnus Nominees Limited and Fidelis Nominees Limited as
bare trustees on trust for their sole shareholder, Highvern
Trustees Limited, as trustee of the Capital Two Trust, which
is a reserved power discretionary trust. The Shares held by
Morze International Limited are assets of the Capital Two Trust.
Highvern Trustees Limited is the trustee of Capital Two Trust.
Ms. Rachel Anastasia Kolonas is the settlor of Capital Two
Trust. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Rachel Anastasia Kolonas and
Highvern Trustees Limited (as trustee of the Capital Two Trust)
are each deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Morze
International Limited. Ms. Rachel Anastasia Kolonas is Mr.
Renaldo Santosa and Ms. Gabriella Santosa’s cousin.

The beneficiaries of the Capital Two Trust are Ms. Rachel
Anastasia Kolonas, her issue and remoter issue and her aunt,
Ms. Tati Santosa.

Highvern Trustees Limited is a professional trustee.

MNM Holdings Limited is the holding company of Highvern
Trustees Limited, which has an interest in the Shares as trustee
of the Scuderia Trust and the Capital Two Trust. MNM Holdings
Limited is wholly owned by Martin John Hall and Naomi Julia
Rive in equal shareholding proportions. By virtue of the SFO,
each of MNM Holdings Limited, Martin John Hall and Naomi
Julia Rive is deemed to be indirectly interested in the Shares
that Highvern Trustees Limited is interested in.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of HKEX or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December
2023 as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to HKEX and
the SFC under the Model Code.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES

The trustee of the AAG Performance Share Plan has pursuant to
the terms of the rules and terms of the Trusts and Share Plan,
purchased on the Stock Exchange a total of 3,266,000 Shares at
a total consideration of HKD7,910,842 (RMB7,251,627 equivalent)
during the Reporting Year.

Saved as disclosed, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the Reporting Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, AGREEMENTS &
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the continuing connected transactions as described in
the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” as
set out in this report of the Directors, no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or
its parent company was a party and in which any Director or any
entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial year
or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2023 under
review.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Company’'s shares (the “Shares”) were successfully listed
on Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 30 December 2022 (the “Listing Date”)
with 30,640,000 Shares issued and net proceeds of approximately
HKD101.4 million raised from the global offering of the Shares on
the Stock Exchange (the “Global Offering”).

On 20 January 2023, the over-allotment option as described in the
prospectus was partially exercised by the overall coordinators (on
behalf of the international underwriters) with 606,000 additional
Shares issued and additional net proceeds of approximately
HKD3.88 million received by the Company. As of the date of this
announcement, the total net proceeds of the Global Offering of
a total of 31,246,000 Shares of approximately HKD105.28 million
(the “Net Proceeds”).

The use of proceeds has been revised and described in the
announcement dated 1 March 2023. The table with a detailed
breakdown and description of the use of Net Proceeds as at 31
December 2023 is set out in page 44 in this report.

The Net Proceeds have been fully utilised at the end of December
2023.

The Board’s views

The Board considers that the proposed change in use of the
Net Proceeds will not have any material adverse impact on the
operations of the Group and is in the interests of the Company
and the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1.

Technical Service Agreement

Annona Technical Services Pte. Ltd. (“ATS"), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Japfa Ltd. (a close associate of the
controlling shareholder of the Company) entered into an
amended and restated technical services agreement (the
“Technical Service Agreement”) with the Company dated
14 December 2022, ATS has agreed to provide financial
solutions (including assisting with certain technical aspects
of the financial statements and upgrading the financial
management tools to review the Group’s business against
key performance indicators), debt financing and debt risk
solutions (including providing training to the Group’s staff
on financial, capital expenditure and budget planning,
developing balanced capital structure and assisting
with managing relationships with debt partners), legal
solutions, human resource solutions, strategic solutions
and digitalization solutions on a cost-sharing basis (the
“Technical Service”) to the Group on normal commercial
terms and at an arm’s length service fee equal to cost
plus a 5% mark-up, subject to a yearly cap on the amount
payable by the Group to ATS. Technical Service Agreement
is for an initial term commencing on the Listing Date (30
December 2022) and expiring on 31 December 2024 and
thereafter will be automatically renewed for successive
terms of three years subject to compliance with the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules, unless either party issues
a written notice of non-renewal or either party terminates
such agreement by giving six months’ written notice.

The proposed maximum annual services fee payable by
the Group to ATS for provision of the Technical Services
for year 2022, year 2023, and year 2024 will not exceed
US$0.65 million, US$0.75 million and US$0.8 million,
respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total amount
of service fee payable by the Group in relation to the
Technical Services amounted to US$0.42 million did not
exceed the annual cap of US$0.75 million.
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Japfa Ltd. is a close associate of controlling shareholders
(comprising Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella Santosa,
the Scuderia Trust, Highvern Trustees Limited (as trustee
of the Scuderia Trust), Magnus Nominees Limited, Fidelis
Nominees Limited, Fusion Investment Holdings Limited,
Rangi Management Limited, Tasburgh Limited and Tallowe
Services Inc.) of the Company. Accordingly, Japfa Ltd. and
its subsidiary ATS are connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules and the transaction between
ATS and the Company constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Further details of the above Technical Services Agreement
have been set out in the section “Connected Transactions”
in the Prospectus.

Supply Agreement

Annona Pte. Ltd., (“Annona”) a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Japfa Ltd. (a close associate of the controlling shareholder
of the Company) entered into a supply agreement
(the “Supply Agreement”) with the Company dated 14
December 2022, Annona has agreed to supply the feed
(such as alfalfa, hay and oats) and other agricultural
commodities, premixes and vitamins (the “Goods”) on
normal commercial terms and on CIF (cost, insurance,
freight) at the prevailing market price of similar Goods,
subject to an overall trading margin which is capped
at 5% of Annona’s earnings before interest and tax for
each financial year. The Supply Agreement is for a term
commencing from the Listing Date (30 December 2022)
and expiring on 31 December 2024 and thereafter will
be automatically renewed for successive terms of three
years subject to compliance with the relevant requirements
of the Listing Rules, unless either party terminates such
agreement by giving one month’s written notice.

The proposed maximum annual purchase amounts payable
by the Group to Annona for the supply of the Goods for the
year 2022, 2023 and 2024 will not exceed US$32 million,
US$37.5 million and US$42 million, respectively.
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For FY2022, the total amount of purchase amounts
payable by the Group to Annona was approximately
US$33.44 million, which exceeded the Cap by US$1.44
million (approximately 4.5%).

For the Reporting Year, the total amount of purchase
amounts payable by the Group to Annona was
approximately US$16.8 million (the “2023 Transaction
Amount”), did not exceed the annual cap of US$37.5
million.

Japfa is a close associate of controlling shareholders
(comprising Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella Santosa,
the Scuderia Trust, Highvern Trustees Limited (as trustee
of the Scuderia Trust), Magnus Nominees Limited, Fidelis
Nominees Limited, Fusion Investment Holdings Limited,
Rangi Management Limited, Tasburgh Limited and Tallowe
Services Inc.) of the Company. Accordingly, Japfa and its
subsidiary Annona are connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules and the transaction between
Annona and the Company constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Listing Rule 14A.54 provides that a listed issuer is required
to re-comply with the announcement and shareholders’
approval requirements before the cap is exceeded.
Exceeding the Original 2023 Cap constituted a breach of
Listing Rule 14A.54.

Details of the above Supply Agreement have been set out
in the section “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.
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Raw Milk Purchase and Sale Agreement

Meiji Dairy (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Meiji Suzhou”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Meiji (China) Investment Company
(controlling shareholder of the Company), entered into
an amended and restated a raw milk purchase and sale
agreement (the “Raw Milk Agreement”’) among Dongying
Xianhe AustAsia, Dongying Shenzhou AustAsia and its
Xinhu branch company (the “Supply Subsidiaries”) dated
14 December 2022 for the long-term supply of raw milk.
The Raw Milk Agreement is for a term commencing from
the Listing Date (30 December 2022) and expiring on 31
December 2027.

The proposed maximum annual purchase amounts payable
by the Meiji Suzhou (and other subsidiaries of Meiji Co.)
for raw milk supplied by the Group to Meiji Suzhou (and
other subsidiaries of Meiji Co.) for the year 2023, 2024,
2025, 2026 and 2027 will not exceed US$41 million, US$47
million, US$56 million, US$68 million and US$77 million,
respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total amount of
payable by the Meiji Suzhou (and other subsidiaries of Meiji
Co.) for raw milk supplied by the Group to payable by the
Meiji Suzhou (and other subsidiaries of Meiji Co.) amounted
to US$28 million which did not exceed the annual cap of
US$41 million.

Meiji Suzhou is a subsidiary of Meiji (China) Investment
Company, the controlling shareholder of the Company.
Accordingly, Meiji Suzhou is a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules and the transaction
between Meiji Suzhou and the Company constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Further details of the above Supply Agreement have been
set out in the section “Connected Transactions” in the
Prospectus.
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Annual review on the continuing connected
transactions

The Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed
the continuing connected transactions mentioned above
pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules and confirmed
that the aforesaid continuing connected transactions had
been entered into are:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better to the Group;
and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor of the Company confirmed to the
Board that:

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
above transactions of the Group in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued a letter containing
his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group above in
accordance with Listing Rules 14A.56. The auditor has the
following conclusions in the letter on continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group:
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(if)

(iii)

(iv)

nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the
Company’s board of directors;

for transactions involving the provision of goods or
services by the Group, nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that such
transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions;

with respect to the aggregate amount of each of
the continuing connected transactions, nothing
has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have exceeded the annual cap as set
by the Company.

(iii)

(iv)
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. Saved as
disclosed in the note 36 to the consolidated financial statements,
the transactions with related parties recorded during the year
ended 31 December 2023 do not constitute connected transaction
nor continuing connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules.

The transactions of (i) Technical Services Agreement; (ii) Supply
Agreement; and (iii) Raw Milk Purchase and Sale Agreement
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company.
Details of which (1) the parties to the transaction and a description
of their connected relationship; (2) the transaction date; (3)
description of the transaction; (4) principal terms and historical
amount; and (5) Listing Rules implications, were disclosed in the
section headed “Connected Transactions” of the Prospectus.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

In April 2023, Shanghai AustAsia Food Co., Ltd. (b/&RHER R
HBRAF], hereafter referred to as “Shanghai AustAsia”) applied
for a preservation order against Hebei Yuanfuda Trading Group
Co., Ltd. (HitEEEEMNESEBR AR, hereafter referred to as
“Hebei Yuanfuda”) for failure to pay RMB7,223,812.5 for fresh
milk supplied to Hebi Yuanfuda under its Procurement Contract
with Shanghai AustAsia. The People’s Court of Lianchi District,
Baoding City ruled by the Second Instance Civil Judgment (Ji
0606, Min Chu No.5524 [2023]) to defer Shanghai AustAsia’s
application until after criminal charges against Hebi Yuanfuda
have been resolved. On December 8, 2023, Shanghai AustAsia
appealed against this decision and was ruled against by the
Intermediate People's Court of Baoding City ({REMHHFARZE
FT). Shanghai AustAsia will continue to seek recovery from Hebei
Yuanfuda once the criminal proceedings against Hebei Yuanfuda
have been completed.

The Company was not involved in other material litigation or
arbitration during the Reporting Year. The Directors are also not
aware of other material litigation or claims that were pending or
threatened against the Group for the Reporting Year.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting will be convened for on or about
Wednesday, 5 June 2024 (the “AGM”"). A notice convening
the AGM will be issued and dispatched to Shareholders of the
Company in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 31 May 2024 to Wednesday, 5 June 2024, during
which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. All transfer
documents of the Company accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 30 May 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate governance practices.

The Company’'s corporate governance practices are set out
under the section “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual
report. Details of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee are given in the same
report. The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with
management the annual results and the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report and based on the information
publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of
the Directors, the Company has maintained the public float as
required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by Ernst & Young,
Certified Public Accountants, who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, we do not have other
plans for material investments and capital assets.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
YEAR

There is no significant events affecting the Company after the year
ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report.

OTHER DISCLOSURES

During the Reporting Year, the Company other than trade credits
granted in the ordinary course of business did not make any
advance to any entity.

During the Reporting Year, the Company did not have any breach
in relation to loan agreements.

During the Reporting Year, the Company did not have any
information about any guarantee regarding the financial
performance of a company or business acquired needed to be
disclosed.

APPRECIATION

The Company would like to take this opportunity to thank the
management and all our employees for the contribution they
have made towards the Group’s continued progress and to our
shareholders, valuable customers, and business partners for their
support.

By Order of the Board
AustAsia Group Ltd.
TAN Yong Nang
Executive Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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(pAUSTASIA

AUSTASIA GROUP LTD.
BREEEAFRLE

STOCK CODERR{#1¢81:2425. Hicy

Name of Directors from left to right

Front row: Patrick Sun, Tan Yong Nang, Edgar Dowse Collins,
YANG Ku

Back row: Chang Pan, Peter, Gabriella Santosa, Gao Lina, Hirata
Toshiyuki, Li ShenglLi

The Board consists of three executive Directors, three non-
executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

TAN Yong Nang (BR¥®), aged 63, was appointed as an
Executive Director of the Company on 28 July 2010 and was
appointed Executive Chairman on 1 April 2020. Mr Tan was
last re-elected as an Executive Director on 7 June 2023. As the
Executive Chairman, Mr Tan holds a leadership role in the board
of directors, focusing on setting the Company’s strategic direction,
directing the management and nurturing stakeholder relationships.
Mr. Tan is also the Chairman of Nomination Committee of the
Company.
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Mr. Tan is also serving as the Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of Japfa Group since 2014. He joined Japfa
Group in May 2007, and had taken on many positions including
a director of PT Japfa Comfeed Indonesia, Tbk, a subsidiary of
Japfa.

Prior to joining the Japfa Group, Mr. Tan worked at PAMA
(Singapore) Private Limited and PT PAMA Ventura Indonesia, both
of which are subsidiaries of The Prudential Insurance Company
of America, where he served as, among other roles, a director
and a president director. After that, Mr. Tan joined Delifrance Asia
Ltd as its chief executive officer, responsible for executing the
overall business strategies, facilitating business development and
managing the operations of the company. Mr. Tan subsequently
joined Li & Fung Group as its project director and chief operating
officer.

Mr. Tan obtained a bachelor of arts degree and a master of arts
degree from the University of Cambridge in the United Kingdom in
June 1983 and March 1987, respectively. He was also registered
as a Chartered Financial Analyst with The Institute of Chartered
Financial Analysts, US in September 1992.

Edgar Dowse COLLINS, aged 57, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 17 April 2009 and was last re-elected
on 7 June 2023. He has been the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company since, and is primarily responsible for the Group’s day-
to-day operations, including financial performance and operational
execution. He leads the management team, manages risks,
communicates with stakeholders, and ensures the implementation
of the company's strategic plans. He is the chairman of the ESG
Committee of the Company. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Collins has accumulated over 30 years of industry experience
having been involved in dairy farming and beef and cattle
operations throughout his career. He has been with the dairy
division of Japfa Group, since June 1999 and is responsible for
the day-to-day operations of the dairy business and in charge
of formulating, developing and implementing both strategic and
long-term business plans for the dairy operations. From 1991
to 1999, Mr. Collins was the head of operations of PT Santosa
Agrindo, one of Japfa’'s subsidiaries, where he was involved in the
development of a cattle and beef business in Indonesia.
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Mr. Collins obtained his high school diploma from The King’s
School, Sydney in December 1985.

YANG Ku (#%E), aged 55, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 5 August 2020 and was last re-
elected on 7 June 2023. Mr. Yang has also been the chief
operating officer of the Group since October 2015. Mr. Yang is
primarily responsible for the management and operations of dairy
farms in the PRC. Mr. Yang has more than 30 years of experience
in dairy industry. Mr. Yang joined the Group in October 2009 as
a general manager where he was responsible for the day-to-day
management of farms in the PRC. Mr. Yang is a member of the
ESG committee of the Company. He is also a director of various
subsidiaries of the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, from August 1991 to August 2004, Mr.
Yang worked at Teaching Experiment Farm of Ningxia University
as a technician, where he was responsible for technical and
production management of the chicken, pig and cattle farms.
From August 2004 to September 2009, Mr. Yang worked at
Mengniu AustAsia Model Dairy Farm Co., Ltd. (REHSFRE
REPIFERETAR) (now known as Modern Dairy (Helingeer)
Co., Ltd. GRAEHZE(FIMER)BIRAR])) ("Helingeer Dairy”), a then
subsidiary of the Group which was acquired by Modern Farming
(Group) Co., Ltd. CRRHE(EB)BR~AR) (“Modern Farm”), a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of China Modern Dairy (as defined
below) in December 2008 and successively held positions as
feeding supervisor (responsible for the management of its feeding
division), dairy farm manager (responsible for the management of
the dairy farm) and general manager (responsible for the overall
management of the company).

Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in animal husbandry
from School of Agriculture, Ningxia University (28 A2 2 205)
(formerly known as Ningxia Agricultural College (2E Z22t)) in
the PRC in July 1991 and a master’'s degree in animal nutrition
and feed science from Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences
(FEEZERIER) in the PRC in July 2007. Mr. Yang was awarded
the certificate of Senior Animal Technician by the Personnel
Department of Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region (2E Bk B/RE A
%E2) in August 2005.

Non-Executive Directors

HIRATA Toshiyuki (FH#%7T), aged 62, was appointed as a Non-
executive Director of the Company on 3 July 2020 and was last re-
elected on 7 June 2023. He is primarily responsible for providing
strategic advice and guidance on corporate development, and
making recommendations on major operational and management
decisions. Mr. Toshiyuki is a member of audit committee of the
Company.
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Mr. Hirata has around 38 years of experience in confectionery
business. He joined Meiji Co., Ltd. (“Meiji Co.”) one of our
substantial shareholders, in April 1984. He worked at Tokyo
sales branch of Meiji Co. until June 1987. He then worked at
food international division of Meiji Co. from July 1987 to May
1998. Mr. Hirata subsequently served various positions in Meiji
Co., including manager of the administrative affairs under food
international division, finance director of Meiji Seika (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd. (“Meiji Seika Singapore”), a subsidiary of Meiji Co.,
manager of Tokai factory planning & administrative department,
as well as the associate general manager of confectionary
department and general manager of administrative department
under the international business unit. Mr. Hirata served as the
managing director of Guangzhou Meiji Confectionery Co., Ltd, a
subsidiary of Meiji Co., from April 2015 to December 2018, where
he was responsible for the company’s day-to-day operations. Mr.
Hirata is currently the managing director of Meiji Seika Singapore,
where he is primarily responsible for overseeing, managing and
advising on the company’s business development.

Mr. Hirata obtained a bachelor of arts degree in business and
commerce from Keio University in Tokyo, Japan in March 1984.

GAO Lina (SE1#¥), aged 67, was appointed as Executive Director
on 22 December 2021 and was last re-elected as a Non-Executive
Director on 7 June 2023. She advices and assist in the Group’s
external affairs and relationships management.

Ms. Gao has over 16 years of extensive experience in dairy
industry. Ms. Gao co-founded the Modern Dairy Group (as
defined below) and had been the executive director and the
chief executive officer of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd. (%
BIRARHEERABRAR]) (“China Modern Dairy”, together with
its subsidiaries, “Modern Dairy Group”), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1117) in November 2008, for nearly
13 years. Ms. Gao retired from these positions with effect from
1 July 2022. Prior to this, Ms. Gao had accumulated significant
experience in cross-border trading, resource integration and
administrative management. Ms. Gao was the general manager
of Tailan Foreign General Trade Corporation (FRLZHINELE R A])
between October 1993 to June 2005. Ms. Gao was the director
general of Tai'an Municipal Trade Promotion Bureau (& MR
/&) between October 2003 and June 2005.
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Over the years, Ms. Gao has received various awards and
accolades acknowledging her accomplishments. For example,
she was awarded Tai'an City Excellent Entrepreneur in Reforming
and Enterprising Endeavours (RLTHRELLELNEFTLER)
in 2004. Ms. Gao was awarded the Scientific and Technological
Progress Award (Class 1 of Promotion Category) (RFHEH i 2 12
HEHE—%4) by the Ministry of Education of the PRC in January
2013, and Ms. Gao was granted the honour of Top 10 Business
Leaders in China Economy (FBI&E+ KEEEM) at the 2014
China Economic Summit Forum & The 12th Annual Meeting of
China Economic Characters. Ms. Gao was awarded Best CEO in
Institutional Investors — Survey Report on All Asian Management
Team 2016 (“HiEHREHE —2016 F2RMNERBEBRRFERE PHE
CEO) and 2017 China Financial Market Awards e Best Corporate
Leader of the Year (2017 FHEIFE KM o F[EHlED ¥ BMIE).
Ms. Gao was awarded the Meritorious Person of the Chinese Dairy
Industry (FFEIIZEINEIAY) by the Dairy Association of China (/1
BB E) in 2018, the Top Ten Influential Women in China’s
Economy (FRER&E+RKFE M) at Boao Enterprise Forum in
2019, 2020 Best Manager & Operator of the Year (FE&RELE A
&M F) at the NetEase New Energy Dairy Industry Summit Forum
and the Outstanding Contribution Award for the High Quality
Development of the Dairy Industry (EEEEERLE EEE) by
National Dairy Science and Technology Innovation Alliance (B4R

PRI RIF ).

Ms. Gao completed an undergraduate course at Tai'an Municipal
CPC Party School (FHZFELZMZEER) majoring in economic
management in December 1999.

Gabriella SANTOSA, aged 32, was elected as a Non-executive
Director of the Company on 7 June 2023. She is primarily
responsible for providing a wealth of knowledge and experience
in animal health, biologics and genetics to the Group. Ms.
Gabriella SANTOSA is a member of remuneration committee of the
Company.

Ms. Santosa is responsible for the expansion of Japfa's network
and partnership mainly in animal health, digital and biological
technology solutions, and drives cross-divisional initiatives. In
addition, she explores and evaluates new venture potential in both
new growth areas and existing operations and focus resources
to support technological efficiencies and innovation in current
operational process.
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Ms. Santosa was appointed Head of Projects in PT Japfa Comfeed
Indonesia Tbk in March 2024 and also holds the position as
Deputy Head of Animal Health and Livestock Equipment since
2017, where she is responsible for improving processes and
systems within the business and the key expansion initiatives for
new products, markets and technologies.

She joined Japfa Ltd as a Business Executive in 2016 and was
promoted to her current role as Head of Business Development
& Strategy since August 2022. She was appointed as Head of
Projects in PT Japfa Comfeed Indonesia Tbk in March 2024.

Ms. Gabriella Santosa completed her Bachelor of Science in
Biochemistry with a year in Industry from the Imperial College
London, UK, in 2016. She was selected as Forbes 30 under 30
(Europe 2019) under Manufacturing and Industry stream as Co-
founder of Puraffinity, a deep tech start-up that has accumulated
over $17m in funding. This venture has also recognised her as
a 2016 finalist for the Innovate UK ‘Women in Innovation’ grant,
and author and owner of papers and patents in the biomaterials
space.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

SUN Patrick (¥E%), aged 65, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 5 December 2022.
He is primarily responsible for providing strategic advice and
guidance and providing independent judgement and advice to the
Board. He is the chairman of the audit committee of the Company,
and a member of nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Company.
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In addition to his position at the Company, Mr. Sun has been an
independent non-executive director of Sihuan Pharmaceutical
Holdings Group Ltd., a pharmaceutical company and listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0460), since October 2010, an
independent non-executive director of Kunlun Energy Company
Limited, which is engaged in domestic and international oil-gas
exploration and development and listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0135), since February 2016 and an independent
non-executive director of Ferretti S.p.A., which is engaged in
the design, construction and sale of luxury yachts and listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9638), since December 2022.
Additionally, Mr. Sun was an independent non-executive director
of China NT Pharma Group Company Limited, a pharmaceutical
company and listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1011),
from March 2010 to December 2019, an independent non-
executive director of China Railway Construction Corporation
Limited, which is engaged in transportation infrastructure
construction services and listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1186) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601186),
from October 2014 to December 2022 and an independent non-
executive director of CRRC Corporation Limited, which is engaged
in manufacturing and distribution of railway transportation
equipment and listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1766)
and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601766), from May
2015 to December 2022.

Mr. Sun was the group executive director and head of investment
banking for Greater China at Jardine Fleming Holdings Limited
from December 1996 to 2000 and the senior country officer and
head of investment banking for Hong Kong of JPMorgan Chase
from 2000 to March 2002. Subsequent to that, Mr. Sun was an
executive director of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited
(formerly known as SW Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 0188) between September 2004 and May 2006
and an executive director and chief executive officer of Value
Convergence Holdings Limited (stock code: 0821) from August
2006 to October 2009 (both companies are listed on the Stock
Exchange).
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Mr. Sun was formerly the chairman of the Chamber of Hong Kong
Listed Companies from 2013 to 2015. He was a member of the
Takeovers & Mergers Panel and the Takeovers Appeal Committee
of SFC from 1995 to 1997 and from 1999 to 2001, respectively.
Mr. Sun was a member of the Council and the deputy chairman
of the Listing Committee and of the Stock Exchange from 1995 to
2000 and from 2000 to 2002, respectively.

Mr. Sun obtained a bachelor of science degree in economics
from Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania, the
United States, in May 1981. Mr. Sun also completed the Stanford
Executive Program of Stanford Business School, the United
States, in 2000. Mr. Sun is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, the United Kingdom, and a fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

LI Shengli (ZB#), aged 58, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 5 December 2022.
Professor Li is primarily responsible for providing strategic advice
and guidance and providing independent judgement and advice
to the Board. He is a member of nomination committee and ESG
committee of the Company.
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Since 2003, Professor Li has been with China Agricultural
University (FRB 2% KE), working at various times as an
assistant professor and professor. Professor Li is currently the
vice president of Dairy Association of China. In 2005, Professor
Li obtained a patent on Rubeili (2Lf&7F!), a type of high-energy
and high-protein supplementary feed for dairy cows. Over the
years, Professor Li has received various awards and accolades
acknowledging his accomplishments. For instance, he was
awarded the second prize and a prize of the Beijing Science
and Technology Award (It RMEIZETEE) in 2000 and 2011,
respectively, and was recognised by the Beijing Municipal
Government as “Top 10 Scientists with Contribution to the
Economic Development in Rural Villages of Beijing” (FXBEZA 4
EEETE"RHET{EE) in 2009. He also received the first prize
of Science and Technology Progress Award awarded by the
Ministry of Education of the PRC (B BEHZ# 26 48) in 2012, the
first prize for Chinese Agricultural Science Technology Progress
awarded by the Ministry of Agriculture of the PRC (FREEEERIK
#H—%48) in 2013 and the second prize of National Scientific
and Technological Progress Award (B R BB 1liE S E =5 48) in
2014.

Professor Li has been an independent non-executive director
of China Modern Dairy Holdings Ltd., a dairy farm operator and
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1117), since October
2010, an independent director of Zhejiang Yiming Food Co., Ltd.
(MI—ER MM ERAR]), which is engaged in dairy farming,
manufacturing and sale of dairy products and listed on Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 605179), since September 2018 and
an independent director of Xinjiang Tianrun Dairy Co., Ltd. (¥758K
EELZERMBR AT, which is engaged in manufacturing and sale
of dairy products and listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600419), since February 2020. Additionally, Professor Li
was an independent non-executive director of China Zhongdi
Dairy Holdings Company Limited, a dairy farm operator which was
listed on the Stock Exchange in December 2015 and delisted due
to privatisation in June 2022 (previous stock code: 1492), from
February 2015 to December 2022 and an independent director
of Beijing Scitop Bio-tech Co.,Ltd. (It RRHAEBEWFITRMDE
fRA7\]), which is engaged in lactic acid bacteria research and
listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300858), from
December 2019 to November 2020.
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Professor Li obtained a bachelor's degree in animal husbandry
and veterinary science graduated from Shihezi Agricultural
College (AAT2ZEPFT) (currently known as Shihezi University
(BAFKE)) in the PRC in July 1987 and a master's degree
in animal husbandry and nutrition from Xinjiang Agricultural
University (¥TiE2%AZ) in the PRC in June 1993. He then
obtained his doctorate degree in animal nutrition science from
China Agricultural University in the PRC in July 1996.

CHANG Pan, Peter (3R*), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent Director on 5 August 2020 and was redesignated as
an Independent Non-executive Director on 24 March 2022. Mr.
Chang is primarily responsible for providing strategic advice and
guidance and providing independent judgement and advice to
the Board. He is the chairman of remuneration committee of the
Company and a member of audit committee of the Company. Mr.
Chang has also been appointed as an independent director of
Dongying AustAsia, our principal operating subsidiary in the PRC,
since October 2010 and subsequently has been appointed as an
independent director of several other subsidiaries of the Company
in the PRC where his role has been to participate in board
meetings of the relevant PRC subsidiaries to provide independent
advice and judgement on the operations and management of such
subsidiaries on issues relating to the PRC business, strategy and
performance as well as relationships with key stakeholder.

Mr. Chang is an entrepreneur with extensive experience in
corporate management and investments. Since August 2004,
Mr. Chang founded several companies under the brand of KAIA
Group in Singapore, China and Malaysia which are engaged in
property development, new material manufacturing and private
equity investments (“KAIA Group”). Mr. Chang has served as the
chairman and has been actively involved in the KAIA Group’s
development over the past years. Prior to founding KAIA Group,
Mr. Chang had years of experience spanning across consultancy,
property investment and power plants business. Mr. Chang
worked at Paclantic Pte Ltd as its director until February 1997,
where he was mainly responsible for oversight of company’s
consultancy and property investment business. From March
1997 to July 2004, Mr. Chang held positions of director, chief
executive officer and president of AsiaPower Corporation Limited,
a company mainly engaged in power plants management and
operation which was voluntarily delisted from the SGX-ST in May
2014 (previous stock code: A03).
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Mr. Chang obtained a bachelor of engineering degree from Harbin
Institute of Technology (FME/E T KE) in the PRC in July 1984
and a doctor of philosophy (Ph.D) degree from Loughborough
University of Technology in the United Kingdom in September
1989. Mr. Chang was elected a graduate of the Institution of
Engineering and Technology (formerly the Institution of Production
Engineers) in the United Kingdom in October 1990.

Senior Management

TAN Yong Nang, aged 63, is the Executive Chairman of the
Company. His biographical details are set out above under the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

Edgar Dowse COLLINS, aged 57, is the Executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company. His biographical details
are set out above under the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

YANG Ku (#E), aged 55, is the Executive Director and chief
operating officer of the Company. His biographical details are
set out above under the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

CHEN Yuan (PfiE), aged 54, has been the chief finance officer
of the Group since July 2021 and is primarily responsible for the
financial and risk management, capital markets, investor relations
of the Group.
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Mr. Chen has around 18 years of experience spanning across
investment banking, securities underwriting, equity capital market
and corporate finance. From January 1995 to September 1999,
Mr. Chen worked at China Southern Securities Co., Ltd. (F
FEHAEMRAR) as the manager of securities underwriting in
international business department, where he was responsible for
underwriting and listing of Chinese B shares. From March 2002
to July 2002, Mr. Chen worked at Standard Capital Brokerage
Limited as a business development manager. From July 2002 to
December 2003, Mr. Chen worked at Polaris Capital (Asia) Limited
(formerly known as GC Capital (Asia) Limited) as an associate
director of equity capital market division. Mr. Chen joined Piper
Jaffray Asia Securities Limited (formerly known as Goldbond
Securities Limited) in April 2006 as a director of equity capital
market division and was designated as the principal in October
2007, and Mr. Chen subsequently served as the head of Hong
Kong equity capital market division from August 2008 to April
2009. From April 2009 to September 2010, Mr. Chen held the
positions as managing director and head of institutional sales at
China Everbright Limited.

In September 2010, Mr. Chen joined Fufeng Group Limited
(“Fufeng Group”), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0546), as the vice general manager, and subsequently
served as the executive director and chief financial officer
from November 2010 to December 2014, during which he was
responsible for matters relating to corporate finance, capital
markets, investor relations, corporate development and other
financial management. Subsequent to that, Mr. Chen served as
the chief financial officer at Hyalroute Communication Group
Limited (formerly known as International Telecommunication Group
Holdings Limited), a telecom infrastructures provider in Southeast
Asia, where he was primarily responsible for formulating the
financial strategies and directing financial management functions
of the company. Mr. Chen then rejoined Fufeng Group in July
2017 and served as the chief financial officer until June 2021.

Mr. Chen obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from Xiamen
University (EFIAEZ) in the PRC in July 1991 and a Master of
Business Administration in international banking and finance from
Birmingham Business School of the University of Birmingham in
the United Kingdom in December 2001.
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Mr. Chen ranked as one of the best CFOs by Finance Asia in the
Best Companies Polls covering Hong Kong, Mainland China and
Taiwan in March 2014.

ZHANG Haicheng (5&#&H), aged 44, has been the operation
general manager of the Group since January 2019 and is primarily
responsible for the day-to-day management of dairy farms in the
PRC. Mr. Zhang has more than 15 years of experience in dairy
farm management and operation. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in
September 2009 as a deputy dairy farm manager of Dongying
AustAsia, our principal operating subsidiary in the PRC, and
successively served in its information division and farm operation
manager from August 2010 to April 2013. Mr. Zhang worked as
a dairy farm manager at Dongying Shenzhou AustAsia, our other
principal operating subsidiaries in the PRC, from May 2013 to
December 2014. Mr. Zhang was appointed as the deputy dairy
farm manager of the Group in January 2015, and successively
promoted to be the general manager in Shandong region in
January 2017 and the operation general manager in January
2019.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang joined Helingeer Dairy as the
information division manager in October 2005. From September
2009 to July 2010, Mr. Zhang worked at Modern Farm as a deputy
manager of information division.

Mr. Zhang obtained a college degree in computer and
applications from Inner Mongolia University of Technology (A& &
T KX2) in the PRC in July 2003.
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COMPANY SECRETARIES
Singapore Company Secretaries

Ms. CHUA Sook Ping Christina (%), aged 57, was
appointed as the Singapore Company Secretary of the Company
on 5 January 2012. Ms. Chua joined Japfa Group in 2010 and
currently holds the position of head of legal and compliance in
Japfa. Ms. Chua will continue to oversee all legal, compliance
and secretarial functions of operations of the Japfa Group and
company secretarial affairs of the Group following the completion
of the Japfa Distribution and the Global Offering.

Ms. Chua has more than 30 years of experience as a lawyer.
She joined Drew & Napier LLC in 1990 and later joined Rajah &
Tann LLP in 2007. During her time in practice, Ms. Chua was a
director at Drew & Napier LLC and later a partner at Rajah & Tann
LLP, and was recommended in the 2003/2004, 2004/2005 and
2006/2007 editions of The Asia Pacific Legal 500 for Mergers &
Acquisitions.

She was also named in Who's Who Legal (Singapore) 2007
for Mergers & Acquisitions and the International Tax Review
2004. She was named a highly recommended tax practitioner in
Practical Law Company’s Which Lawyer? Yearbook Singapore
(2008).

Ms. Chua obtained a bachelor’s degree in Laws from the National
University of Singapore in June 1989 in Singapore. She is an
advocate and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Singapore and
was admitted to the Singapore Bar in March 1990. She has been
a member of the Law Society of Singapore since 1990.

Ms. CHENG Sai Hong (#%8l), aged 53, was appointed as the
Singapore Company Secretary of the Company on 5 January
2012.

Ms. Cheng has also served as the Company Secretary of
Japfa since August 2011. Ms. Cheng has over 28 years of
corporate secretarial experience which included Singapore listed
companies.
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Ms. Cheng was admitted as an associate of the Singapore
Association of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators (a division of the Chartered Governance Institute)
in January 2009 and an associate of the Chartered Secretaries
Institute of Singapore in May 2017.

Hong Kong Secretary

Ms. HO Wing Nga (fJ5k#), was appointed as the Hong Kong
Secretary of the Company on 24 March 2022.

head of
of an external governance services

Ms. Ho currently serves as the managing director,
governance services,
provider. She is currently a joint company secretary and the
company secretary of various companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Ms. Ho has over 25 years of experience in corporate
secretarial services. She obtained a master's degree in corporate
governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
December 2006 and became an associate of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute (the “HKCGI”, previously known
as the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) in the same
month. In March 2015, Ms. Ho became a fellow of both the HKCGI
and The Chartered Governance Institute. She is also a holder of
the practitioner’s endorsement of HKCGI and a member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Directors. She is not a “secretary” of the
Company as defined in the Singapore Companies Act.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors confirm that
there is no other information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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The board of directors of the Company (the “Board” or
“Director(s)”) is pleased to report to its Shareholders on the
corporate governance of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023 (the “Reporting Year”).

The Board is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance so as to deliver long-term and sustained value for the
Shareholders of the Company. The Board reviews its corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to provide an
effective Board, prudent risk management and internal control
system, transparency and quality disclosure, and accountability
towards Shareholders, stakeholders and investors.

CG CODE

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
the Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) as the basis of the Company’s
corporate governance practices. To the best knowledge of the
Directors, the CG Code has been applicable to the Company with
effect from 30 December 2022.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, save as disclosed, the
Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions set
out in the CG Code during the Reporting Year. The Company will
continue to regularly review and monitor its corporate governance
practices to ensure compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code, and maintain a high standard of corporate governance
practices of the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in the Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions, and the
Model Code has been applicable to the Company with effect from
the Listing Date.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry made by
the Company, that they have complied with the required standards
set out in the Model Code during the Reporting Year.
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Save as disclosed below, no other incident of non-compliance of
the Model Code was noted by the Company during the Reporting
Year.

Late submission of Black out Notification:

Rule A.3(b) requires the Company to notify the Stock Exchange
in advance of the commencement of each period during which
directors are not allowed to deal under Rule A.3(a). The Company
was listed on 30 December 2022. The Black out period for the
FY2022 annual result announcement was released on 1 March
2023 commenced on 1 January 2023. The Black out notification
was submitted to Stock Exchange on 20 January 2023. There was
no securities dealing by its Director during the period 1 January
2023 to 20 January 2023.

Late reporting of successful trade by Director,
Collins:

Edgar Dowse

Prior to acquisition of AAG shares in the market, Mr Edgar Dowse
Collins has requested and duly received the requisite pre-approval
for the share purchase. However, the notification to the Company
of the successful market acquisition of 50,000 AAG shares on
30 May 2023 was inadvertently missed out by Mr Collins. The
Company received the trade confirmation from Mr Collin’'s Banker
on 28 August 2023. The 30 May 2023 market acquisition was
incorporated in Mr Collins’s notification of change of Director’s
Interest which was uploaded on Hong Kong Exchange Disclosure
on Interest Online (DION) system on 30 August 2023.

STRATEGY OF THE COMPANY

The Company focus on creating long-term value for our
stakeholders in a responsible and sustainable way. To achieve
our mission, the Company intends to pursue a comprehensive
strategy focused on the following:

° Further expand our dairy farms and diversify our customer
base;

° Continue to develop our beef cattle business;

o Upstream integration through genetic breeding technology

to further improve our operational efficiency; and

o Build a sustainable business with minimal environmental
and social impacts.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the
businesses, strategic decisions and performance of the Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and takes decisions objectively
in the best interests of the Company.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out their duties in good
faith, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

Board Composition

Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Yong Nang (Executive Chairman)
Mr. Edgar Dowse COLLINS (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YANG Ku (Chief Operating Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. HIRATA Toshiyuki

Ms. GAO Lina (redesignated from Executive Director on 7 June
2023)

Ms. Gabriella SANTOSA (appointed on 7 June 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. SUN Patrick
Mr. LI Shengli
Mr. CHANG Pan, Peter

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises nine (9)
Directors, three (3) Executive Directors, three (3) Non-executive
Directors, and three (3) Independent Non-executive Directors.
Two (2) female Directors and seven (7) male Directors, and four
(4) Chinese Directors and five (5) non-Chinese Directors.
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The Board members (including Independent Non-executive
Directors) come from a wide range of professional and
educational backgrounds, including accounting, corporate
finance, management and industry expertise. It brings a diverse
and balance set of skills and experience to the Board, contributing
to the effective direction of the Group.

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the “Directors
and Senior Management” section of this annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there has been no
relationship (neither financial, business nor family or other
material/relevant relationships) among members of the Board as
at the date of this report.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Throughout the Reporting Year and up to the date of this annual
report, the Board at all times met the requirements of Rules
3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10(A) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board with at least one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

At the annual review of Independence status of Independent
Directors, the Board noted that the Company has received a
written confirmation from each of the independent directors that
there is no change or impending change in their respective
personal particulars that may affect their independent status set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the Company’s Prospectus, Mr. Chan Pan, Peter
has served AustAsia for an aggregate period of more than nine
years where he was appointed as an Independent Director of
Dongying AustAsia on 13 October 2010 and he did not receive
any fees/remuneration for his service as an Independent Director
FY2019-FY2022.

The Board has considered and are of the view that Mr. Chan Pan,
Peter’s prior appointment as an Independent Director of Dongying
AustAisa would not affect his current independent status.

The Board considered the conduct by each of the Independent
Directors at the Board meeting and is of the view that each
of the independent Director is free from any relationships and
circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect,
their independent judgement.
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Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
overseeing the Group's strategic decisions, monitors business
and performance, monitor the financial performance, and internal
control and risk management system. To oversee particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. The Board has delegated to the Board committees
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

The Independent Non-executive Directors are particularly
responsible for bringing an independent judgement on the Board.
They take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise
and monitor the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives and the relevant reporting.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in
respect of liability arising from legal action against its Directors,
and will conduct annual review on such insurance coverage.

Appointment and Re-appointment of the Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are laid down in the Constitution. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating the relevant procedures
for nomination and appointment of Directors, monitoring the
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors
and assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

All Directors (including Non-executive Director and Independent
Non-executive Directors) have entered into the letters of
appointment with the Company and subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms and may be renewed in
accordance with the Constitution and the applicable Listing Rules.
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Directors’ service contracts ranges from one to three years
commencing from the Listing Date (subject to termination in
certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service
agreement). In certain other circumstances, the service contract
can also be terminated by us, including but not limited to certain
breaches of our Directors’ obligations under the contract or
certain misconducts. The appointments of our Directors are also
subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors
under the Constitution. The total compensation of the Executive
Directors and key executives of the Company are reviewed by
the Remuneration Committee on an annual basis. The variable
component of the remuneration is subjected to adjustments.
When determining the fixed and variable component for
the Executive Directors and key executives, the individual
performance is taken into consideration and remuneration
recommendations are reviewed based on competitive market
practices and information gathered from market surveys.
Executive Directors are employees of the Company do not receive
Directors’ fee.

All Directors will hold office subject to provision of retirement
and rotation of directors under the Constitution. Pursuant to the
Constitution 34.1, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three(3) years. All Directors stood for re-election/election at
the first Annual General Meeting held on 7 June 2023.

Pursuant to Constitution 34.8, any person so appointed either to
fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director by the Directors
shall hold office only until the next annual general meeting after
his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Training and Continuous Professional Development of
Directors

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the purpose
of the Company. Ms. Gabriella SANTOSA who was elected during
the Reporting Year received training from Freshfields Bruckhaus
Deringer on “Continuing Obligations of a Hong Kong Listed
Company and its Directors”.
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Our Directors generally keep themselves updated on new laws
and regulations as well as changes in the industry and general
economic environment. Where required, the Company will
engage external lawyers to brief the Board on material changes
to their statutory duties and to update them on material changes
in laws and regulations. External seminars and conferences are
arranged for the Directors when appropriate. During the Reporting
Year, the Company circulated an Anti Corruption Guide for
listed Companies issued by Hong Kong ICAC for reading by the
Directors. The Directors are also encouraged to do the Directors
E-training Programme available on the Hong Kong Exchange
website.

All Director and the Singapore Company Secretary have disclosed
their training received and/or materials read during the Reporting
Year and the training record are maintained by the Singapore
Company Secretary.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and
not to be performed by the same individual to avoid power being
concentrated in any one individual. Mr. Tan Yong Nang is the
Chairman of the Board, and Mr. Edgar Dowse Collins is the chief
executive officer.

The roles of the Chairman and the chief executive officer are
segregated with a clear division of responsibilities, the role of
chairman of the Board is responsible for strategic planning of the
Group and the management of the Board, the role of the chief
executive officer is responsible for the Group’s overall operation
and management.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has a policy of “diversity from inclusiveness - the
best person for the job regardless of gender, age, race, religion,
social and cultural background”.

All Board appointments are made on the merit of the candidates,
in the context of the skills, knowledge and experience the Board
as a whole requires and the contribution which such candidates
will bring to the Board, and taking into account, the regulatory
requirements and the factors relevant to the Company’s business.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring that gender
diversity objectives are adopted in board recruitment, board
performance evaluation and succession planning processes.
It will consider the balance in board composition in terms of
skills, experience, independence as well as diversity in carrying
out the annual performance assessment on the effectiveness of
the Board, the Board committees and individual Directors. The
Nomination Committee will periodically identify and, when suitable,
recommend suitable candidates to the Board for consideration
for appointment as a Director and ensure that there is at least a
director of a different gender. The Company will also continue to
ensure that gender diversity is considered when recruiting staff
at the mid to senior levels so as to develop a pipeline of female
management members and potential appointees to the Board in
the future, and continue to emphasise training of female talent and
provide long-term development opportunities for female staff.

The Company is committed to maintaining a suitable working
environment of respect for people regardless of their gender in all
business dealings and achieving a workplace environment free of
harassment and discrimination on the basis of gender, physical or
mental state, ethnicity, nationality, religion, age or family status.

Delegation by the Board

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the
Board has established four Board committees, including the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee the Nomination
Committee, and ESG Committee (collectively, the “Board
Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board Committees
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.
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Board meetings, committee meetings and general meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals in accordance with the CG Code. Notices of no less than
fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide
all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board meetings and Board Committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and
accompanying board papers are sent to the Directors or Board
committee members at least 3 days before the meetings, and all
Directors have full and timely access to the senior management
for any information to enable them to make informed decisions
and perform their duties and responsibilities.

Minutes of meetings shall be kept by the company secretary of
the Company with copies circulated to all Directors for information
and records. Minutes of Board meeting and meetings of board
committees are recorded in sufficient detail about the matters
considered and decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the Directors or dissenting views expressed. Draft minutes of
each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to
the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date
on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board meetings are
open for inspection by the Directors.

Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code provides that the Chairman
should at least annually hold a meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other Directors. No
formal meeting with independent non-executive Directors (“INED”)
was scheduled in 2023 as the Chairman generally speak to the
INED before or after the Board or committee meeting or in work
trips without the presence of other Directors.
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Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code provides that Board (XEATRITANEXECSIERT  EFSeH
meetings should be held at least four times a year at ESFABAELIXN  KHOTE—K -
approximately quarterly intervals.

i3
i3

A summary of the attendance records of each Director at Board WU TABUEENRKEFELEEEE £ 8
meetings, committee meetings and general meetings during the FEREEEASHCERME
Reporting Year is set out below:

No. of meetings attended

HESERE
Audit Remuneration Nomination ESG General
Board  Committee Committee Committee* = Committee Meeting

EEg EfEES FMEEE® REESE* ESGEES® BREAE

Tan Yong Nang 6/6 - 2/2 2/2 - 11
BRekE

Edgar Dowse Collins 6/6 2/2 - - 2/2 11
Edgar Dowse Collins

YANG Ku 6/6 - - - 2/2 11
15

Gao Lina 5/6 - - - - 1/1
=B

Hirata Toshiyuki 6/6 2/2 - - - 1/1
FHETT

Gabrella Santosa 3/4

Gabrella Santosa (4 meeting held post

appointment.
Appointed on
7 June 2023)
(BEZERBOINREE

R2023F6 A7 BEZT)
Sun Patrick 6/6 2/2 2/2 2/2 - 11
Li Shengli 4/6 - - 2/2 2/2 1/1
FEHH
Chang Pan, Peter 5/6 2/2 2/2 - - 11

RF
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the ESG Committee
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each
of these committees is established with defined written terms of
reference..

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee of the Board
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG
Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee comprises three members, including two Independent
Non-executive Directors, Mr. Sun Patrick (Chairman) and Mr.
CHANG Pan, Peter, and one Non-executive Director, Mr. HIRATA
Toshiyuki.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in discharging its statutory duties and responsibilities relating
to accounting and reporting practices of the Group. The duties
and responsibilities include overseeing the financial reporting
and reviewing the financial information of the Group, considering
issues relating to the external auditors and their appointment and
reviewing the internal controls systems of the Group (including
financial, operational, compliance, information technology controls
and risk management processes). The written terms of reference
of the Audit Committee are available for inspection on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

2 Audit Committee meetings were held during the Reporting Year.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 and has met with the independent auditor, Ernst & Young.
The Audit Committee considered that the annual results are in
compliance with the applicable accounting standards, laws and
regulations, and the Company has made appropriate disclosures
thereof.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee of the
Board in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the
CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. As the
date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
members, including two Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr.
CHANG Pan, Peter (Chairman) and Mr. Sun Patrick, and one Non-
Executive Director Ms. Gabriella SANTOSA.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy, review and approve the
management’'s remuneration proposals and to determine or
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management. The written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee are available for inspection on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

2 remuneration committee meetings were held during the
Reporting Year.

Subsequent to 31 December 2023 and to the date of this annual
report, one meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held to
discuss and consider the following matters:

° recommended to the Board the remuneration packages
of Executive Directors, Non-executive Director and senior
management in respect of the year ended 31 December
2023; and

. recommended to the Board the remuneration packages of
Independent Non-executive Directors in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Emoluments of Directors and Senior Management

The aggregate amount of the fees, salaries, housing allowances,
other allowances, benefits in kind (including contributions to
pension schemes) and bonuses and share-based payment
expenses paid by the Group to Directors for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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The level of remuneration is mainly based on the experience,
scope of duties, work performance and time committed to the
Company, prevailing market rates, salaries paid by comparable
companies and remuneration packages elsewhere in the
Group. The remuneration payable to the Directors and senior
management of the Company fell within the following bands for
the year 2023:

SHERHE

FHKFIXrERREH BESE LERBLY
RARFHHER  BEMBEHH - TELRAF
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Number of

Individuals

AH

RMBO to RMB1,000,000 AR¥0TZE ARME1,000,0007T 5
RMB2,000,001 to RMB3,000,000 AR#2,000,0017cE ARK3,000,0007T 0
RMB3,000,001 to RMB4,000,000 AR ¥3,000,00170E AR 4,000,0007T 2
RMB4,000,001 to RMB5,000,000 AR #4,000,0017t2 AR5 000,0007T 1
RMB6,000,001 to RMB7,000,000 AR #6,000,001 T2 AR¥7,000,0007T 1
RMB7,000,001 to RMB8,000,000 AR #7,000,001 T2 AR¥8,000,0007T 1
RMB8,000,001 to RMB9,000,000 AR #8,000,001 72 AR¥9,000,0007T 1

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee of the
Board as recommended by the CG Code as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee comprises
three members, including one Executive Director, Mr. Tan Yong
Nang (Chairman), and two Independent Non-executive Directors,
Mr. Sun Patrick and Mr. Li Shengli.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
structure, size and composition of the Board, identify individuals
who are qualified to become members of the Board and select
or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorship, assess the independence
of the independent directors and make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors. The written terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee are available for inspection on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

2 Nomination Committee meetings were held during the Reporting
Year.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board
diversity policy, details of which will be set out in the section
headed “Board Diversity Policy”.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
character, qualifications, experience, independence (for
appointment of independent non-executive Directors), and
Board diversity aspects, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

ESG COMMITTEE

The Company has established the ESG Committee of the Board.
The ESG Committee comprises three members, including two
Executive Directors, Mr. Edgar Dowse COLLINS (chairman) and
Mr. YANG Ku, and one Independent Non-executive Director, Mr.
LI Shengli.

The primary duties of the ESG Committee are to formulate and
review the vision, objectives, strategies, management structure,
policies, risk profile and KPIs relating to ESG, to review the main
trends in ESG, identify the risks and opportunities related to ESG,
review the Company’s annual ESG report to ensure compliance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules and to report to the
Board on the foregoing.

2 ESG Committee meetings were held during the Reporting Year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The
Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the

collective responsibility of Directors, which include:

(a)

to develop and review the Company's policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company has established risk management systems
consisting of appropriate policies and procedures, and we

continue to improve these systems. The Company has adopted,

among other things, the following risk management measures:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

The Board is responsible for monitoring our internal control
system, reviewing its effectiveness, and maintaining the
Company’s risk at an appropriate and effective level. A
review of the Group's risk management and internal control
system has been conducted and will be conducted at least
annually, which will include a review of all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls;

The audit department is responsible for the evaluation of
the risks faced by the Company on an annual basis, and
prepares a risk assessment report based on the evaluation
results and submits it to the audit committee and the Board
for approval;

All departments are required to proactively identify the
risks they face and various internal and external factors
that affect the occurrence of the risks; and

The Company will engage external professional advisors,
where necessary, and work with our internal audit and legal
team to conduct regular review to ensure the effectiveness
of all registrations, licences, permits, filings and approvals.
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The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group with the Internal Auditor at least
twice annually and reports to the Board on findings by the
Internal Auditor on the deficiencies and rectification taken for
internal control and risk management system of the Group and
the Board is of the view that such system is generally effective
and adequate. The Board recognises that certain weakness
identified in inter control identified during the Reporting Year
was a result of ignorance of reporting compliance at working
level. As announced on 17 April 2024, the Board will (i) engage
an external and independent internal controls consultant to
conduct a review of the Group’s internal control procedures,
(i) address any deficiencies identified in that internal controls
review and implement appropriate remediation steps, taking
into consideration the recommendations of the internal controls
consultant, and (iii) implement additional procedures to strengthen
the Group’s internal controls to identify, monitor transactions and
arrangements which may constitute connected transactions and
ensure that such arrangements and transactions are identified and
the applicable Listing Rules are complied with in a timely manner
in the future, including promptly making the necessary disclosure
and, if needed, obtaining independent shareholders’ approval. In
addition, the Company will:

(a) engage a compliance adviser for an additional year;

(b) procure appropriate external service providers to conduct
refresher training on the Listing Rules and compliance for
Directors and the heads and deputy heads of the Group’s
key business and compliance functions (human resources,
finance, legal and compliance, internal controls and
administration and procurement); and

(c) convene regular meetings amongst senior management
and the heads of the Group’s key business and compliance
functions to discuss and monitor the sufficiency.
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Anti-Corruption

The Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations of bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering that would have a significant impact on the
Group, including but not limited to the Prevention of Corruption
Act of Singapore and the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted Whistleblowing policy to enable
employees, customers and suppliers to raise their concerns about
any possible impropriety in financial reporting, internal control
or other matters within the Group in confidence, and to ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

The whistleblower can lodge their report through the following
channels:

By mail:

AUSTASIA GROUP Anti-corruption Committee

No. 10, Yongguan Road, Yongan Town, Kenli District,
Dongying City, Shandong Province, China

Postcode 257503

By hotline: +86 0546 8326699; or

By online platform:
“Whistleblowing” under “Corporate Governance” of the “Investors”
section of www.austasiadairy.com

The investigation will be carried out by the Internal Auditor and
the facts will be presented to the Anti-corruption Committee and
ultimately the AC.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The total fee paid/payable to the external auditors of the Company
RMB5,084,000 in respect of audit services for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out below:

Categories of the services
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards and
for timely financial disclosures under the Listing Rules and any
other regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report of this
annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chua Sook Ping Christina (#5%) and Ms. Cheng Sai
Hong ($%#El) have been appointed as the Singapore company
secretary of the Company. Ms. Ho Wing Nga has been appointed
as the Hong Kong secretary of the Company. Ms Cheng is the
primary contact person for secretarial matters of the Company.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of both
Singapore secretaries and Hong Kong secretary on corporate
governance and board practices and matters. Ms. Cheng is the
primary corporate contact person of the Directors.

Company Secretaries generally keep themselves updated on
new laws and regulations. During the year ended 31 December
2023, each of the Company Secretaries received no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training to refresh their skills and
knowledge.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code provides that the issuer
should have a policy on payment of dividends and should
disclose such policy in the annual report. The Company does not
have any dividend policy. Any declaration and payment as well as
the amount of dividends will be subject to the Constitution of the
Company and the Singapore Companies Act. The declaration and
payment of any dividends in the future will be determined by our
Board of Directors, in its discretion, and will depend on a number
of factors, including our results of operations, cash flows, financial
condition, operating and capital expenditure requirements. In
addition, our shareholders in a general meeting may approve
any declaration of dividends, which must not exceed the amount
recommended by our Board. Under the Singapore Companies
Act, a Singapore company may only pay a dividend out of profits.

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.

The general meeting (the “GM”) provides opportunities for
communication between the Company and the Shareholders. All
Directors and the Company’s External Auditors were present at
the first Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 7 June
2023 (“First AGM”") to meet the shareholders and to address any
question which they may have. No questions were raised at the
First AGM.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a
website at www.austasiadairy.com, where information and updates
on the Company’'s business developments and operations,
financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access.
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Procedure in relation to raising enquiry and concerns

Shareholders who wish to make any enquiry to the Company may
do so in writing to by the following means:

By Post:

Singapore
400 Orchard Road, #15-08, Orchard Towers, Singapore 238875

Tel: +65 65019171

Shandong, China
No. 10, Yongguan Road, Yongan Town, Kenli District, Dongying
City, Shandong Province, China

Hong Kong SAR, China
46th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queens Road East, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong SAR, China

By Email:
investor@austasiadairy.com

Anonymous ones would not generally be dealt with by the
Company.

The Board considers the communication with shareholders is
effective during the Reporting Year.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to the Constitution, an extraordinary general meeting
shall be convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than 10
per cent. (10%) of the total number of paid-up Shares (excluding
Treasury Shares) carry the right to vote at general meetings of
the Company. Such requisition must state the objects of the
meeting and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the registered office of the Company. If within 21 days from the
date of the deposit of the Members’ requisition duly proceed to
convene a general meeting, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionists, may themselves, convene a
general meeting, but any meeting so convened in the same
manner as nearly as possible as that in which general meetings
are to be convened by Directors.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director

Shareholders who wish to propose a person other than a retiring
Director for election as a Director, Shareholders may lodge a
written notice Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong with the Company in accordance with the “Procedures
For Shareholders To Propose Persons For Election As Directors”
published by the Company on its website at www.austasiadairy.
com from time to time.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of Director. All
resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after
each general meeting.

CHANGES IN CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted Constitution on 11 November 2022. From
the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, there is no
change to the Constitution.
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Ernst & Young
27/F, One Taikoo Place
§i 979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of AustAsia Group Ltd.

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AustAsia
Group Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 138 to 270, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
BRETEE

RS T

REESEE (H)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMNES N AEEBRETSE

Valuation of biological assets

EWEELIEE

The Group’s biological assets, including dairy cows, beef
cattle and forage plants, are measured at fair value less
cost to sell at the end of each reporting period. As at 31
December 2023, the carrying amount of biological assets
was RMB4,053,416,000.

SEBAEMEE (BEDHF - AFREEHEY) DIAZREHR
BWRARBEREEXATE - R2023F128310 - EWEE
K ERFE{E A AR ¥4,053,416,0007T °

We considered the valuation of biological assets as a
key audit matter because (i) the carrying amount of such
biological assets accounted for approximately 36% of the
total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2023; and (ii)
significant judgements and assumptions were involved in
management’s assessment, such as the discount rate, the
estimated future market prices of raw milk and beef cattle,
the estimated average daily milk yield and the estimated
feeding costs. Management has engaged an independent
external valuer to assist the Group in the valuation of the
biological assets.
BHMRREDEENLEBRBREAFE  DHER)EEFE
MEENREEN BSEEN2023F12A31BEELBENHL
36% : (i) ERERE Y RO EXRFE RREK - fIABIRE -
P RAFHEFIRRTISER - B8 ETHENE kMG
R - EREEZE—RBUINDEEMBEY BEEEH
Y EEEITRE -

The related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 21 and
38 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRABEBIHNGEVERRWE2.4 - Hizto1 RHIE38 o

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of biological
assets included:

B AEMBEENBEETHRFERE

(1) Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and
testing the Group’s internal controls on the
determination of the fair values of biological
assets;

(1) TH RS BEEEETEMEEAAEE
BN BR BT

(2) Evaluating the competency, objectivity and
capability of the independent external valuer;

(2) FHMEBILSNEAERRESERE S - T KA

(3) Evaluating the valuation methodologies and
key assumptions such as discount rate, the
estimated future market prices of raw milk and
beef cattle, the estimated average daily milk
yield and the estimated feeding costs with the
assistance of our internal valuation experts; and

(38) EIEBEEERNBGE T AEGEETERBER KRR
PIABEIRE « A4 R ET R R TIHERK -
B ETAEDNS RETTEKAE &

(4) Evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures.

(4) FHEBEHNRESKE -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yin Guo Wei.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2024
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M AE 32
:én'r]i = ?Eﬁﬁ
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 ARBT T AERBTTT
(Restated)
(&%)
REVENUE A 5 3,924,360 3,802,915
Cost of sales SHE R A (3,906,318) (3,788,788)
Gains arising on initial recognition of raw FEUNFER IR A R BERE S
milk at fair value less costs to sell BRAA L HRIRENE S
at the point of harvest ol 21 694,044 843,216
(Losses)/gains arising from changes in fair KEARF QAR EBERBHESEK
value less costs to sell of beef cattle RNEHH (E51E), Wk 21 (3,624) 25,648
Gross profit EF 708,462 882,991
Other income and gains H bl A Rz 5 94,691 50,281
Losses arising from changes in fair value kEEMEMEERAABE
less costs to sell of other biological assets TAHE A B R &R 21 (667,883) (158,183)
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HERAXY (2,894) (2,899)
Administrative expenses THRFAX (225,553) (334,442)
Impairment losses on financial assets TREERBEEBE 7 (97,000) =
Other expenses HEAx 6 (10,826) (46,027)
Finance costs BE R A 8 (268,948) (219,797)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX Biar (BE), FE 7 (469,951) 171,924
Income tax expense FrS i 11 (18,840) (13,845)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FR(EHE) FE (488,791) 158,079
Attributable to: LATR AT FE(S -
Owners of the parent ISYNEIE PPN (488,791) 158,079
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE BERBLAREBERER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY BEANER (BE)
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 2F /8
Basic E-YIN
— For (loss)/profit for the year —FR(E8), FH RMB(0.70) RMBO0.25
AR¥(0.700t AR¥O0.257T
Diluted g
— For (loss)/profit for the year —FR(F8), FH RMB(0.70) RMBO0.25
AR¥(0.700t AR¥O0.257T
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SLEEHEWRER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31BILFE

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBFTT
(Restated)
(EH)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FR(FER)FHE (488,791) 158,079
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME Hih2m (&E), W
Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified REBHMAIGEETHBEEE
to profit or loss in subsequent periods: B H M 2 &S
Exchange differences: MEHZ5 :
Exchange differences on translation of BINEBTMEEN 58
foreign operations (4,002) (82,723)
Net other comprehensive loss that may be REERRETREET D EE R
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods — H)E {th 2 M 518558 (4,002) (32,723)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that will not be REEBHE TS EFTHEEEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: HEMEE (E518),/ W ¢
Equity investment designated at fair value through  #§ EEM’&/’TJFEJEH,H&@J
other comprehensive (loss)/income: STAEMEE (E5E), K
IRIERE -
Changes in fair value NABEED (8,830) 2,744
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that will not REREHE TS ETNHEEER
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent MEMEE (BB) RS FE
periods (8,830) 2,744
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR, £ARt2EAEE  BB%
NET OF TAX (12,832) (29,979)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FRAZHE(BR) WL
FOR THE YEAR (501,623) 128,100
Attributable to: AR AT FEM -

Owners of the parent [SYNCIEZIN (501,623) 128,100
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AustAsia Group Ltd.
AEEEERAT

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mE PRI R

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

31 December 31 December 1 January
12831H 12H5318 1518
2023 2022 2022
2023F 2022%F 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HisE ARETT AREFIT AREF T
(Restated) (Restated)
(gE7) (FeE7)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment MmE - BB KR 15 3,361,082 3,175,200 2,654,574
Right-of-use assets TREEE 16(a) 1,518,608 1,356,311 1,027,768
Intangible assets BmVEE 17 5,103 3,301 4,970
Biological assets EYEE 21 3,541,014 3,450,288 3,045,650
Equity investment designated at EEAAAABEFER
fair value through other HEHH AEMEEK
comprehensive income mERIERE 14 - 8,511 5,203
Other long-term assets HitRHEE 18 8,779 66,576 51,461
Long-term receivable RHAEW IR 19 - 84,992 75,584
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 8,434,586 8,145,179 6,865,210
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories =BE 20 1,311,682 1,304,146 1,024,350
Biological assets EYMEE 21 512,402 380,267 313,794
Trade receivables FE U RIE 22 367,049 350,961 297,110
Prepayments, other receivables and TR FUE - B EUIE
other assets MEMEE 23 277,437 155,901 119,395
Cash and cash equivalents ReERReEE 24 273,999 397,946 141,190
Pledged deposits [BEiEEEE 24 209 5,986 7,032
Total current assets MENEERE 2,742,778 2,595,207 1,902,871
CURRENT LIABILITIES RESE
Trade payables FET 3R 25 785,309 1,058,287 507,760
Other payables and accruals ﬁfnﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ&rééﬂﬁa 26 368,999 477,394 244,871
Share-based payment liability AR D BERER A - = 29,247
Loans from a former shareholder SIS - 40,167
Interest-bearing bank borrowings TESRITIER 27 2,016,413 868,093 417,966
Lease liabilities HEAE 16(b) 70,513 75,707 34,757
Deferred income FEIEMA 3,628 4,800 10,178
Tax payable JE AT 5K 7,787 4,062 6,870
Total current liabilities mBBERHE 3,252,649 2,488,343 1,291,816
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRI R

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

31 December 31 December 1 January
12831H 12A31H 1518
2023 2022 2022
2023 % 20224 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
B ARETT AREFT AREF T
(Restated) (Restated)
(gE7) (FeE7)
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS & (&) &EFE (509,871) 106,864 611,055
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEEHAERRBAEE
LIABILITIES 7,924,715 8,252,043 7,476,265
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTESRITIER 27 1,383,910 1,304,344 1,290,581
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBEE 28 4,335 4,179 3,825
Deferred income EIEMA 26,090 19,231 21,825
Lease liabilities HEEE 16(b) 1,434,714 1,254,817 928,974
Other payables and accruals Hi N RIBRIERTIER 26 - 95,671 95,868
Loans from a former shareholder AR E R - = 122,669
Total non-current liabilities FENRBE EEE 2,849,049 2,678,242 2,463,742
Net assets BEFE 5,075,666 5,573,801 5,012,523
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to owners of FAREE AELER
the parent
Share capital N 29 2,435,712 2,432,340 1,892,652
Treasury shares JERERiEy) (1,831) = =
Reserves ] 31 2,641,785 3,141,461 3,119,871
Total equity ERERE 5,075,666 5,573,801 5,012,523

TAN Yong Nang
BRER
Director

EE

Edgar Dowse COLLINS
Edgar Dowse COLLINS
Director

EF

141



142

AustAsia Group Ltd.
AEEEERAT

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEeEnB Bk

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F12A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAEAARE
Fair value
reserve
of financial
assets
Foreign at fair value
Share currency through other
Share  Treasury option  Statutory translation  comprehensive Merger  Retained Total
capital shares reserve reserve reserve loss reserve profits equity
HAREETE
BERHTA
B2 EEEN
SHERNAA
Bx  EERR  BRERE  iERE AWESRE BERE AfEE  GFAR  BEER
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR¥TR ARMTR  ARETn ARBTR  ARETR ARETr  ARETn ARETn AR¥TR
Notes — (Note 29) (Notes 30,31)  (Note 31)  (Note 31) (Note 31)  (Note 31)
it (W) (Wds0-31)  (Wisr)  (Bids) (Wis1)  (Wis1)
At 1 January 2023 (restated) 7202341 A1 (#%7]) 2,432,340 - 1840 54777 7515 (43367)  (54866) 2637925 5,573,801
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - (488,791)  (488,791)
Other comprehensive ERAMREEE:
loss for the year:
Change i fair value of WANEEHEAEES
an equiy investment HALB2EEENRE
at fair value through other RENDAREEY
comprehensive loss, it
net of tax - - - - - (8,830) - - (8,830)
Exchange differences releted  ERNFHABNELZE
to foreign operations - - - - (4,002) - - - (4,002)
Total comprehensive loss EREEERLE
for the year - - - - (4,002) (8,830) - (488,791)  (501,623)
Issuance of shares pursuant BT EEBRRELTRE
fo the exercise of the
over-allotment option 3,372 - - - - - - - 3,312
Shares repurchased BEBRA - (7,252) - - - - - - (7,252)
Eouity-setled share option ~~ hEREBEMRRERH
arrangements 30 - 5,421 1,947 - - - - - 7,368
Transfer from retained profits ~ EAEEHFIE i - - - 3,212 - - - (3,212) -
At 31 December 2023 20235 12A31R 2,435,712 (1,831) 13787 517989 71,150 (52,197)  (54,866) 2,145,922 5,075,666
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S A R 3L ft
mEEREER
Year ended 31 December 2022

HZE2022F 12 A31HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRREEAER
Fair value
reserve
of financial
assets

Foreign at fair value

Share currency  through other
Share option  Statutory  translation  comprehensive Merger  Retained Total
capital reserve reserve reserve  incomel(loss) reserve profits equity
WArEEHE
BEEEHHA
At2ENE/
(BB mem
BENDA
R BRERE OAERE HRAERE EERE ANEE 2RNE  EREE
RMB000 RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETH ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETI
Notes  (Note 29)  (Notes 30,31)  (Note 31)  (Nofe 31) (Note 31)  (Note 31)
WE (W) (W91 (W3 (Es1) Wisr)  (Wids1)
At 1 January 2022 (restated) R2022% 1B 1A (EE7) 1,892,652 118,350 470,603 107,875 (46,111)  (54,866) 2524020 5,012,523
Profit for the year (restated) EnFE (HE5) - - - = = - 158079 158079
Other comprehensive EREp2ERE/(BE) :
incomel(loss) for the year:
Change in fair value of an HARBEHEBEERHHA
equity investment at fair value A2 EYENREREH
through other comprehensive ISHER
income, net of tax (restated) Wi (@ eE5)) - - = = 2,744 = = 2744
Exchange differences related to ~ EENXBARNELER
foreign operations (restated) (&%5)) = = - (37 = = - (3273
Total comprehensive income ERRENEEE (B55))
for the year (restated) - - - (32,723) 2,744 - 158079 128,100
Equity-settled share option NEREENEREDH
arrangements (restated) () 30 - 96,137 = = = = - %137
Issuance of shares upon listing ~~~ REBERFT LHRBIRG
on the Hong Kong Stock (&=3))
Exchange (restated) 175,575 - - - - - - 175575
Issuance of shares pursuant RERERET 2ETRD
o share option schemes (M5
(restated) MG (202647) - - - - - -
Capitalisation of listing expenses A7k EMR% (8E3])
(restated) (16,411) - - - - - - (16,411)
Transfer from loans from a former ~ B&AMREE (£27])
shareholder (restated) 177,877 - - - - - - 118
Transfer from retained profits EREBHHA (LEY))
(restated) 31 - - 44174 - - - (M7 -
At 31 December 2022 (restated) 2022512318 (EE5]) 2,432,340 11840 514777 75,152 (43,367)  (54,866) 2,637,925 5,573,801
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AustAsia Group Ltd.
AEEEERAT

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A h. il — |
mEEERER
Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31 B ILFE

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR¥T T ARBEFT
(Restated)
(&E5)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING BRETHRMERESRE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax Fian (&518),/ F8 (469,951) 171,924
Adjustments for: LUATEIEMAE
Impairment of long-term receivable £ B FE WK IR R B 7 89,756 =
Impairment of trade receivables R GRIBRE 7 7,244 =
(Reversal of allowance)/provision (Bm),/ HEMREFE
for inventory obsolescence B 20 (3,362) 3,441
Amortisation of intangible assets R EESE 7 1,709 2,408
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEREEINE
equipment 7 164,426 145,473
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREERE 7 25,613 21,908
(Gain)/loss on modification of leases EAE (W) BB 5/6 (23,103) 12,530
Net loss from changes in fair value of EMEBERNABEED
biological assets B8 FRE 21 671,507 132,535
Finance costs & R 8 268,948 219,797
Interest income F B WA (3,516) (3,183)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - WE KR EEE
plant and equipment K EE 6 6,521 6,284
Share-based payments ARR ) B ETR &R 6,501 86,587
Operating cash flows before changes in LBACRDINLERE
working capital mE 742,293 799,704
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FE®RD (3 m) 11,840 (262,086)
Increase in trade receivables and JE W R TE K FE A SR
prepayments, other receivables and ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ”ﬁl?‘ﬁlﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂﬁé
other assets 0 (144,868) (90,355)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables and JRE A= R TE DA K2 EL At JE A< R TE K2
other payables and accruals FEEtIEE CRid), /& (415,877) 575,730
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income FEW AL, CRt ) 5,687 (7,972)
Cash flows generated from operations KEEENRSRE 199,075 1,015,021
Income tax paid B ETSH (15,115) (12,290)
Net cash flows from operating activities KRB MRS REFE 183,960 1,002,731
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GERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2023
HZE2023F 12 A31BILFE

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR¥T T ARBEFTT
(Restated)
(&E5)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZHFFARERE
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEME  BEKI&H#EIEE

equipment (523,926) (588,810)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, LEWE - BEKRHEEE

plant and equipment RS s 1E 7,908 4,788
Proceeds from disposal of biological assets HEEMEEMSHKIE 582,598 641,665
Additions to intangible assets RNEEBWEE (1,132) (739)
Purchase capitalisation of biological assets BEENMEMEE (1,291,327) (1,101,215)
New pledged deposits M EERTER (475) (270)
Decrease in pledged deposits BEERIFFOR L 6,252 1,316
Net cash flows used in investing activities KERHMARSREFE (1,220,102) (1,043,265)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES RIEEBHMEESRE
Proceeds from issuance of new shares BTHR D TS 5E 3,372 175,575
Shares repurchased mEAEle) (7,252) =
Payments of listing expenses TR RIE - (15,599)
Interest paid EARFLE 32 (185,387) (156,642)
Principal portion of lease payments HERFROARE TS 16 (147,967) (146,664)
Repayment of interest-bearing bank borrowings {Ei&&H BERTTHEK (1,948,671) (666,614)
New interest-bearing bank borrowings G BIRTTIE R 3,196,659 1,106,482
Net cash flows from financing activities MEEYMERESREFE 910,754 296,538
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND e kReFEY CRL),/

CASH EQUIVALENTS hnFEEE (125,388) 256,004
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net HNEEXREBHTE  FH 1,441 752
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ¥R & RIS HEY 397,946 141,190
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FREAESEKBSEEY 24 273,999 397,946
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH & KIR&SEMEBRIIT

EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balance e MIBITHER 274,208 403,932
Pledged deposits [ eieRN 24 (209) (5,986)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RenskxkmEBAe R

statement of cash flows HeZEEY 24 273,999 397,946
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AustAsia Group Ltd.
REREERLT

Notes to Financial Statements

B EE AR MY EE

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

AustAsia Group Ltd. (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated and domiciled in Singapore. The
registered office of the Company is located at 400 Orchard
Road, Singapore 238875. The Company completed its
initial public offering and was listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "HKEX”")
(stock code: 2425.HK) on 30 December 2022. The
principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the production
and sales of raw milk, beef cattle and feed products, and
distribution and sales of milk products in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC").

In the opinion of the directors, before 30 December 2022,
the immediate holding company of the Company was Japfa
Ltd., a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled
in Singapore and is listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited, and the ultimate holding
companies of the Company were Rangi Management
Limited and Fusion Investment Holdings Limited, both of
which are incorporated and domiciled in the British Virgin
Islands. Since 30 December 2022, the Company has
ceased to be a subsidiary of Japfa Ltd. However, there
is no change in controlling shareholders of the Company
comprising Mr. Renaldo Santosa, Ms. Gabriella Santosa,
the Scuderia Trust, Highvern Trustees Limited (as trustee
of the Scuderia Trust), Magnus Nominees Limited, Fidelis
Nominees Limited, Fusion Investment Holdings Limited,
Rangi Management Limited, Tasburgh Limited and Tallowe
Services Inc (together, the “Controlling Shareholders”).

AAREBER

AustAsia Group Ltd. ([ARRH]) B—FKR
TN M L W AR I AR AR
EERA c AT FEMBPFFERLLRN 400
Orchard Road, Singapore 238875 °
202212300 * ARABIE K ERAFH
BEVREBBARSGMBERAR ([BR
BT D) FR B (RAARSR : 2425.HK) < KA
AMEEEHRIEEER  mMAMBARE
ZEdE ARLRBE ([FE]) HERED
A REAMERNEERBEARIIERD
DEEMEE -

EZRA  M2022F12A308F © AQH]
MEEZERARAEE (BA—REI MK
MR BEREERT) « WHRFTINEFS
REGMBB AR ET @ RARA B REE
f& A7 ARangi Management Limited & @
EREERER AT (MEHRNERBE
ERMAN) - B20226F12A308# © &
AATBREENWBAR - AMm - AR
AIEARAR R (B FERenaldo Santosat4 -
Gabriella Santosaz & - Scuderia Trust
Highvern Trustees Limited ({E&Scuderia
Trustf= 5t A) » Magnus Nominees
Limited * Fidelis Nominees Limited * @&
WEERABR AT - Rangi Management
Limited » Tasburgh Limited & Tallowe
Services Inc. + 8 [ FEARAR R |) W A& ) o



CORPORATE AND GROUP

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

Name

#18

Place of
incorporation/

registration and

business
HEMAEL,
HfREE R

INFORMATION 1.
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B 75 ¥R R B

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

RAREEER (F)

BEHEATNER
AATEBHBEATOFEERBIIWT -

Percentage

of equity
attributable to the

Issued ordinary/ Company
registered AARELERER L
share capital Direct Indirect

BERITLER

AR A E# %

Principal activities

FREK

Dongying AustAsia Modern Dairy
Farm Co., Ltd
RERTRRBSERDA

Taian AustAsia Modern Dairy Farm
Co., Ltd
RRRGHRIGERAA

Dongying Xianhe AustAsia Modern
Dairy Farm Co., Ltd
REMRERAMSER LA

Dongying Shenzhou AustAsia
Modern Dairy Farm Co., Ltd
REMMNEGTRAREERRF

Shandong, PRC
IR

Shandong, PRC
LR

Shandong, PRC
FEILR

Shandong, PRC
FEILIR

USD35,000,000 - 100  Production and sales
35,000,000% ¢ of raw milk
FREEE RS
USD30,000,000 - 100  Production and sales
30,000,000% T of raw milk
REHNEEREE
USD25,000,000 - 100  Production and sales
25,000,000% ¢ of raw milk
RENEEREE
USD40,000,000 - 100  Production and sales
40,000,000% T of raw milk
REEERBEE
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31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAREBEHR (&)

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

TRKEATNER (&)

Percentage
of equity
Place of attributable to the
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Company
registration and registered AAFEGBETAL
Name business share capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
HRl A ERTLER,
£ MR EE D2 AR A E# Mg FEEHR
Dongying AustAsia Beef Co., Ltd Shandong, PRC USD26,430,000 - 100  Production and sales
RERTATREERBR AT FEILR 26,430,000 1T of beef cattle
R EEREE
Shanghai AustAsia Food Co., Ltd Shanghai, PRC USD3,000,000 - 100  Trading, wholesale
FERERMARAR Rl L 3,000,000% 7T and distribution of
milk products
AERES  HER
A
AlH2 Pte. Ltd. Singapore USD127,927,000 100 - Investment holding
AIH2 Pte. Ltd. 703K 127,927,000% T REER
Chifeng AustAsia Modern Dairy Inner Mongolia, PRC USD85,600,000 - 100  Production and sales
Farm Co., Ltd FEASH 85,600,0003 7 of raw milk and
RERGERHSERAR beef cattle
JREHN R A4 ]
HE
Falcon Dairy Holdings Limited* Hong Kong USD240,100,000 100 - Investment holding
Falcon Dairy Holdings Limited* BE 240,100,000 7T AR
Pure Source Dairy Farm Co., Ltd Shandong, PRC USD187,000,000 - 100  Production and sales
BRYSERAR LR 187,000,0005 75 of raw milk
REHDEERHE
Shandong AustAsia Feed Technology  Shandong, PRC USD12,000,000 - 100  Production and sales

Co., Ltd
WRR D MR AR AT

*

July 2023.

IR

Falcon Dairy Holdings Limited was liquidated on 11

12,000,0003 7T

of feeding additives
SRR I AR E R SR

Falcon Dairy Holdings Limited 22023

F7TANRAER -
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CORPORATE AND GROUP
(continued)

INFORMATION

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

The English names of the companies registered in the PRC
represent the best efforts made by management of the
Company in directly translating the Chinese names of these
companies as no English names have been registered.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), which comprise all standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB”), and International
Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations
Committee interpretations approved by the International
Accounting Standards Committee that remain in effect
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for biological assets
and equity investment designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately RMB509,871,000. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, because the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that based on a cash flow
forecast of the Group for the 12 months ending 31 March
2025 prepared by the management, the Group would
have adequate funds to meet its liabilities as and when
they fall due for at least 12 months from 27 March 2024.
Based on the forecast, the sufficiency of the Group’s
working capital for the next 12 months depends on the
Group’s ability to obtain the anticipated cash flows from
the Group’s operating activities and the available unutilized
bank loan facilities amounting to an aggregate amount of
approximately RMB1,196,984,000 within 12 months from 27
March 2024.

2.1

B 75 ¥R R B

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

RAREEER (F)

FRENBARNESR (&)

ZEPHEARNRANELEEAAAREEESR
BEANSHEEBEERXEE  REZH
FW EEMERE T REHE -

EERR LRIBTIEFERNFEES
B AEEFEE T ERO AR FNE

A ¢

B
PR

ZERBHRRTIREBE(BERY B REER)
mE - ETERG(EREEADESTS
(KB et EADEEE ) fENMEER
k#E  K(BEERe R ZESHENT
ERZCBEREER) M ENRBEZRE G Y
REMEB(ATEIDORERTE - ZFY
BRRERBLRAERR  EARREBE
AENEMBEEREERNRAAEENER
HEHFT AL ME2E RSN BIRERID -
ZEVBHBRDIUAARE [ARK]) RE
BFBHFHENBESEAMN T (FRIF
REHHA) -

MR2023F 128310 » AEEM RS EEBEF
4 B ARMES09,871,0007T © &4 B 51R
RORBELEHAERYE  REZEARAE
ERA - BEEEEREMNEE2025F3 A
S1ALE12EAMBESREEN  AEEH
BEXRENESAENB2024F3A27H
BEDI2EAZENEE - BRIBEZEAR -
AEBARRI2EAANEEE ST EHIUR
RAEEBHEECEESESEHREREN
e R BE2024F 327 HE12{E A AR
BANKRSABRITERMERBHNAEARE
1,196,984,0007T °
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31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

2.1

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Change of presentation currency and functional
currency

Starting from 1 January 2023, the Group changed its
presentation currency from United States Dollars (“USD”)
to RMB, considering that (i) the Company ceased to be a
subsidiary of Japfa Ltd. of which the presentation currency
was USD and changed from an intermediate holding
company to an investment holding company since 30
December 2022; (ii) the Company’s primary subsidiaries
were established in PRC and their transactions are
denominated and settled in RMB; and (iii) the Company
in order to reduce the impact of any fluctuations in the
exchange rate of USD against RMB on the Group's
consolidated financial statements so as to more truly reflect
the Group’s performance. The change in presentation
currency of the Group has been applied retrospectively
in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Change in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, and the comparative
figures as at 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 have
been retranslated to RMB and restated accordingly.

In addition, as the currency of the primary source of
revenue of the Company changed from USD to RMB since
1 July 2023, the management also changed the functional
currency of the Company from USD to RMB accordingly.
The effect of change in functional currency has been
applied prospectively from 1 July 2023 in accordance with
IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity),
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

directly or indirectly, controlled by the
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Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly or
indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.
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2.1

2.2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and foreign currency translation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
IFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to IAS 1

and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform —

Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to IAS 12
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Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs
that are applicable to the Group are described below:

(a) Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality
to accounting policy disclosures. The Group has
applied the amendments since 1 January 2023.
The amendments did not have any impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial information.

(b) Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes
in accounting policies. Accounting estimates
are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. Since the Group’s
approach and policy align with the amendments,
the amendments had no impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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2.2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c) Amendments to |IAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in IAS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences,
such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise
a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax
liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The amendments did not have
any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
information.

(d) Amendments to |IAS 12 /International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements
better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes, including the disclosure of current tax
related to Pillar Two income taxes separately in the
periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective and
the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted
or substantively enacted but not yet in effect. In the
Singapore 2023 Budget Statement, the Singapore
government announced plans to implement the
GloBE Rules as well as a domestic top-up tax
(DTT) beginning on or after 1 January 2025. As of
the issuance date of these financial statements,
Singapore has not announced when and how the
GloBE Rules will be enacted, the jurisdiction in
which the Company is incorporated. Consequently,
it is not presently feasible for the Group to
reasonably estimate the quantitative impact of this
legislation.
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Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these
revised IFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of
and IAS 28 Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or
Joint Venture®
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback’
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)’
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)?

Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance
and IFRS 7 Arrangements'

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but

available for adoption
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2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and
in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or
loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the
sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business. For
a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’'s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of IFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for

including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a

classifying liabilities as current or non-current,

right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as
an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not
impact its classification. The 2022 Amendments further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from
a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity
must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.
The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
early application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application
of the amendments is permitted. The amendments provide
certain transition reliefs regarding comparative information,
quantitative information as at the beginning of the annual
reporting period and interim disclosures. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

23

B 75 ¥R R B

31 December 2023
202312 A31H

T BCR (#)

EEMEREREMN (BB HRE
28 (&)

2020 F BRI AN BB BB B AR HIER
BWIRTE - BREEEEE R RETERER

BARBERREFHE - BENDETXER
TTEERHEEENNATRENTE - %5

EAIARTES  AEAAEAGNERTR
e BEETERAENEREREENY

ERERTAEARE - BEMNKRIT 8%
BHDM - 2022FBE]RNE—HF I‘Eff
REHFMEENAERRY  REAE

RRERBRRZAE TR RAGTE
KRBk IERBI HDEE - EREAR &iﬁﬂf§12
18 A R =F K 2R R 5 E’J\ T BRIERBA
BIELREINE TR - ZFERIAEBHER -
W AFREERM o IR EM2020F &5 AHY
ERARKER2022FEFTA - RZTA °
RNEBEB AT EAETEZFEITRANZEUR
REERMERD T EBE] - REV T

u_/ﬁ

i REEI AR TS HAEENGE Y
BHRRELETFNEATE -

(BB EERD)E7HE (BFTER) R (BEERE
ﬂ‘%i&%/ﬁﬂw%?%(1@§T$)%%fﬁ%ﬁ@
BRHNEE - L2 REZFRYELEIN
BE - AFBITANRBEREEEBTE
wEERETHRHEEERELCHUERER
B -RensEkiBEcRRMONTE -
RFFRFEAZEZERT R - ZRZEFT AR
FEREHVNRDHABEENLREN T8
ERREETREER - RSB AEHAT
SHAREENGEMBRRELETAMERR
Z2 .

157



158

AustAsia Group Ltd.
AEEEERAT

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 S R B

31 December 2023
2023%F12A31H

2.3

24

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency
and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a
measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of
a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity
cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value
of the Group’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or
loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its biological assets and equity
investment designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or
by selling it to another market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:
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Notes to Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3- based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets, biological assets and equity
investment), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g.,
a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories

consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the

Group;
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(M)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;
and the sponsoring employers of the post-
employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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